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4. Appendices

This gives details of our Directors’ Report and includes our governance
statement, as well as details of our Board governance and assurance
arrangements.
Remuneration Report
This gives details of the salaries and allowances given to our most senior
executive and non-executive board members.
Our People
This covers how many staff and volunteers are part of our Trust family and
how we try to ensure we have the right people in the right place at the right
time to treat patients.
Our Financial Statement and Notes

Foreword
The NHS has recently been the subject of a
considerable amount of media coverage having had
the busiest year in its history. This will come as no
surprise to anyone working in our Trust as we have
been experiencing growing demands on our services
for a number of years.
In particular, we continue to face significant pressure
from a sustained increase in the number of people
attending as emergencies with high levels of acuity
and a high volume of delayed transfers of care to the
wider health and social care community. These issues
have a very real impact on both patients and staff.
Despite these pressures, we are constantly struck by
the very special things that are achieved by so many
amazing people throughout our Trust every single
day.
It was extremely pleasing to once again see this
reflected in the Care Quality Commission’s most
recent report on the quality of care provided by our
Trust. The report, which was published in November
2016, clearly demonstrates significant improvements.
Whilst we were rated as ‘requires improvement’
overall, Inspectors reported a marked improvement
and our rating for each of the five domains assessed
by the CQC is shown below:

It was also pleasing to receive the results of the
2016 NHS staff survey which continue to show
improvement, with 86% of questions within the
survey improving on last year. This improvement,
when compared nationally, has moved us into the top
20% of acute trusts for three of the 32 key findings.
There is an encouraging narrative emerging from
the data which describes the cultural journey of our
organisation. Staff are reporting higher levels of
support from their managers who are showing active
support for their team’s health and wellbeing. This is
also supported by staff reporting an improved sense
of being valued and recognised by their managers
and the organisation.
Notwithstanding these improvements, we are not
complacent and acknowledge there is still much work
to do. We have developed a two year plan which
focuses on establishing equilibrium between demand
and capacity, through significant improvements in
both front door assessment and alternative pathways
to admission and also faster discharge to more
appropriate settings of care.
However, fundamental system transformation is
needed if we are to meet the increasing demands
being asked of health and social care within the finite
resources available. For our part we must, and will,
continue to confront the challenges we face head-on
by seeking and embracing new ways of working for
the benefit of our patients whilst also taking the time
to celebrate the many amazing things that happen
throughout our Trust all day and every day.
You will be able to read about these things and much
more in this Annual Report, which we hope you will
agree demonstrates that Plymouth has a hospital
trust to be extremely proud of.

The report recognises many areas of outstanding
practice including “an outstanding response from the
critical care teams and the hospital trust to areas of
concern raised in the previous report”. We are on a
journey of continuous improvement and continue to
monitor, review and constantly improve the quality of
care for the services that we provide.
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Ann James		
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Richard Crompton
Chairman		
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- Lucy Ireland

”
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“

Could I please thank all the amazing staff at
Derriford in the paediatric ED and children's ward
please as they are incredible. My son was admitted
yesterday with suspected meningitis which thankfully
was tonsillitis but they couldn't have been better in
treating him with care and attention and he even left
with a free easter egg donated by local supermarkets.
Absolutely superb care including bringing him
toys and reassuring us and I just don't know if we
appreciate how lucky we are to have the NHS.

Our Year in Pictures
April 2016

Patients suffering with renal disease are encouraged
to play a more active role in their own health care,
and a new Acute Kidney Nurse, Emma O’Hart, is
appointed to help. We are now one of 23 hospitals
in the UK involved in Think Kidneys, a programme
established by NHS England and the UK Renal
Registry which enables clinicians and care teams
to work in 50:50 partnership with patients living with
Chronic Kidney Disease, as well as their families
and carers. The aim is to help patients develop the
knowledge, skills and confidence to actively selfmanage their care.

May 2016

More than 40 teddy bears sign up for our Research
and Development Team’s latest research study, when
our team hold an information stand in Plymouth
City Centre and invite people to pop along with their
favourite teddy bear. The event is held as part of
celebrations for International Clinical Trials Day 2016.
In addition to the 43 teddy bears ‘volunteered’, the
team are on hand to chat and hand information out
to a couple of hundred people and 25 people register
their interest in being advised of potential research
participation opportunities in the future.

June 2016

Our Rheumatology Team are announced winners
of the General Medicine category at the Health
Service Journal Value in Healthcare Awards, for
their innovative patient-led appointment system.
The Direct Access service, as it is known, enables
patients with chronic conditions, such as arthritis, to
have more control of their treatment with a patient
initiated appointment system. This allows 800
patients to contact a specialist nurse when they are
worried about an aspect of their disease. If required,
an appointment can then be made quickly, rather than
the patients being scheduled for reviews, when they
don’t necessarily need them or when their symptoms
are not as apparent.
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July 2016

August 2016
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Standards of cleanliness at Derriford
Hospital are rated as 98%, the highest
they have ever been, according to a report
published by the NHS Commissioning
Board. A team of 12 patient assessors,
made up from members of Healthwatch
Plymouth, the hospital’s Patient Council
and others, carried out a two-day
assessment. They visited 25+ separate
areas of the hospital, including wards,
public toilets and car park and sampled
the lunch and evening meals being served
to patients. Scores for other categories
were 86% for food, 84% for privacy and
dignity, 67% for dementia and 68% for the
new category of disability.

1. Our Performance Report

The Endoscopy Unit receives formal
recognition from the Joint Advisory Group
(JAG) on GI Endoscopy. The unit, the
largest in the South West, performs more
than 14,000 procedures each year. The
JAG accreditation ensures the quality
and safety of patient care by defining
and maintaining the standards by which
endoscopy is delivered within Derriford
Hospital.Sister Mel Gandy, Manager of
the Unit, said: “I am delighted that after
many months of hard work, producing
audits, continuing to deliver and maintain
high standards of care for our patients, as
well as concentrating on driving down our
waiting lists, we have been awarded JAG
accreditation again.”

September 2016
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Physiotherapist Baz Jambor is invited
to meet the Prime Minister after winning
a National Rheumatoid Arthritis Society
Healthcare Champion Award. After being
nominated by a network of members from
the National Rheumatoid Arthritis Society
(NRAS), many of whom are his previous
patients, Baz is invited to a special
parliamentary event at the House of
Commons to have his award presented by
founding NRAS patron, the Prime Minister,
the Rt Hon. Theresa May MP.

October 2016

The new Derriford Centre for Health and Wellbeing
is opened on Monday 10 October with Chairman
Richard Crompton cutting a ribbon to mark the
occasion. The centre, formerly known as the Derriford
Health and Leisure Centre, underwent an expansion
in the summer and is now the focal point for staff
wellbeing services, taking a holistic view of the
physical and mental aspects of wellbeing.

November 2016

Staff from our Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU)
were joined by mums, dads, babies and children
yesterday to mark this year’s World Prematurity
Day. This year, a free conference known as ‘Your
Premature Baby at Home: A Day for Parents’ was
organised by the South West Neonatal Operational
Delivery Network for parents who have had a
premature baby. Following this, staff from NICU
invited parents who have previously stayed on the
unit and their babies to join them for the rest of the
day’s celebrations.

December 2016

Local children help to reinforce the message that
smoking is not permitted on the Derriford Hospital
site. In March 2012, we went smokefree but during
recent external works, the number of people smoking
outside entrances has steadily increased. A number
of measures have been put in place, including
posters, designed by children, which are going on
display and the installation of a new tannoy system,
which conveys a series of messages from children
asking people to stop smoking. The announcements
were recorded by local children and are played when
a button, located in the entrances’ foyers, is pressed.
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January 2017

February 2017
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We welcome 17 trainee Nursing
Associates who have joined us as
new members of the multidisciplinary
workforce. The Nursing Associate role is
part of a pilot across Devon STP and sits
alongside existing nursing care support
workers and fully qualified registered
nurses. The new role is intended to deliver
hands-on care to help transform the
nursing and healthcare workforce across
many settings.

1. Our Performance Report

Our Gold Dust Appeal smashes its
£100,000 target, raising £125,000
to refurbish the children’s wards and
corridors at Derriford Hospital. The
generosity of donors has been amazing.
Thank you! Funds raised will enable
the creation of a bright, exciting and
welcoming area for children and young
people on level 12. It will create a calm,
reassuring environment to engage
children with colourful, themed areas that
distract them from clinical procedures and
provide greater comfort and privacy for
children and their families.

March 2017
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A review looking at how emergency
general surgery (EGS) is provided at
hospitals in the South West finds that
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust is meeting
the highest number of standards in the
region. The review, commissioned by the
NHS South West Clinical Senate, looks at
the 14 NHS Trusts within the south west
peninsula and measures them against
22 specific standards relating to EGS;
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust meets19 of
these.

About our Trust
Who we care for

Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust is the largest hospital
in the south west peninsula, providing comprehensive
secondary and tertiary healthcare. Our geography
gives us a secondary care catchment population of
450,000 with a wider peninsula population of almost
2,000,000 people who can access our specialist
services. The population is characterised by its
diversity – the rural and the urban, the wealthy and
pockets of deprivation, and wide variance in health
and life expectancy. We work within a network of
other hospitals to offer a range of specialist services
such as kidney transplant, cardiothoracic surgery and
neonatal intensive care and high risk obstetrics.

A Regional Specialist Teaching Hospital

We provide comprehensive training and education for
a wide range of healthcare professionals. The Trust
works in partnership with both Plymouth University
Peninsula Medical School of Medicine and Dentistry
and the University of Exeter Medical School. We also
support the Universities of Plymouth and Exeter in
the delivery of courses for the Faculty of Health and
Social Work. With university campuses in Plymouth,
Exeter, Truro and Taunton, along with teaching
facilities in Bristol, the Faculty of Health and Social
Work is one of the largest providers of nursing,
midwifery, social work and health professional
education and training in the South West.

Leading Transformation

At Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust, we are working
hard with partners across Devon STP (Sustainability
and Transformation Plan - see page 16) and more
locally in Plymouth to improve the services available
for patients. Our Medical Director, Dr Phil Hughes, is
the clinical lead for the Acute Service Review being
run as part of Devon STP, whilst in Plymouth we have
recently signed a partnership agreement with one of
the larger GP groups, Beacon Medical Group.

A big employer and city player

We recognise our role in the city as a big employer
with circa 7,000 staff and volunteers and as an
influential organisation, for example in our ability to
attract investment into research. Our Chief Executive,
Ann James, sits on the Plymouth Growth Board whilst
our role as host for the South West Defence Medical
Group connects us to the military tradition of the city.
We have a tri-service staff of 150 military doctors,
nurses, and allied health professionals fully integrated
within the hospital workplace, working and training
alongside their NHS counterparts, treating the local
community.
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Our Trust’s services benefit greatly from the
skills of military clinicians, particularly in Trauma
& Orthopaedics, Radiology and the Emergency
Department. Many of them bring unique experiences
and knowledge from their deployments and this, in
turn, benefits Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust and our
patients.

Our Hospitals and Centres

We provide services for patients at the following main
sites as well as through clinics at other local hospitals
and care centres:
Derriford Hospital (including The Royal Eye
Infirmary - REI): We offer the widest range of
hospital based services in the Peninsula. What sets
our Trust apart from the majority of acute hospital
trusts is both the scope and scale of the services we
offer on one site.
•

Child Development Centre: Developmental
services for young children are provided at the
Child Development Centre, Scott Business Park.

•

The Plymouth Dialysis Unit: Patients needing
treatment for renal failure are cared for in state-ofthe-art, purpose-built facilities in Eaton Business
Park.

•

Radiology Academy: The Plymouth Radiology
Academy is the only purpose-built Radiology
Academy in the world and provides an
inspirational environment in which to learn
radiology.

492,785

outpatients were seen by our staff

1. Our Performance Report

2. Our Accountability Report

4. Appendices
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Our Strategic Context

We pride ourselves on leading with
excellence and caring with compassion.
Our Values

The values defining the way we do things are:
- Putting Patients First
- Taking Ownership
- Respecting Others
- Being Positive
- Listening, Learning and Improving

Our Journey

We have been on a journey in the last few years,
working together with our staff to create a sustainable
organisation in which clinical teams and those closest
to patients lead services, with support from a visible
and accessible senior leadership team. This is done
within a culture which is open and transparent and
in which everyone is encouraged, as our fifth value
says, to listen, learn and improve. Our staff survey
results and CQC inspection report from 2016 are both
testament to the progress we are making.
We use social media to both listen and respond
to patients, carers and staff and to tell our own
story of the great achievements of our staff and the
challenges we are facing.
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97,126

The number of attendances at our Emergency Department

1. Our Performance Report

2. Our Accountability Report
- Bid Hazell

”
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“

To all who work on ICU thank you very much, you are
the most hard working and dedicated team. And to all
who work at Derriford you do a marvelous job, from
the most important cleaners to the most important
doctors and surgeons.

across particular service areas. Outpatients and
Diagnostics, for example, went from three Inadequate
ratings and one Good in 2015 to three Goods and
one Requires Improvement in 2016.

#bigimprovement in CQC follow-up
inspection report

We are on a journey of improvement. We were
the first hospital Trust in the south west and, at the
time one of only five in the country, to be rated as
Outstanding for Caring in July 2015. Since then,
we have continued to raise standards, as can be
demonstrated by the marked improvement made
between CQC inspections.
The CQC follow-up inspection report into Plymouth
Hospitals NHS Trust in 2016 showed a big
improvement on 2015. Plymouth Hospitals remains
rated as Requires Improvement overall in the report,
but the inspectors found that: “There had been
progress in many of the areas where improvements
had been required at the previous inspection.” (p2).
Improvement was seen across 16 out of 50 service
domains. The Trust no longer has any Inadequate
ratings. There have been particular improvements
in the domains of Safety and Responsiveness and
14 Leading with excellence, caring with compassion

This is against a backdrop in which 47% of providers
that were re-inspected following a rating of Requires
Improvement were not able to improve their rating.
More worryingly, in 8% of cases, the quality of
care had deteriorated so much that the rating was
downgraded to ‘inadequate’. Source: ‘State of Care’
Report 2015/16
Plymouth Hospitals continues to be one of 28 out
of nearly 150 acute trusts nationally to be rated
Outstanding for Caring, although this domain was not
re-inspected this time. The majority of trusts nationally
are rated Requires Improvement overall.*
Staff in some of the areas re-inspected gave their
reactions in a short video, which you can watch here.
Ann James, Chief Executive, said: “In 2015, following
our last inspection, I promised we would be actionoriented where improvement was required. This
latest report is proof that we have been. We truly
live by our value of ‘Putting Patients First’ and I am

A full copy of the inspection report can be found
both on the CQC website www.cqc.org.uk/
and Plymouth Hospital NHS Trust’s website at
https://www.plymouthhospitals.nhs.uk/

1. Our Performance Report

so proud of our staff for doing exactly that. The
massive improvements and the many examples
of outstanding practice noted by the inspectors
reflect the professionalism and commitment
of my colleagues to do the very best they can
for patients in the face of some unrelenting
demand.
“We remain rated as Requires Improvement
overall, partly reflecting the difficulties we
face in a challenged Devon healthcare
community. But, as the independent inspectors
saw for themselves, we are on a journey of
improvement and we’re making great progress
on that journey.”

2. Our Accountability Report

4. Appendices

“

This time 2015 Mum only had 3 days left after
suffering a stroke @Derriford_Hosp made her
last days very comfortable

- @ShaunWatchorn

”
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Our part in the Devon Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP)

Across England, 44 Sustainability and Transformation
Plans (STPs) are being produced to address how
local services will evolve and become sustainable
over the next five years and beyond. The Wider
Devon STP (which covers the local authority areas
of Torbay and Plymouth as well as the rest of Devon)
is being developed by the many health and social
care partners in Devon, working with local people.
It is our opportunity to look at our local services and
determine how we should organise them in future
within the funding we have available.
Progress was made in 2016/17 by the NHS and local
authority partners working collaboratively across the
whole of Devon. During the last year, issues that had
not been addressed by the Devon system in the past
were tackled head-on as part of an ambitious STP,
signed up to by all organisations in Devon.
The benefits of a whole system approach have led
not only to performance improvements, despite
huge pressures on services, but an improvement in
finances – the £121 million 2016/17 recurrent deficit
position in Devon was reduced to £80 million.
The Devon STP was published in November 2016
and is a comprehensive five-year plan to transform
health and care services for local people so they are
fit for the future.
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Our shared vision is to deliver health and care
services that meet people’s needs, enable people to
live well in their communities, encourage people to
improve their health and wellbeing, get the best out
of modern technologies and address inequalities. We
want to empower people to take greater responsibility
for their own health, and make sure we have the right
services in place to support them with this. Together,
we have identified seven priorities which will enable
us to achieve the vision set out in the STP:
1. Prevention and promoting health – we want
people and communities to be able to take a more
active role in their general health and wellbeing, to
prevent ill health and when illness strikes, to be able
to remain as independent as possible.
2. Integrated models of care – we want to reduce
reliance on hospital beds and help people to live
healthy independent lives for longer, closer to where
they live. Care needs to be less fragmented and more
joined-up so that it is safer and more efficient.
3. Primary care – we want to establish a consistent,
high-quality and sustainable model of primary care
(GPs).
4. Mental health and learning disability – we want
to make sure that mental and physical health services
are joined-up and meet people’s needs.

3,986

babies delivered by our midwives

Underpinning all of these priorities are our
workforce, our buildings and our technology
infrastructure.

Feedback was collated into themes and will
inform the final decision-making criteria. For
example, people said they feel strongly about
travel times and distances, so this is likely to
influence decisions on future plans.
By summer 2017, the aim is to have sufficient
feedback from clinicians, the public, and
finance and workforce professionals to draw up
proposals about how to make Devon’s stroke,
maternity and urgent care services fit for the
future and provide the best possible care for
patients.

2. Our Accountability Report

Involving people in developing plans
To help deliver the plan, New Devon CCG led a
consultation entitled ‘Your Future Care’, looking
at community services in the autumn of 2016
and this is being followed by a review of some
acute services. Announced on 4 November
2016, the Acute Services Review began to
look at how stroke, maternity, neonatology and
paediatrics, as well as urgent care services
will be provided in the future across Devon,
Plymouth and Torbay.

Feedback from the workshops fed into the
Acute Services Review, and helped to develop
the draft criteria on which any future decisions
relating to acute services are based. To ensure
these were the right criteria to use, and to
identify any missing criteria the public felt
needed to be included, Plymouth Hospitals
supported New Devon CCG and other STP
partners in running 12 events, with between 15
and 45 members of the public attending each
event.

These are services where sustainability and,
potentially, patient safety are a concern.
Doctors, midwives, nurses and other
professionals met at a series of workshops to
understand the service challenges and consider
how best to work together to meet those
challenges in future. Patients and unions have
also participated in these workshops.

4. Appendices

“

Just got home with my son Kieren who along with my
step brother, was involved in a motorbike accident ...
I am a member of staff and so is my son, and I would
like to praise the paramedics and all the staff in ED
for all their hard work and attention that they have
given my son and step brother ... you work so hard
guys and I just wanted to say thank you so much

- Angie Taylor

1. Our Performance Report

5. Acute hospital and specialist services
– we want to make sure that acute hospital
services in Devon are safe, high-quality,
effective and affordable.
6. Productivity – we want to reduce
inefficiency and waste across all organisations,
so we make the best use of resources.
7. Children and families – we want children
and young people to be able to access the
services they need, as close to home as
possible. Services will be more joined-up so
that we can better support families and also
ensure that children continue to get the care
they need as they become adults.

”
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Our Performance
Our Performance in 2016/17 against Key Standards

Whilst we have much to be proud of in the quality of care that we give to our patients, like many hospitals up
and down the country, we face a significant challenge in providing responsive services and continue to work to
improve our performance against a number of key national standards, for example, the national 4 hour wait for
emergency patients.
The average number of daily attendances to our Emergency Department was 270 in March 2017, six
attendances per day lower than the same month in 2016 (figure 1.1). Although the percentage of those
attendances triaged in the highest two categories dropped below 40% for the first time since November 2016
(March 2017 = 39.1%), it remains consistently higher than last year (figure 1.3).
This is reflected in the rising (above plan and above 2015/16 levels) levels of emergency inpatient admissions
with subsequent knock-on effects on elective cancellations, high numbers of patients who are medical outliers
and additional escalation beds opened to cope with this increased emergency demand.

Figure 1: Operational Context

*A recent piece of work to validate delayed transfer of care data (figure 1.4) following a regional comparison has
revealed a historical underestimation of the number of bed days attributed to patients whose discharges are
delayed. The new, more accurate reporting methodology has resulted in the sharp increase evident in figure 1.3.
Figure 2 shows how dealing with the above-plan emergency activity has affected the Trust’s ability to undertake
the required volume of elective work with Referral to Treatment waiting times suffering as a result.

Figure 2: Actual activity compared with plan in 2016/17
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119,629

patients admitted to our wards

Figure 3: Summary performance against national targets in 2016/17
What did
Plymouth
Hospitals achieve?

0

2

<35

2

92%

Achieved in 0 out of 12
months

0

89

95%

Achieved in 11 / 12
months

95%

84.3%

All cancer two week wait

93%

93.2%

Two week wait for symptomatic breast patients (cancer not initially
suspected)

93%

77.5%

31 day (diagnosis to treatment) wait for first treatment: all cancers

96%

95.8%

31 day wait for second or subsequent treatment: surgery

94%

90.9%

31 day wait for second or subsequent treatment: anti-cancer drug treatments

98%

99.3%

31 day wait for second or subsequent treatment: radiotherapy treatments

94%

96.7%

62 day (urgent GP referral to treatment) wait for first treatment: all cancers

85%

79.2%

62 day wait for first treatment from consultant screening service referral:
all cancers

90%

86.9%

62 day consultant upgrade wait for first treatment: all cancers

85%

78.6%

<1%

3.7%

Cancelled operations by the hospital for non-clinical reasons on the day of
or after admission, who were not treated within 28 days

-

15.3%

Cancelled operations by the hospital for non-clinical reasons on the day of
or after admission

0.8%

3.03%

Access to genito-urinary medicine clinics (48 hours)

100%

100%

% stroke patients spending 90% of their stay on ASU

80%

71.7%

0

0

95%

95.3%

Incidence of MRSA bacteraemia
Incidence of avoidable Clostridium difficile
Referral to treatment times:
Incomplete pathways
52-week waits
Direct Access Audiology
Emergency Department:
Maximum time in ED of four hours from arrival to admission, transfer or
discharge
Cancer urgent referral to first outpatient appointment waiting times:

Cancer diagnosis to treatment waiting times:
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Cancer urgent referral to treatment waiting times:

1. Our Performance Report

Standard
Required

Diagnostic Waits:

Cancelled operations:

Other key standards:

Mixed Sex Breaches
% patients receiving appropriate VTE risk assessment
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Diagnostics Test Waiting Times

Looking Ahead

The key objective of our plan over the next two years
is to try to stabilise our organisation - operationally
and financially - whilst continuing to improve the
quality of care we give to patients.

Context

Derriford Hospital has been under operational distress
for a considerable time which has had a major impact
on the efficient delivery of frontline services and the
ability to maintain management focus on the delivery
of high impact changes. This has also contributed to
a serious financial position which requires significant
improvement through the development and delivery of
a plan to achieve financial sustainability.
We recognise the importance of ensuring that we
have the right staff, in the right place and at the right
time but, in common with the wider NHS, we continue
to face significant workforce challenges. We continue
to adopt innovative approaches to the recruitment of
clinical staff but face challenges in recruiting people
in some key service areas and are developing a
stronger plan for addressing these issues on a
sustainable basis.
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Where we are focussing our efforts

The focus of the two year plan is, therefore, to
re-establish an equilibrium between demand and
capacity, through significant improvements in both
front door assessment and alternate pathways
to admission and also faster discharge to more
appropriate settings of care. This will clearly require
a rapid roll-out across the local health system of right
models of care, which the hospital will be central to
driving forward. If this is achieved, we will be able to
de-escalate the bed base, significantly reduce the
dependency on agency and premium staff payments,
reduce the disruption and re-scheduling of planned
operations and procedures and the inconvenience
this causes to patients and their families.
Through ‘right sizing’ the hospital we will remove
inefficiencies and waste and more importantly reduce
the daily frustration of clinicians and management,
through allowing them to get on with their work
undistracted from operational crises. There will be an
unrelenting focus on reducing the average length of
stay and ensuring we are able to stay within our safe
staffing levels and bed base.
It is important to note, however, that the hospital is
currently over-performing against its contract and
our plan relies on our local system making significant
further progress in terms of switching the balance
of services in the hospital back towards a greater
volume of planned or elective care through
appropriate (non-elective) admission avoidance and
earlier discharge of our medically fit patients. This

progress will rely upon additional capacity
becoming available in the wider health and
social care system.

What we are doing internally

Most of what we do is somehow linked to
other players in the local health and social
care system. As outlined on page 16, work
has started on the Acute Services Review
across the four acute hospitals in Devon. We
are a fixed point as we will remain the Major
Trauma Centre and specialist services centre
but there is an opportunity to provide some
services differently, including services that
are vulnerable for us because, for example,
we can’t recruit the right staff to deliver them.
We are approaching this as an opportunity for
greater collaboration and co-operation with
other hospitals and providers for the sake of
sustainable services for patients.

2. Our Accountability Report

As we focus on our clinical services, we
also need to ensure we don’t overlook our
corporate functions and we are working with
the leaders of our biggest corporate services
to see how we can work differently to increase
value and save money across those functions.
Some of that may be by collaborating with
other local providers to share arrangements or
through attracting more income.

Quality and Operational Plan

1. Our Performance Report

We have been working hard on our Putting
Patients First (PPF) programme, which is
designed to improve flow through our hospital
and improve quality of care for patients as
well as the quality of working life for our staff.
We are seeing early signs of improvement,
for example, higher number of discharges
before midday and at the weekend, but we
know there is more to be done and PPF is the
lynchpin of our internal transformation. We
have an ethos of continuous improvement
and our own Quality Academy to support this.
Allied to this, teams in procurement, service
improvement and finance are working to
help clinical services Get it Right First Time
(GIRFT).

What is happening in our wider
system

We recognise that we must ensure activity

4. Appendices

plans are sufficient to deliver, or achieve
recovery milestones for key national
operating standards. This section describes
how we will maintain and enhance the quality
of care to our patients. Our overarching
quality improvement plan has regard to a
number of national and local initiatives and
programmes.
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National performance standards

We are developing improvement trajectories for each of the key national operational standards. In doing this, we
have made a series of assumptions which need to be further tested to ensure they are sufficiently robust and
consistent with other parts of the system. The current position for each of the key national performance standards
is as follows:
• Urgent care: We are planning to meet the national standard of at least 95% of patients being admitted,
transferred or discharged within 4 hours by January 2018.
• Elective care: We are planning to reduce the number of patients waiting longer than 18 weeks for treatment
and achieve a standard of 89% by March 2018. This is informed by the discussions currently being held within
the STP.
• Diagnostics: We are planning to meet the national standard of <1% of patients waiting more than 6 weeks by
October 2017. The achievement of this trajectory will depend on a number of critical factors including equipment
developments, continued outsourcing and successful recruitment to key positions.
• Cancer: We are planning to meet the national standard of at least 85% of patients receiving their first
treatment within 62 days, but are in the process of revising our profile of improvement.

Quality Account

Following a consultation exercise designed to ensure our plans reflect the needs of the community, our Quality
Account set out three key quality priorities which are set out below.

Ref.

Priority

Rationale

1

Improve the patient
experience by ensuring
our wards and
departments have the
correct levels of staff with
the appropriate skills

• Having the right nursing staff in the right place at the right time is a
fundamental element to delivery of safe high quality care for our patients.
Patient survey results show us patients do not always feel the wards are
adequately staffed. Nursing, midwifery and care staff, working as part of
wider multidisciplinary teams, play a critical role in securing high quality care
and excellent outcomes for patients.

2

Reduce the number
of patients who are
cancelled and ensure
patients are able to
access services within
acceptable timeframes.

• Patients have the right to expect timely care which is in line with best
practice. The Trust has recently experienced difficulties with capacity which
resulted in cancellations for patients and longer waits for treatment that we
would like.

3

Improve the quality and
reliability of the care we
provide to our patients

• Untreated sepsis can progress to severe sepsis, multi-organ failure, septic
shock and ultimately death. Septic shock has a 50% mortality rate. Sepsis
in children is estimated to be 10 – 15% and is the most common cause of
direct maternal death. Around 35,000 people die from sepsis in England
each year.
• As a patient in hospital there is a chance that if you deteriorate you may
not receive the necessary response in a timely fashion. This may cause you
to be more unwell, affect your treatment, increase your length of stay.
• An NHS England patient safety alert supports the introduction of
the National Safety standards for Invasive procedures (NatSSIPS). All
organisations providing NHS funded care are required to respond.
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CQUINS

Our CQUINS (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payments) cover a number of quality
improvement priorities as set out below.

Summary of improvement plans

Sepsis

• We continue to implement the systematic screening for Sepsis of
appropriate patients and, where sepsis is identified, to provide timely and
appropriate treatment and review.

Anti-microbial resistance

• Reducing consumption of antibiotics and optimising prescribing
practice by reducing the indiscriminate or inappropriate use of antibiotics
which is a key driver in the spread of antibiotic resistance.

ICU discharge

• We are planning to reduce delayed discharges from Adult Critical Care
to ward level care by improving bed management in ward based care,
thus removing delays and improving flow.

Hepatitis C pathways

• The planned rollout, aligned to NICE guidance, of new clinical and
cost effective treatments guidance to improve outcomes through multidisciplinary team treatment plans.

Clinical utilisation review
(CUR)

• CUR is a proven approach, supported by robust medical intelligence
in the form of an internationally developed clinical evidence base built
into clinical decision-support software. CUR can prevent unnecessary
hospital admissions and reduce length of stay for patients by determining
the most suitable level of care according to clinical need.

2. Our Accountability Report

Spinal MDT

• Better management of spinal surgery by creating and supporting a
network with a hub centre that will ensure data is collected to enable
evaluation of practice, clinical effectiveness, adherence to the complex
spinal surgery specification agreed as part of the contract with complex
spinal surgery providers and assurance that elective surgery only takes
place following an MDT review.

- Simon Hackney

4. Appendices

“

I would like to thank the AMAZING STAFF
at Derriford Hospital for their professionalism,
kindness, reassurance, and fantastic treatment
through what is one of the most harrowing times
of my life. They have been consistently courteous,
and have put me at ease every step of the way. All
of the NHS staff work wonders but the doctors and
nurses at Derriford are simply in a class of their own.
I have found that all of the nurses there haven't just
delivered treatment but have given each patient a part
of themselves that goes beyond what is just required.
They are all Fantastic. All worth 100 times what they
are paid, and I am and will be always grateful.

1. Our Performance Report

Areas

”
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Sign up to Safety

Sign up to Safety is a national initiative to help NHS organisations achieve their patient safety aspirations and
care for their patients in the safest way possible. We want to give patients confidence that we are doing all we
can to ensure the care they receive will be safe and effective at all times. Our key priorities under this initiative
are set out below.

Areas

Summary of improvement plans

Deteriorating patients

• Sepsis is a time-critical medical emergency, which can occur as part of the body’s
response to infection. Unless treated quickly, sepsis can progress to severe sepsis,
multi-organ failure, septic shock and ultimately death. Septic shock has a 50%
mortality rate. We are working hard to measure whether we are achieving the aim of
and treating patients within one hour.

Medication safety

• Reduce medication errors through targeted work streams relating to high risk
medicines. This uses an inter-professional approach to ensure all aspects of
medication incidents are used as learning.

Infection Prevention &
Control

• The Trust’s Infection Prevention and Control Team will continue to prioritise
achieving the local and national targets as outlined in the Annual Programme of
Work, April 2017-March 2018 and MRSA and Clostridium Difficile Reduction Plans.
They will also work to ensure continued compliance with Code of Practice and
national mandatory surveillance requirements. They will continue to deliver a highclass Surgical Site Surveillance Programme and excellent outbreak management.

Falls

• We continue to work on reducing our number of falls that harm our patients, and
have set a new target for this year to further reduce the number of falls resulting in
harm by 20%.

Pressure ulcers

• Reduce hospital-acquired Grade 2 pressure ulcers by 50% and reduce Grade 3
& 4s to zero. The occurrence of pressure ulcers remains a highly reported patient
safety incidents, but the number of grade 3 & 4 pressure ulcers acquired by our
patients are no longer in the top category for serious incidents. Work to reduce the
occurrence of pressure ulcers continues; however, Grade 2 pressure ulcers are the
harm most caused to our patients as shown by the monthly Safety Thermometer
prevalence audit. The Tissue Viability team work in targeted areas to reduce the
number of pressure ulcers occurring.

Diagnostics

• We intend to improve our timeliness in responding to diagnostic reports. The
recommended further actions within these reports will be acknowledged and
implemented when clinically appropriate. There can be adverse consequences
resulting from delays to diagnosis and treatment. This project aims to eradicate
delays.

Other Quality Priorities

Our plans also reflect a number of other quality priorities, including those set out in national guidance. These are
summarised opposite.
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Areas

Summary of improvement plans

Seven-day
services

We are currently compliant with a number of the standards that have been set; plans
are in place to deliver and improve a number of these standards. The current audit
and subsequent analysis of our gaps in delivery will be completed during the next six
months.

Safe staffing
and care
hours per
patient day

The use of CHPPD will allow Trusts to see how their CHPPD relates to other Trusts
within a specialty, and will encourage them to review variation. CHPPD will be one
part of the wider nursing productivity dashboard including quality measures – from
a productivity perspective ensuring the optimal allocation of workforce resources to
maximise outputs and outcomes.

Better Births
review

The implementation of the key findings of Better Births will be a focus for PHNT
Maternity Services as well as the STP as they consider the services across Devon. The
report of the National Maternity Review includes 28 recommendations based around
seven key themes. We have undertaken an initial assessment of our position against
these recommendations and are developing an action plan to address them in 2017/19.

Mortality

The Trust is committed to reviewing and learning from all deaths and has a Mortality
Review Group that manages the mortality review process for the organisation. The
group’s Terms of Reference were reviewed by NHSI in March 2016 against NHS
England’s Mortality Governance guide. Mortality and Morbidity reviews are conducted
by our Service Lines and governed through the Care Group structure.

SIRIs

The Trust manages its Serious Incident investigations in line with national guidance
and openly reports all incidents and investigations with stakeholders. Our policy also
ensures that we follow national guidance on Duty of Candour.
The Trust’s Infection Prevention and Control Team continue to prioritise achieving
the local and national targets as outlined in the Annual Programme of Work, April
2017-March 2018 and MRSA and Clostridium difficile Reduction Plans. They also
work to ensure continued compliance with Code of Practice and national mandatory
surveillance requirements. They will continue to deliver a high-class Surgical Site
Surveillance Programme and excellent outbreak management.

End of life
care

End of life care will be delivered in an environment that promotes dignity and ensures
that cultural, spiritual and religious beliefs and values are respected. PHNT’s aim is to
ensure a personal experience for our patients and their loved ones in the last year of life
that is of as high quality as possible. We will aim to do this by participating in national
and local end of life care audits, and have a clear 5 year action plan in place, which
includes improving the caring environment of patients at the end of life by re-decorating
18 side rooms, a focus on the nutritional and pastoral needs of patients and working
in collaboration with CCGs and other end of life partners to ensure patients receive a
seamless service from hospital.

Patient
Experience

The Trust is committed to the delivery of patient centred care for all patients. Patients
can expect to experience exceptional care which meets both their physical and
emotional needs. We know from existing feedback there are many examples of
excellent care and experience being delivered by our staff; however there are occasions
where we know this is not the case for every patient, every time. These issues are
being taken forward through our Patient Experience Strategy 2015-18.
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Infection
Prevention &
Control

1. Our Performance Report

All national audits that are included in the NCAPOP or annual Quality Account are
added to the Trust clinical audit plan. Outliers are escalated through Service Line/Care
Group management team prior to escalation to the Clinical Effectiveness Group. The
Trust has participated in all appropriate national clinical audits and national enquiries
for two consecutive years. We are seeking to ensure that the extracted outcomes
and actions from national reports are recorded in a way that allows the learning to be
shared. A revised forward work plan with be devised in line with Healthcare Quality
Improvement Partnership (HQIP) national audit publication schedules.

2. Our Accountability Report

National
clinical
audits

Let’s Be Open

In recognition of the invaluable role and contribution
that families and carers provide to their loved ones
when they are in hospital, we introduced #letsbeopen
in 2016. From Monday 1 August 2016, all of our adult
inpatient wards, with the exception of critical care
and maternity, began opening to visitors between the
hours of 07:30 and 22:00.
The #letsbeopen campaign was introduced by former
Matron Emma Wilkinson and following her departure,
it has been led by Matrons Judy Frame and Sue
Timmins, supported by the Communications Team.
Judy, Matron for Cardiothoracics and Vascular, said:
“We hope, by opening our wards up for longer to
families, loved ones and carers, it will enable them to
be more involved in their relatives’ care and planning
for their discharge home or to onward care.”
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To support this change, a Visitors’ Charter for Adult
Inpatients was developed, which outlines what we do
as staff and what we ask our visitors to do too. The
Visitors’ Charter includes standards that we ask all of
our visitors to respect, such as ensuring that no more
than two people visit at any one time, supporting and
encouraging the patient during mealtimes, observing
quiet times or being asked to leave for a short period
of time, such as during doctors’ rounds, etc.
The initiative has multiple benefits, including the
reduction of anxiety for both the patient and their
relative, enhances recovery, improves communication
between relatives/carers and our staff and allows the
person that knows the most about them, to be with
them, therefore aiding a far more positive overall
experience.
The concept of #letsbeopen was influenced by the
John’s Campaign, which aims to give the carers of
those living with dementia the right to stay with them
in hospital, in the same way that parents stay with
their sick children.

1. Our Performance Report

2. Our Accountability Report

4. Appendices
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Continuous Improvement for our
Patients

Continuous improvement isn’t a buzzword
for us here in Plymouth, it’s a commitment
and it has been given life and legs through
our Quality Academy. The Quality Academy
ensures we use the same language and have
a common purpose for our improvement
work, a united focus for all our different
improvement projects and that we make the
best use of our resources (people skills time
and money).
We hosted a launch event in December
2016. The day included internal and external speakers covering topics on ‘Patients as Partners in Improvement’
and ‘Quality Improvement and what it means to PHNT’. There were breakout sessions delivered by the Service
Improvement Team, Quality Academy mentors and PenCHORD (Peninsula Collaboration for Health Operational
Research and Development) on topics related to improvement; such as PDSA (Plan, Do, Study, Act) cycles,
measurement, variation and error. More than 120 people attended the day including a variety of staff (clinical
and non-clinical), students, patients, Livewell Southwest, primary care staff, commissioners, South West Patient
Safety and the Devon Local Optical Committee. Attendees were asked to sign up to become Quality Affiliates
– 25 signed up and have either met with or will be meeting with a mentor to discuss their quality improvement
projects or how they can support Trust- wide quality improvement projects. Another Quality Academy event is
planned for 2017.

Feedback from attendees:

“It was very motivating. Starting small can still have an impact and can be a building block for larger quality
improvement and patient benefit. I will recommend this day to my colleagues.”
“Everyone should attend! Made me want to change my approach to encouraging my team. I have ideas,
things I plan to put in place when I get back. I am going to tackle culture first.”
“Good that Plymouth is not just ‘saying’ but is actually ‘doing’ to educate and influence staff”
“I think this was a useful snapshot to the QI (Quality Improvement) process and the ways to access the
variable local resources”

Transforming care for elective or planned patients

Pre-choice triage (PCT) is when a consultant reviews a referral before
an appointment is booked. This enables the specialist to direct the
patient to the most appropriate point of the pathway or offer advice
and guidance to the GP. As a Trust, we are piloting pre-choice triage in
Gastroenterology, Urology, Neurology, Orthopaedics, Respiratory and Paediatrics.
Why is this improvement?
In Gastroenterology, 25% of referrals are diverted straight to test (STT). We know that following a STT
appointment, 70% of patients are discharged back to GPs avoiding two outpatient appointments saving in excess
of 1,000 appointments per year. In Urology, 29% of all referrals are managed by consultants providing written
advice and management plans to GPs. Pre-choice triage has had an impact on new and follow-up waiting lists –
the graph overleaf shows a steady decrease seen in Gastro since triage has been introduced.
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We have been working to address delays in typing and signing of letters and improve the administrative
processes that support the management of investigations. Gastroenterology and Hepatology have
agreed new standards to govern their administrative process:
• Clinic and typing of letters will be completed within 48 hours
• Signing of letters will be completed within 48 hours
• Diagnostic results will be reviewed with 5 days
By managing what needs to be completed today the team have met their agreed standards and often
exceed them.

2. Our Accountability Report

Why is this improvement?
Any delay in administration creates clinical risk. Speeding up communication with GPs reduces risk
and improves continuity. In addition the number of phone calls received chasing actions or requesting
updates has reduced. Data quality and Referral to Treatment performance has improved as patient
records are being updated more quickly.

1. Our Performance Report

Delivering interventions to reduce delays

4. Appendices
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Working with primary care and community partners differently
1) Pain Management - Fibromyalgia Body Reprogramming Course
An exciting new community service based at the University of St Mark and St John for patients diagnosed with
Fibromyalgia (FM) started in April 2017. We are working with the University of Plymouth, local GPs and the
college to offer a new Body Reprogramming Course for people with Fibromyalgia. Fibromyalgia is a long-term
condition which causes pain all over the body. The cause is unknown. Research suggests it could affect as many
as 1 in 20 people. There is currently no cure. The Body Reprogramming course lasts for six weeks and is led by
a lifestyle coach. Its focus is on lifestyle, self-care and education.
Why is this an improvement?
Evidence suggests patients with fibromyalgia will consult their GP in excess of 25 times per year and receive
more than 11 prescriptions. Our audit showed affected patients present in multiple specialties; neurosurgery,
cardiology, orthopaedics, gynaecology and pain management. Over a six year period, patients had an average
of 23 contacts with secondary care, five investigations and three surgical interventions. We hope that supporting
patients earlier in self-management will improve their quality of life and reduce interactions with NHS services.
2) Introducing Clinical Referral Guidelines – helping GPs know when to refer a patient
Clinical Referral guidelines (CRGs) advise GPs, by condition, of any tests or investigations to be completed prior
to making a referral to secondary care. The Transformation team has been working with GPs and other hospitals
to create CRGs for people living in Devon.
Why is this improvement?
We believe that following CRGs will ensure patients are only referred to hospital when they need to be. Clear
pre-referral criteria means patients are worked up prior to referral and require fewer appointments and steps in
the pathway prior to a decision to treat being made. An example is the CRG for patients presenting with Irritable
Bowel Syndrome or Irritable Bowel Disease. The CRG requires GPs to complete a faecal calprotectin test prior
to referral. Only those patients testing positive are referred to secondary care. Prior to this CRG, all patients were
seen and tested in secondary care.
3) Achieving glycaemic control for people newly diagnosed with Type II diabetes
For the past year, the diabetes team has been working closely with a group of practices in the city to pilot a new
model of care for people with diabetes. Our consultant, specialist nurses, dietitian and assistants run clinics
and group work sessions in the practices alongside local GPs to improve the glycaemic control of people with
diabetes. The service connects hospital specialist teams with GPs and their nursing teams. We hope the new
service will upskill primary care teams and help to achieve control for newly diagnosed patients within six months
after new diagnosis. We plan, pending evaluation, to roll out the new model of care to other practices if proved
effective.

“

People are too quick to complain these days
so I'm going to sing the praises of some of the
staff here ~ Marianne Rowntree and Pippa on
maternity level 4 were amazing to me when me and my
partner rushed up at 4am, I was in pain
and worried but they were bubbly, reassuring
and so friendly and put me at ease,
nothing felt like too much trouble.

- Kat Fitchett
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”
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1. Our Performance Report

Recruited
4,251 patients into
research studies

4. Appendices
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Caring with Compassion
Improving our Patients’ Experience

We recognise the importance of placing more
emphasis on “putting the patient at the centre of
everything we do“ and have built on existing good
practice to design our services around our patients’
needs, both functional and emotional, to ensure
we provide an exceptional standard of care and
experience. As part of our commitment to improve
services and the patient experience we have actively
sought to engage with patients and members of the
public. Workshops and interviews are used to gather
feedback and engage with members of the public
to ensure the wishes of our patients and carers are
reflected in everything we do.

Patient Experience Strategy

In January 2016 we reviewed our Patient
Experience Strategy to ensure we deliver on our
patient experience ambitions. Delivery of our
ambitions is tracked through the Patient Experience
Implementation Plan which is updated each year
and includes a number of key actions to improve
the patient experience including our new Welcome
Centre, introduction of the Carers Hub, Relatives
Bereavement Room refurbishment, dementia patient
care and making mealtimes matter. Delivery of the
strategy is monitored monthly through our Patient
Experience Committee which is responsible for
reviewing all patient experience related information
with the purpose of achieving the Trust’s vision of
“Putting patients at the centre of everything we do”.
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Patient Feedback

The Friends and Family Test is now in place across
all areas of the Trust and provides valuable feedback
from our patients, encompassing all adult, children
and carers including inpatient, emergency care,
maternity, outpatient and day case across both
hospital and community based locations.
Patients are asked ‘How likely are you to recommend
our ward to friends and family if they needed similar
care or treatment’ based on the following potential
responses:
1. Extremely likely
2. Likely
3. Neither likely nor unlikely
4. Unlikely
5. Extremely unlikely
6. Don’t know
The chart below illustrates the response from
March 2016 to March 2017.
Through the qualitative feedback element of Friends
and Family Test we ensure patients’ views are heard
and shared. Whilst the recommender score provides
a gauge of overall patient satisfaction, the qualitative
feedback gathered through the Friend and Family
Test provides an opportunity to understand our
successes and areas for improvement in more detail.

99,685

the number of views on our 131 videos on the PHNTNHS Youtube channel

Patient Survey

External Feedback

Feedback obtained through Patient Opinion and
NHS Choices websites, where patients have the
opportunity to register comments, anonymously
if they choose, is reviewed alongside existing
sources of information. During the past year,
173 pieces of feedback were posted on the
Patient Opinion website relating to Plymouth

We have maintained strong links with both
Healthwatch Plymouth and Healthwatch
Cornwall, both of which are represented on the
Patient Experience Committee. Communication
links are also in place with Healthwatch Devon.

Complaints

During 2016/17, we received 609 formal
complaints, which are detailed in the table
below. This represents a 6.16% reduction
compared to the same period in 2015/16. On
review, 4,127 PALS enquiries were received
during 2016/17, which would indicate concerns
are being managed at an earlier stage. For the
same period 650 complaints were closed.

2. Our Accountability Report
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1. Our Performance Report

We welcome feedback from the public and
actively seek feedback from our patients
through our programme of local surveys using
an electronic system ‘Meridian’ which provides
real time feedback for our wards and helps us
to pinpoint areas for improvement as they arise.
Patients are asked if they are happy with the
care they have received and the cleanliness of
the wards. Results of the surveys are shared
with the relevant teams and actions are agreed
to address any issues and drive improvement.

Hospitals NHS Trust. We have improved our
NHS Choices star rating from 4 stars to 4 ½
stars over the last 12 months .

Got the all clear for my dad from the Oncology Team
today - thank you for such great care !

- @SusiPetherick

”
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Throughout the coming year we will continue to use this valuable information to influence changes made to
improve the services we provide for our patients. We improved accessibility to our Patient Advice and Liaison
Service by upgrading our telephone service and opening the Welcome Centre in the main hospital entrance.
The Trust’s performance target for responding to complaints with 25 working days or where necessary agreed
timeframes was 90% for 2016/17. This was achieved for the majority of last year and has improved to over 95%
per month during 2017.
On completion of the investigation of each complaint, a judgement is made by the Trust as to whether or not the
complaint has been upheld. As it is closed, each complaint is classified as ‘upheld’ or ‘not upheld’. Definitions of
the classifications are outlined below along with the numbers of cases for each outcome.
Outcome

Definition

Number

Percentage

Upheld

Complaints in which the concerns were found to
be correct on investigation

313

51.40%

Partially Upheld

Complaints in which some of the concerns were
found to be correct on investigation

180

29.56%

Not Upheld

Complaints in which the concerns were not found
to be correct on investigation

101

16.58%

Ongoing

Complaint investigation ongoing therefore
outcome has not yet been confirmed

15

2.46%

Complainants have the right to refer any complaint they feel has not been resolved adequately at local level
to the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO). For the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017,
the Trust received 15 requests for information and investigation from the PHSO. Of those, five cases were not
upheld and no further action was required from the Trust and one case was upheld. The remaining nine cases
remain open at the present time and we are awaiting the findings of the PHSO.

Compliments

During the past twelve months we have worked with all areas to actively identify compliments received whether
that is a formal thank you letter, card or box of chocolates. We are pleased to report that in 2016/17, we received
5,282 expressions of thanks for the care received. These compliments are important to us as they tell us what
aspects of the care we give are most appreciated by patients and their families. The many letters of praise
highlight the fact it is often the little things that matter most to patients when they are admitted or have to attend
hospital.

“

Brilliant care in @DerrifordHospital ED @PHNT_NHS.
Efficient non-judgemental excellence reception
nursing medical X-ray. Be very proud

- @EileenCarneyJ
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Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)

We were aware that for some areas in the Trust staff did not know how to contact PALS and members
of the public were not aware of the service. In addition during the early part of 2016 a number of
complaints were received about the service provided by PALS.
Key improvements were identified following the
review and improvements have been reviewed
and monitored through the Patient Experience
Committee:
• Introduction of a new telephone system
• Recruitment and training of PALS staff
• Opening of the Welcome Centre on level 6
(pictured)
• Key performance indicators for service lines to
ensure quicker response times to concerns
• PALS clinics were initiated where members of the
team would visit patients and relatives on the wards
and department and encourage early resolution of
issues.

2. Our Accountability Report

Our Welcome Centre was opened in the main concourse in autumn 2016, ensuring the team
can be seen as the first point of contact for all our patients, staff and members of the public. We
recognise the importance of providing a calm, caring environment where visitors are able to obtain
information and provide feedback both in a positive and negative way by sharing their experiences. An
additional meeting room is also available should the attendees be distressed or if their enquiry is of a
confidential nature. It offers an opportunity for our visitors to have an informal relaxed meeting area, to
discuss and provide feedback on their experience of our services.

Number of PALS enquiries (by month)

1. Our Performance Report

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) provide a point of contact with the Trust for patients,
relatives, carers and the public. PALS receive telephone and email enquiries and meet face to face
with patients and carers providing a supportive point of contact and support. We understand that it
is not always convenient for patients/carers to telephone or visit the PALS office during the working
week and e-mail contact allows flexibility for the person making the enquiry to raise concerns at a time
suitable to them.

4. Appendices
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Patient Experience National Network
Awards 2016

We were delighted to be shortlisted in four categories
at the recent Patient Experience National Network
Awards 2016, with even more to celebrate when we
won the Support for Caregivers, Friends and Family
category with our Bereavement Card initative.
• Support for Caregivers, Friends and Family Bereavement Cards
• Turning it Around When it Goes Wrong - PALS
Clinics and Welcome Centre in Hospitals
• Communicating Effectively with Patients and
Families – Bereavement Cards
• Environment of Care - Improving Patients’ Sleep Reducing Light and Noise Levels on Wards at Night

Improving patient care

Throughout 2016/17 we continually reviewed patient
feedback, complaints, compliments and other sources
of external intelligence and were able to identify a
number of areas where improvement could be made
to the quality of the services provided. Some of our
key achievements are detailed below.
Bereavement Cards
We recognise that dealing with the loss of a close
friend or family member may be one of the hardest
challenges some of us face and although death
is a natural part of life many of us still can be
overwhelmed by shock and confusion. In this state
it is well known that we do not take in all information
given to us and our ability to think rationally can be
impaired.
In this environment it is not surprising that many
forget to ask questions and bereavement cards were
developed to send to families after the death of a
loved one, to give them the opportunity to meet with
the clinicians involved and take time to discuss the
care they received. There were five designs of cards
chosen using local landscape photographs taken by
one of the Trust’s Critical Care Consultants, two of
which are shown above.
Bereavement Room
Our Relatives’ Bereavement Room was looking
very tired and unwelcoming, but through our Trust
charitable funds we were able to completely refurbish
the room including new furniture, decoration and
flooring. Bereaved relatives are now able to meet
with staff in a pleasant and calming environment.
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3,059

The number of emergency attendances at the Royal Eye Infirmary
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Carer Lounge
Support and identification of carers in the Trust
remains a high priority and our aim is to ensure
carers have a voice and are well supported
by our staff. Recent improvements for carers
include the offer of free car parking for all those
carers who contribute to the delivery of care
for the person they normally look after during
an inpatient stay. In addition, as part of the
development of the Welcome Centre, Plymouth
and Cornwall Carers organisations have
accepted the opportunity to have a base in the
old PALS office (level 6) for two days per week
to provide further support and guidance to carers
as they enter the hospital. This will also serve as
an information resource for our staff. The new
‘Carers Hub / Lounge’ is open from 10:30am –
3:30pm Tuesday and Thursday each week.

“

Fantastic care provided tonight for a family member
of mine from the A&E staff to the staff on the ward
you are amazing #NHS @PHNT_NHS

- @PUNC14Lauren

”
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Learning Disabilities Feedback
Our Learning Disabilities Team send out Friends and Family Test (FFT) packs to patients’ homes
following discharge. The pack consists of an easy-read FFT survey, short guide for the person
providing support and a short easy-read guide for the person with the learning disability. This
approach allows time to think about the questions and to complete the survey in an environment
where they may be more settled. By posting the surveys the Learning Disabilities Team are able to
accurately monitor the response rate which, at around 50%, is improving.

1. Our Performance Report

Hospital Guides
Derriford Hospital can seem very daunting to
navigate and our Hospital Guides and wayfinding
are key to helping people get to their destination
easily. A new Hospital Guide logo has been
designed and will feature on the new uniforms
ensuring our guides are easily visible to people
visiting the hospital. In addition a visible ‘Bus
Stop’ will be based alongside the new reception
desk and also link with the Welcome Centre to
ensure members of the public and patients have
multiple options for wayfinding and support when
they enter the hospital.

The Patient Council reports

This year, as a Patient Council we have worked to
optimise our good relationship with the Trust Board
to support and challenge them in the delivery of their
mission to put the patient at the centre of all they do.
Throughout 2016-17, the Council met monthly (six
times formally), to manage the ever increasing
agenda. The year also saw increasing contact from
clinicians asking for patient input to new projects and
initiatives. There were two meetings with the Chief
Executive and Chairman and more are planned for
next year.
Council members continue to be involved in a number
of activities including:
• Stakeholder feedback for the Success Regime
• PLACE assessments (patient view of the hospital
environment, catering, cleanliness etc.)
• Spot checks on wards and corridors, trying to
ensure that equipment is kept to one side in order to
help those with sight and orientation difficulties.
• Improving End of Life Care
• Discharge management
• Anti-smoking working group
• Patient/community support groups
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• Input to the hospital Quality Academy
• Contributing to the development of the new hospital
website
• A scheme to align individual Council members with
clinical disciplines, to work with matrons and other
senior staff to provide patient input and support for
new initiatives
• Raising the profile of the disabled patient,
especially with respect to accessibility issues
• Contributing to the Equal Opportunities Group
• Addressing environmental issues on the hospital
estate
• Enhancing patient involvement in their treatment
plans using new technology, liaising with clinical staff
at consultant level
A personal example of progress from Brian Martin, a
founder member of the Patient Council:
“My main connection with Derriford was as leader of
a group agitating for improved End of Life Care. It
was difficult to get the matter discussed in those early
days, but the ‘Dying Matters’ coalition performed
great work in encouraging the medical establishment
to accept dying as ‘everybody’s business’. We, as a
group, were agitating for specialised accommodation

– primarily a hospice ward – and, among my other
interests on the Patient Council, I naturally raised
the matter whenever I could. I didn’t think anyone
was listening and I was wrong.

Council members are drawn from various patient
support groups and are able to represent the patient
and carer viewpoint.
Jane Hitchings		
John Osborn
Chair			Vice-Chair

2. Our Accountability Report
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“The strongest aspect of the Council is its access
to senior staff and the Executive team. We should
‘speak truth to power’ and resist becoming a ‘rubber
stamp’. I made a statement on End of Life Care as
a member of the public five years ago at an open
Trust Board meeting which the Chairman assures
me he still remembers! Six months ago I was told
that the hospital had set aside twelve single rooms
specially furnished for End of Life Care with a
further six to become available. At a recent meeting
with Ann James and the Trust Board Chairman, I
was able to congratulate them and all those who

have worked so hard on this development. My part
was entirely peripheral but whatever effect I had
was enhanced by membership of the Council. Now
we need only to encourage the rest of the hospital
service to follow our shining example.”
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Plymouth Healthwatch reports

The core role of Healthwatch, as consumer
champions for health and social care, is to ensure that
the voice of the public is represented in the provision,
review and development of health and social care
in the city of Plymouth. We have worked hard, with
the support of management and staff from Plymouth
Hospitals, to ensure high levels of engagement with
patients and the public. More importantly we have
sought to ensure the feedback we have received,
both positive and negative, is received and acted
upon at all appropriate levels. The Healthwatch Team
holds regular drop-in sessions and collects, collates
and shares feedback received; we also attend the
regular Quality meetings and have planned meetings
with the Chief Executive and members of the senior
management team. Open and transparent dialogue
is a key to ensuring that patients and the public can
genuinely help to shape future services and that their
needs are at the heart of services.

At Healthwatch Plymouth we are very clear about
our role as the independent and objective facilitator
of consultation on proposed changes and this
has particularly been the case with the current
Sustainability and Transformation Plan initiative which
all areas and services in the U.K. are required to
address. Healthwatch is playing a full and active part
in facilitating public consultation and engagement
and this has been evident in the Acute Services
Review workstream which has prioritised the review
of stroke, maternity, paediatrics and neonatology
and emergency and urgent care services across
Devon. Healthwatch has facilitated and independently
chaired consultation and engagement meetings in
order to ensure the involvement of patients, carers,
communities and stakeholders and will continue to do
so in the future in order to support the involvement
of all those individuals and communities served
by Plymouth Hospitals and to ensure that services
delivered become truly people centred.
Nick Pennell
Chair, Plymouth Healthwatch
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Developing Tomorrow’s Treatments Today
We have seen a small increase in open active
research projects (518); however, this does not take
into account 55 studies in set up. Overall in 2016/17,
recruitment was 4,251 patients with 1,852 into
interventional trials, offering patients the opportunity
of early access to new and innovative treatments.
A further 2,399 patients were recruited to
observational studies helping inform the treatments
and pathways of the future. Plymouth Hospitals is
currently leading the south west peninsula with the
number of patients recruited to research projects in
the last six months and our research portfolio remains
a mix of commercial, academic and home-grown
research projects, with an increasing number of
home-grown projects in collaboration with Plymouth
University Peninsula School of Medicine and
Dentistry.

Collaborations

A key partner remains the Quintiles Prime Site
consortium, which now brings 48% of commercial
research to the peninsula and to support this portfolio
of studies further collaborations are being built with
our partner health care providers ensuring that
all patients in the locality have the opportunity to
participate in research.
The Lind Clinical Trial facility within Derriford Hospital
has provided much-needed outpatient capacity
within which research patients can be seen. This
relatively small clinical space provides a welcoming
environment for patients and has allowed a focused
and dedicated setting for research. Plymouth’s
reputation for delivering research is already attracting
applications from research active clinicians to work
with us, providing a research-rich environment to
ensure treatments and procedures are continually
reviewed and evaluated for best practice and then
refined in light of up-to-date findings. This makes sure
patients are offered the best possible care available.

Success in the Workforce

Our researchers have had considerable personal
success this year. Professor Adrian Taylor has been
awarded a £1.8m grant to deliver smoking reduction
for which Plymouth Hospitals will be the sponsor.
Professor Jenny Freeman was awarded £367,000
from the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR)
for BRIMs (Balance Right in Multiple Sclerosis). This
research project is now open and recruiting.
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Out and about

The centralisation of the R&D team to one open plan
office continues to prove an outstanding success,
engendering a team spirit, mentoring and buddying
for new staff and delivering an enthusiastic research
environment, where expertise and best practice
can be shared and cross covering generic support
provided where needed.
June saw the fifth Plymouth R&D Conference held at
the Post Graduate Medical Centre attended by 183
healthcare professionals and academic researchers
from across the south west, which explored the
journey of research from the perspective of patients.
The keynote speaker was patient and Chair of
patient-driven charity, Myeloma UK, Judy Dewinter,
who gave an account of patient involvement in
research, both from her perspective as a patient who
has benefited from past research and in her role as
Chair of Myeloma UK.

Innovation

Innovation continues to go from strength to strength
with a now well established pathway and a number
of products at various stages of development. The
group has also hosted several successful innovation
breakfasts inviting staff to attend and share their
ideas and see the projects progressed through the
pathway.
One such success this year has been the Patient
Bridge. The project was started initially in the
Specialist Workshop run by Andrea Carpenter who
was looking at safer ways of transferring patients
undergoing treatment with infusion pumps, syringe
drivers and other monitoring equipment, who were
left with the medical devices on or around them
when being transported creating an unsafe, untidy
environment. Andrea and Colin Putt developed the
original prototypes for a shelf platform that sits over
the patient’s legs, holding all the vital equipment
safely and out of the way of the patient. The Bridge
(pictured) also provides a platform to avoid cables
becoming tangled.

4,251

people were recruited to take part in research

Award-winning

1. Our Performance Report

Our researchers won national awards during
the year, with the SWARM team winning
Anaesthesia Team of the Year at the British
Medical Journal (BMJ) Awards 2016. R&D staff
won two National Institute for Health Research
(NIHR) awards: Mary Jo Ansom (pictured
below), a neurology research nurse was
recognised for her innovative patient and public
involvement work and trainee research assistant
practitioner, Hannah Gott (pictured right),
received award recognition for her contribution
to the successful recruitment of hospital patients
to a research study called ARREST. This
examines how best to treat a serious blood
infection.
Dr Camille Caroll was recognised for her work
by the UK Parkinson’s Excellence Network
awards. The awards, which took place in
March 2017 in Leicestershire, were the first of
their kind and recognised and celebrated the
outstanding services that make a difference to
people in the UK affected by Parkinson’s.
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The R&D teams will once again be at Yealmpton
and Totnes county shows to promote research
and encourage people to join the NIHR research
database to be contacted about future research
projects.

4. Appendices
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Incidents Involving Data

to the NHS Digital online reporting tool. These will, in
turn, be reported to the Department of Health and the
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). Level two
incidents are also reported to NEW Devon CCG via
STEIS by the Trust Risk and Incident team.

We see hundreds of thousands of patients each year
and have more than 6,500 staff working for us. Whilst
we have strict information management policies,
occasionally an incident occurs when information has
not been handled in the correct way. We continue to
improve our monitoring and reporting, therefore we are
more aware of incidents and each is fully investigated
and, where relevant, changes are made to any
controls in place.

In the 2016/17 financial year there have been two level
2 Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation, which
have been reported on the NHS Digital Information
Governance Incident Reporting Tool. Our staff worked
with a team from the ICO’s Good Practice Department
during July 2014 to further promote awareness of
Information Governance. We have continued to
actively raise Information Governance awareness and
encourage the reporting of incidents. In the interest
of openness and transparency the Trust has taken a
strict approach to the NHS Digital scoring guidance.

All incidents with an Information Governance element
are recorded on the Trust Incident Reporting System
(Datix). The Information Governance Team use the
NHS Digital checklist (republished May 2015) to score
Information Governance Incidents in conjunction with
the Caldicott Guardian and the Senior Information Risk
Owner. Those scored as two or above are uploaded
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust
Information Governance
Breach Type

Total

Lost/Found Paperwork

0

Lost/Stolen/Found Unencrypted Device

0

Lost/Stolen/Found Encrypted Device

0

Inappropriate Disclosure (error)

2

Non Secure Electronic/Paper Disposal

0

Unauthorised Access/Disclosure
(Knowingly)

0

Technical Security Failing

0

Inappropriate Storage of Paperwork

0

Failure to maintain Information Standards
(Electronic and Paperwork)

0

Non Secure Transfer (Electronic and
Paperwork)

0

Not Processed Fairly or for the Specified
Purpose

0

“

Level 2 Incidents

•
•

Identification was returned to the incorrect patient
Appointment letters were sent to a patient’s previous
address

Would like to say thank you to ED, Theatres and Shaugh
ward for looking after me very well when I was admitted
on Monday.. I'm a nurse at Derriford, so was dreading
being on the ' other side '... But you were all fab xx

- Tracey Noble
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”

2,605

staff members vaccinated against flu

Preventing Fraud

The Trust has contracted with Audit South West
to provide a Local Counter Fraud Specialist
(LCFS) who works with the Trust to help ensure
risks are mitigated and that the Trust systems
are resilient to fraud and corruption. The Audit
Committee receives and approves the Counter
Fraud Annual Work Plan and Annual Report,
monitors the adequacy of Counter Fraud
arrangements and reports on progress to the
Board of Directors.

During 2016/17 the LCFS dealt with seven
investigations which to date has resulted in
one resignation, one termination of an agency
worker with the matter reported to the Nursing
and Midwifery Council, three formal warnings
and two ongoing investigations.

2. Our Accountability Report
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We have a clear strategy for tackling fraud,
corruption and bribery which is documented in
the counter fraud policy. This strategy details
responsibilities and how to report suspicions of
fraud or bribery.

The risk-based programme of anti-fraud
work was delivered in 2016/17 addressing
all strategic areas of the national counter
fraud strategy. The LCFS has developed key
relationships across the Trust and this coupled
with work undertaken by the LCFS has resulted
in the development of an anti-fraud culture.

4. Appendices
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Patients with eye conditions caused by diabetes
are taking part in NHS light treatment research at
Derriford Hospital, which could mean the end of
uncomfortable injections and laser treatment.
CANDLE is a national trial and involves some of the
volunteers wearing a special mask that bathes their
retinas in a precise dose of a light as they sleep. If the
trial is successful it could bring significant benefits to
both patients and the NHS. More than 100 patients at
Derriford could benefit from this procedure every year
.
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust was the top South
West recruiter. Mr Vasant Raman, Consultant
Ophthalmogist and Diabetic Retina Specialist, is
leading the trial at the REI in Derriford Hospital.
He explained: “This research is aimed at patients
suffering from Diabetic Macular Oedema (DMO) due
to Diabetic Retinopathy.
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“Globally, diabetes is on the rise and DMO is now the
most common cause of registerable sight impairment
in the working-age group in the UK. Treatment is
currently available when DMO becomes clinically
significant at which point a patient can receive
injections or laser treatment. Both these options are
costly and cause significant burden to the patient,
their caregivers and the healthcare system.”
The Noctura 400 Light Mask is a mask worn over the
patient’s eyes each night as they sleep. The mask
contains light sources which bathe the patient’s
retina in a precise dose of a light through their closed
eyelids. Run from Ashford and St Peter’s Hospital,
CANDLE will involve 240 patients across the UK.
The patients are randomly allocated into either an
intervention arm (those wearing the Noctura 400 Light
Mask in conjunction with their routine injections) or a
standard arm (those receiving their injections only).
Each group is followed through 48 weeks of treatment
in order to find out if those in the treatment arm
required fewer injections, analyse the potential cost
savings to the NHS and assess the quality of life
improvements to the patients.

In 2012, we became a Major Trauma Centre
and our performance against this measure was
raised as a serious concern. Currently, we are
the best in the country for managing injuries
to the current standards, which is a significant
turnaround.
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Lt Col Christopher Taylor, Consultant Plastic
Surgeon, said: “Complex open fractures
always involve significant soft tissue injury, as
well as injury to the bone. The best outcomes
are therefore achieved when the respective
specialist expertise of both plastic surgeons
and orthopaedic surgeons are brought together
at the operating table.

4. Appendices

Department. Early splinting is vital to prevent
further damage and reduce pain.

2. Our Accountability Report

Our Peninsula Trauma Centre at Derriford
Hospital is the top in the country for treating
open fractures, according to figures released in
April 2016.
The Trauma Audit and Research Network
(TARN) report shows Plymouth Hospitals
NHS Trust delivers 70% of high energy open
fracture treatment within British Orthopaedic
Association Standards for Trauma. This
compares favourably to a national average of
44.6% and ahead of the other 25 Major Trauma
Centres. It is recognised that not all of these
injuries should be managed to these standards.
Lieutenant Colonel Scott Adams, Consultant
Orthopaedic Surgeon and Clinical Lead for the
Major Trauma Centre said: “This achievement
follows a lot of hard work from different
teams in our Trust, primarily plastics and
orthopaedics.”
Dr Anthony Kehoe, Emergency Medicine
Consultant, added: “Modern management of
these serious injuries starts in the prehospital
phase and then continues in the Emergency

“Ambulance service clinicians are encouraged
to bypass other hospitals to bring patients
straight to the Major Trauma Centre. Here they
can be met immediately by a multi-disciplinary
trauma team.”

“There has been a lot of hard work to ensuring
this approach and it is great to see the results
of this latest report reflecting this improvement
in care for our patients.”
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Emergency Preparedness

Events in Brussels, Nice, Paris and London are
sobering reminders that although terrorist attacks are
still very rare in the UK, we have to be prepared for all
eventualities.
The year started with implementing our own major
incident response to a much lesser incident but still
enabled the Trust to test its plans in response to a
train crash at Plymouth Railway station. The Trust
declared a ‘major incident’; in response to initial
anticipated casualty figures. Following efforts by the
ambulance service to discharge casualties at the
scene, only 13 casualties with predominantly minor
injuries presented for treatment. Whilst this was a
relatively easy number to manage, the response
proved a useful opportunity to test arrangements in
place. Having reviewed the incident response, the
Major Incident Plan was up-dated to reflect minor
changes to individual action cards.
The MTV Crashes event on Plymouth Hoe in 2015
impacted upon the Emergency Department with 34
people attending for assessment and/or treatment at
Derriford Hospital. To avoid similar impact in 2016,
enhanced security and alternative arrangements were
put in place at scene, with a Welfare Observation
Area provided at Derriford Hospital. As a result
only five people required Emergency Department
treatment and potential disruption to an already busy
department was minimised.
In September, the Trust participated in Exercise Short
Sermon, a multi-agency live exercise designated to
test both on-site and off-site plans, in the event of a
radiation leak from a submarine berthed at Devonport
Royal Dockyard. To facilitate communications and
realism, the Incident Co-ordination Centre was
opened at Derriford Hospital and staff attended the
Tactical Co-ordinating Group at Crownhill Police
station. Handover from ambulance to hospital staff
of an irradiated ‘casualty’ went smoothly but the
exercise did highlight issues regarding the issue
and distribution of potassium iodate tablets. A
multi-agency group is now revising the City-wide
distribution plans in the event of an actual incident.
Directors and Senior Managers also attended the
Strategic Leadership in a Crisis accredited course,
to help prepare them for their role during an incident
response.
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Public Health England facilitated Exercise Concerto
in November, to test the Peninsula Major Trauma
Network response to three simultaneous major
incidents, with all five acute hospitals in Devon and
Cornwall treating and transferring casualties using
the Emergo Train System. This exercise provided a
useful opportunity to inform the development of the
Major Trauma Network Escalation Plan,that would
be invoked to respond to and recover from incidents
where the number of major trauma casualties would
initially overwhelm local capacity.
Following events in Paris in 2015, further work
continues on a national and local basis, to strengthen
response arrangements in the event of a mass
casualty incident. Whilst a review of the health
response to the terrorist attack in London on 23rd
March 2017 is still ongoing, headline information has
been released relating to the clinical response to this
incident. This is being considered by the Emergency
Preparedness Resilience and Response Committee,
in order to strengthen local plans and response
arrangements.

Health and Safety

We have continued to improve our overall health and
safety management and performance in 2016/17.
This has been achieved by increased specialist
involvement in the assessment of workplace
activities. Greater focus has also been placed on
effective risk assessment and ensuring compliance
with national standards to ensure the safety of
patients, staff and visitors.
Specialist advisors and managers have worked
collaboratively with the support of the Trust’s Director
of Corporate Business, thus demonstrating the
Board’s genuine commitment to health and safety.
This has seen an improvement in the integration of
health and safety practice which is contributing to the
continued development of a positive safety culture.
This positive safety culture gives protection to staff
during their work activities and also to ensure the
safety of our patients and visitors. Every employee is
of course responsible for playing their own part and
their contribution to these improvements is a credit to
our staff.

6,894

members of staff
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How Environmentally Friendly are we?

We work to provide sustainable healthcare to
patients in a way which does not harm the local
environment. This year saw the Trust’s Environment
Group continue to grow and champion environmental
matters throughout the site. Made up of
representatives from staff, patients, local employers
and the public, the group has continued to promote
and enhance the internal and external environment
and challenge the Trust where it thinks projects don’t
take account of environmental issues and principles.
Enhancements to the Trust’s wildlife pond were
undertaken this year and a start on replacing the
weir also got underway. The current weir is leaking
to the extent that in periods of dry weather, the water
level drops considerably, leading to stress on the
local wildlife. The project to replace the weir will take
several weeks, but should last for the next 10 years.
Next year the Environment Group will continue to
enhance this area also trying to encourage the site
deer to stay at the back of the hospital, rather than
cross the site’s busy road and run the risk of having
accidents with vehicles.
The Trust’s Environment Group has worked with
Bug Life and Plymouth City Council to create a
Derriford Orchard on the site of the old hospital
50 Leading with excellence, caring with compassion

helipad. The project has seen the planting of 20
native species of fruit trees along with the sowing of
a wildflower meadow. This work is intended to be
supplemented with the planting of edible hedges such
as blackberries to create a welcoming environment
where staff, patients and visitors can sit peacefully
and help themselves to nature’s gift of fruit. The
scheme has been funded by Plymouth City Council
as part of their mitigation plans for the trees removed
in the bus interchange project, which has also seen
the replanting of trees including a new replacement
Monkey Puzzle tree across the hospital grounds.
This year also saw the Trust working with Indigo and
the Horticultural Department at Duchy College to
look at students designing gardens and planting in
a number of unused areas across the site including
some of the hospital’s internal lightwells. The
purpose of the project is to brighten up often dull
areas of the estate, creating interesting habitats that
are easy to maintain whilst also giving a big visual
improvement for staff, patients and visitors.
Our gas fired Combined Heat and Power Plant
continued to supply Derriford Hospital with over 60%
of its electricity and the Incinerator Heat Recovery
Unit saw 2,000 tonnes of waste turned into heat
which was supplied back to the hospital.
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Type

Amount Used

Usage Trend

Electricity

13,592,175 KWH

↓

Gas

55,987,961 KW

↓

Water

170,378 m3 (this includes water from the Trust’s bore hole)

↓
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We were delighted to announce on 23 December 2016, as a special
Christmas present for 10,000 children and families who use the service each
year, that our Gold Dust Appeal had reached its £100,000 target to refurbish
the children’s wards and corridors at Derriford Hospital.
The Gold Dust Appeal was launched in late 2015 and thanks to the
dedication and generosity of supporters, exceeded its target. Funds raised by the appeal will enable the creation
of a bright, exciting and welcoming area for children and young people at Derriford Hospital. It will transform
our children’s areas with colourful, themed areas that distract them from clinical procedures and provide greater
comfort and privacy for children and their families.
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At just two and a half years old, Leya Raper has spent most of her life on one of our children’s
wards. Since the launch of the appeal, Leya and her mum, Casey, have supported and raised over
£600. Casey said: “Leya is doing really well at the moment and we are so thankful to all the amazing
staff at Derriford Hospital.

“Without the children’s ward and the doctors, we wouldn’t have Leya! They kept our most precious
gift alive and I will never be able to thank them enough.”
Ann James, Chief Executive, said: “2016 has been an amazing year of fundraising for the Gold Dust
Appeal. Teams of people from across the city have gone the extra mile to raise important funds to
refurbish the children’s wards at Derriford Hospital.
“We’ve had the Superheroes Fun Run, abseiling from the Holiday Inn, Bake Offs and very generous
donations from local businesses. The efforts from our local communities, patients, their families, staff
and our partners have all been more than worthwhile.
“A big thank you to all who have helped with our fundraising – you are incredible and this, in turn, is
our gift to the city.”
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“We know better than anyone how important the Gold Dust Appeal is, so we are thrilled that it will
now become a reality and other families in a similar position will enjoy the new wards and corridors
they need, as quickly as possible.
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A Huge Thanks to our Supporters - Charitable Funds

Patients and their families often donate money as a ‘thank you’ for the care they receive in our hospital. We are
so grateful to them. We call these donations ‘charitable funds’. Most wards and departments have access to
charitable funds, which are held and spent locally by fund holders. Spending this money wisely can really make
a difference to patients and staff and to education and research opportunities. Staff who don’t have access to a
dedicated fund can apply to our general charitable fund, which is overseen by our Charitable Funds Committee.
There’s not space enough in this report to list all our charitable spending but below are some varied examples of
successful applications that the general fund has been delighted to support during 2016/17:
• £122,000 to upgrade rooms for our End of Life patients.
• £8,000 to improve the bathing facilities for patients on Brent ward.
• £8,920 to part-fund Palliative Care Chaplain post.
• £1,026 to part-fund two Medical Care Group governance events on patient safety.
• £16,000 on new equipment for practical obstetric multi-professional training.
• £3,456 to install three wall-mounted ultrasound monitors to improve the viewing ability of patients undergoing
this procedure.
• £78,297 to provide digital video conferencing equipment in Imaging Department.
• £741 for equipment to monitor ambient sound levels in the ward environment to support the quality of patients’
sleep. This work received national recognition.
• £2,303 to improve the environment in a room set aside for the bereaved.
• £1,676 to fund the redecoration of the patient environment in the Occupational Therapy department outpatient
areas and assessment kitchen.
• £1,170 to fund the purchase of a ‘play’ scanner for paediatric patients to help our young patients and their parents prepare for the real thing.
• £5,000 to fund the launch of the Trust’s Quality Academy to improve patient safety.
• £350 to send staff delegates to attend a conference on dementia, held jointly by the University of Plymouth and
the Plymouth Dementia Action Alliance.
• £1,500 to part-fund the redecoration of the relatives’ room on Torcross Ward and to provide a more dementia-friendly environment. Additional costs were met by the Ward’s own charitable fund.
• £3,540 to part-fund improvements to the Meldon Ward staff room.
• £12,490 to fund the purchase of two advanced life support manikins to support essential simulation training for
our multi-disciplinary teams.

“

YOU'VE DONE IT! Our @golddustappeal has reached its
£100,000 target! http://bit.ly/GoldDust100k

- @GoldDustAppeal
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Our Accountability Report
Our Board of Directors

The Board of Directors, led by the Chairman, sets the Trust’s strategy, its vision, values and culture. The Board
is accountable for the delivery of high quality, safe services to patients and is collectively accountable for the
organisation, its decisions and performance; it comprises voting and non-voting members.
The Trust’s Standing Orders set out the matters reserved to the Board and our Standing Financial Instructions
and Scheme of Reservation and Delegation define our financial decision making framework.
The Chief Executive is supported by a team of Executive
Directors, who together are responsible for the overall day to
day management of our operational services, our finances
and delivering the Board’s strategy.
Our strategic aims are summarised in the diagram.
In our 2016/17 Operating Plan, these strategic aims became
four overarching guiding principles for the Board to:
• Improve quality.
• Develop our workforce.
• Improve our financial position.
• Create a sustainable future
The Operating Plan set out core work streams to aid delivery:
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Members of the Board of Directors in
2016/17

The Health and Social Care Act 2008
(Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014
introduced a ‘fit and proper person’ test’ for
Directors of NHS organisations. The Trust
Board approved a local ‘fit and proper person’
test in May 2015 to enable the Trust to
demonstrate that it has the appropriate systems
and processes in place to ensure that all new
appointees to, and holders of, Director posts,
are, and continue to be, fit and proper persons.
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Non-Executive Directors

We have six Non-Executive Directors and two
Associate Non-Executive Directors on our
Board. Non-Executive Directors are appointed
by the NHS Improvement; Associate NonExecutive Directors are appointed by the Trust.
The following served on the Board during
2016/17:
V – voting Director
NV – non-voting Director

Giles Charnaud (V)
Giles stepped down as the Chief
Executive of Rowcroft House
Foundation Limited (Rowcroft
Hospice) in 2016. He was
appointed to our Board on 25
September 2016 for four years.
Having worked previously for the National Blood
Service and South Devon Healthcare NHS
Trust, Giles brings considerable experience
within the charity sector at leadership and board
level and at a senior management operational
level within the NHS. Giles has declared no
interests.
Professor Jacky Hayden, CBE (V)
Jacky brings to the Board a strong track record
of medical leadership, both as a general
practitioner and as a medical educator. With
a clinical background in general practice for
more than 30 years, she was the first general
practitioner to be appointed as Postgraduate
Dean in England and the first female doctor to
be appointed as the Regional Adviser in General
Practice. Jacky was awarded her CBE in 2013,
the same year she was named as one of the
Health Service Journal’s Top 50 Inspirational
Women. Jacky was appointed on 3 October
2017 for four years.
Declarations of interests:
• Member of the Council of the Academy of
Medical Educators.
• Member of the Council of the Faculty of
Medical Leadership and Management.
• Member of the Medical Practitioner Tribunal
Service Committee.
• Professor of Postgraduate Medical Education
University of Manchester.
• Visiting Professor Lancaster University.
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Richard Crompton, Chairman (V)
Richard was appointed in August
2012 for four years and was reappointed for a further two years
on 1 August 2016. A former Chief
Constable of Lincolnshire Police,
Richard also served with the Metropolitan Police
and former Devon & Cornwall Constabulary.
Partnership working has been a constant theme
throughout Richard’s career and he has been
involved in numerous projects with Health
Service organisations aimed at improving
services, particularly for the most vulnerable.

• Independent Chairman, Somerset
Safeguarding Adults Board.
• Independent Chairman of the Safeguarding
Panel for Dimensions UK, a national provider of
a range of services for the learning disabled and
autistic.
• Independent Chairman, Wiltshire Safeguarding
Adults Board.
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Board members’ details, together with
declarations of their relevant interests and
Committee membership, are detailed on the
following pages. Directors must comply with
the Trust’s Standards of Business Conduct and
are required to declare any interests that are
relevant and material on appointment or which
may arise during the course of their term of
office. A register of Board members’ interests
is maintained by the Board Secretary and is
included with every set of public Trust Board
papers.

Declarations of interests:

Professor Elizabeth Kay, MBE (NV)
Foundation Dean of the Peninsula
Dental School, Liz was appointed
Associate Non-Executive Director on 5
September 2016 for a four year term.
She is a committed clinician and teacher
and also a Public Health Academic Consultant
working with Public Health England, focusing on the
delivery of appropriate care to those who find clinical
care particularly challenging. Bringing with her
extensive health care experience through her roles on
the Board of (Shadow) Governors for Royal Cornwall
Hospitals Trust, Plymouth University’s Athena Swan
and Culture, Diversity and Inclusion Committees, Liz
sits on the Editorial Boards of three journals, including
the British Dental Journal and peer-review papers
for a large number of other academic publications. In
addition, she authors textbooks in collaboration with
colleagues from around the world. Liz was awarded
her MBE in 2017 for services to dental education.
Declarations of interests:
• Director and Trustee of Oral Health Foundation
Charity (President Elect 2017).
• Chair of management board of research funding
committee of the British Dental Association.
• Advisory Board Oasis Healthcare.
• NICE Quality Standards Committee for Oral Health
Promotion Care Homes and Hospitals.
• British Dental Association Health and Sciences
Committee member.
Mike Leece, OBE (V)
Mike was appointed to the Board in June
2015 for a two year term. Mike operates
his own consultancy business and has
held a number of Non-Executive Director
appointments in the public and private
sectors. Prior to this, he was the Chief Executive of
the National Marine Aquarium in Plymouth, following
nine years as a Chief Executive Officer for an
international defence contractor.
Declaration of interests:
• None
Professor Terence Lewis (V)
Terence was formerly a cardiothoracic
surgeon at Derriford Hospital and led
the establishment of the South West
Cardiothoracic Centre. He was formerly
the Trust’s Medical Director, retiring in
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2008. Terence’s four year term of office concluded
in September 2016. At the time he stood down from
the Board Terence’s declared interests were:
• Commissioned by Monitor to undertake an
independent review of health service reconfiguration
in an area not associated with Plymouth Hospitals
NHS Trust or the clinical services the Trust provides
• Honorary Life President, Heartswell South West
• Chairman, Plymouth University Peninsula Schools
of Medicine and Dentistry Medical School Board
• President, Plymouth Heartbeat
• House of Hope, Nepal – family orphanage
• Son-in-law and daughter were Chief Executive/
Chairman of a number of companies providing home
care across Devon, including Plymouth
Elizabeth Raikes (V)
A chartered accountant by profession,
Elizabeth was a Chief Executive in the
public sector for twelve years, most
recently with Torbay Council, before her
appointment to this Trust in September
2012. She brings considerable experience of
close and successful partnership working with
commissioners, community health and social care
colleagues and the acute sector in Torbay. Elizabeth
was re-appointed for a further two year term on 25
September 2016.
Declarations of interests:
• None
Estelle Thistleton (V)
Former Chair of Cardiff and District
NHS Trust, Estelle is now a specialist
in leadership development, working
alongside leaders from most UK public
sectors, providing consultation in
personal and organisational development. Estelle
began her NHS career as a nurse and has held
various nursing appointments in England and Wales,
including Assistant Director of Nursing in Gwent.
She has also held a number of voluntary Chair and
Trustee appointments in educational, children’s and
arts charities.
Declarations of interests:
• Director Maine Partnership Ltd, a consultancy in
leadership development that does business with the
NHS.

Declarations of interests:
•Governor and member of Finance Committee
of Plymouth University
•Chairman and Director of Fluvial Innovations
Ltd
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Dr Mike Williams (V)
Mike’s four year term of office
concluded on 24 September
2016. Formerly an NHS Chief
Executive before retiring in 2008,
Mike became a Senior Research
Fellow with the University of Exeter Business
School and has a PhD in organisational factors
influencing patient safety. Mike has been
a Trustee of a number of national charities,
including the Royal British Legion.
At the time Mike stood down from the Board, he
declared the following interests:

The Chief Executive is appointed by the
Chairman of the Trust and the Chief Executive
appoints the members of her Executive team.
All our Executive Directors are on permanent
contracts.
Ann James, Chief Executive
(V)
Ann took up her appointment as
Chief Executive in September
2012. As former cluster Chief
Executive of NHS Devon,
Plymouth and Torbay, her commitment to
clinical engagement supported the successful
development of two clinical commissioning
groups, recognised at the time as best practice
for their collaborative approach. Ann led one of
the country’s largest primary care trusts as Chief
Executive of NHS Devon, between January
2010 and June 2011, following more than three
years as Chief Executive at Cornwall and Isles
of Scilly Primary Care Trust.
Declarations of interests:
• Leadership Fellow, St George’s House,
Windsor Castle.
•Interim Chair, South West Leadership
Academy.
• Health and Medical Champion, Chamber of
Commerce.
• Member, One Plymouth.
• Chair, Health Education SW Membership
Council.
• Acute Sector Representative, Health Education
SW Board.
• Chair, National Institute for Health Research
Comprehensive Local Research Network
Partnership Group.
• Member, Plymouth Growth Board, Champion
for People, Communities and Institutions.
• Board Member representing Acute Sector,
NHS Leadership SW.
• Governor, Devonport High School for Girls.
• Personal association with managing director of
Langage Farm, a company with which Plymouth
Hospitals NHS Trust has a commercial
relationship. I have no influence over contracts
with Langage Farm.
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• Daughter-in-law worked for NEW Devon CCG
as a Communications Manager.
• Son was a Director of SeeData, a software
and web site company that provides services to
the NHS including PHNT.
• Non-Executive Director (unpaid) See Data Ltd.
• Daughter worked for Virgin Health in
Teignmouth as a School Nurse.
• Son-in-law worked for the NHS as a Senior
Physiotherapist based in Crediton.
• Self-Supporting Priest in the Diocese of Exeter.
• Trustee, Exeter Network Church.

Executive Directors
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Henry Warren (NV)
Appointed as an Associate
Non-Executive Director in April
2013, Henry brings significant
commercial and financial
knowledge and experience to
the Board, gained over a number of years in
public and private practice. A former partner
in Deloitte’s, more recently Henry became
involved with a portfolio of businesses, both
as an investor and Non-Executive Director.
These businesses are primarily concerned with
developing problem-solving technology, such as
the provision of renewable energy. Henry was
re-appointed for a further two year term on 22
April 2017.

Kevin Baber, Director of Strategic
Development (V)
Kevin was appointed in April 2013 as
Chief Operating Officer. Prior to joining
the Trust Kevin was Chief Executive
of Peninsula Community Health in
Plymouth. Originally qualifying as a nurse in 1986,
Kevin has three decades of healthcare experience
and was previously Managing Director of Community
Health Services for NHS Cornwall and Isles of
Scilly. Kevin brings extensive experience in private
healthcare, having been General Manager at the
Bournemouth Nuffield Hospital, a large independent
hospital in the Nuffield Health Group. In January
2017 Kevin took on a revised portfolio to support the
wider system work which the Trust is increasingly
involved in contributing to or leading and assumed the
title Director of Strategic Development.

Declarations of interests:

Declarations of interests:

Declarations of interests:

• None

• Director, Hughes Diagnostics.
• Designated Member with Plymouth Radiology
Consultants LLP.

Lee Budge, Director of Corporate
Business (NV)
With a background in public finance
and audit, Lee joined us from the
Audit Commission in April 2011 at the
conclusion of a period of secondment
to review our governance arrangements. Lee leads
on Board risk and assurance, regulatory compliance,
health and safety, information governance and
corporate business.
Declarations of interests:
• Undertakes charitable activities for the benefit of St
Luke’s Hospice.
Greg Dix, Chief Nurse Operating
Officer (V)
Greg was appointed in February 2013.
With nursing experience in the UK and
abroad, Greg has also worked as a
clinical nurse lecturer in Wales. In 2010
he became the Director of Nursing and Governance
at Taunton and Somerset NHS Foundation Trust.
From 10 October 2016 Greg took on the additional
portfolio of Chief Operating Officer and continues to
manage both.
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• Specialist advisor with the Care Quality
Commission.
• Associate Professor in Nurse Leadership, Faculty of
Health and Human Sciences, Plymouth University.
Phil Hughes, Medical Director (V)
Phil joined the Trust as a consultant
in 1993, having trained in London and
Manchester; he is a senior examiner
for The Royal College of Radiologists
and an Executive Member of the British
Society of Skeletal Radiologists. Phil has been
the Trust’s Clinical Director for Imaging, Associate
Director of Planning and Assistant Medical Director.
After a period as Interim Medical Director, Phil was
appointed Medical Director in November 2013.

Steven Keith (NV)
Steven joined the Board in February
2016 as Director of People. Steven
is the Trust's executive lead for staff
engagement, our organisational
development and employment
strategies, and workforce planning. Steven is also
responsible for providing professional HR & OD
advice and support to the Trust Board. Steven works
closely with other Directors, senior managers and
clinicians to ensure that we have the right staff in the
right place, with the right skills to support the delivery
of high quality care to our patients.
Declarations of interests:
• Member of Plymouth Employment and Skills Board
as a representative of the Health sector.
Neil Kemsley (V)
Neil joined Plymouth Hospitals
NHS Trust as Director of Finance in
November 2015. After graduating
through the NHS South West Finance
training scheme in 1994, Neil
progressed through the finance ranks at United
Bristol Healthcare Trust and University College
London Hospitals before becoming Deputy Director
of Finance at King's College Hospitals and then

Declaration of interests:
• Wife is a Project Accountant at Sirona Care
and Health, a community interest company
providing services in the Bath, Wiltshire, Bristol
areas.
Phill Mantay, Director of
Transformation (NV)
Previously Acting Director of
Finance between September
and November 2015, Phill joined
the Board from January 2016 as
Director of Transformation.
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Declarations of interests: None

The Board met in public on six occasions during
the year. Agendas, papers and declarations of
interest are published on the Trust’s website.
The Board also holds confidential meetings from
which the public are excluded for reasons of
commercial or personnel-related sensitivity.

Non-Executive Directors Meetings
Richard Crompton, Chairman

6 of 6

Giles Charnaud

3 of 4

Jacky Hayden

3 of 3

Liz Kay

3 of 4

Mike Leece

6 of 6

Terence Lewis

2 of 2

Elizabeth Raikes

5 of 6

Estelle Thistleton

4 of 4

Henry Warren

5 of 6

Mike Williams

1 of 2

Executive Directors

Meetings

Ann James

6 of 6

Kevin Baber

6 of 6

Lee Budge

6 of 6

Greg Dix

6 of 6

Phil Hughes

5 of 6

Steven Keith

4 of 6

Neil Kemsley

5 of 6

Phill Mantay

3 of 6

Nick Thomas

5 of 6
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Nick Thomas, Director of Site
Services and Planning (NV)
Nick joined the NHS in 1984,
became a member of the
Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy in 1988
and was subsequently an examiner for that
organisation for a number of years. Nick joined
the Trust in 1994 as Deputy Director of Finance
and has held Director portfolios for IM&T and
now Planning and Site Services. He joined the
Board in October 2013. Nick was appointed
Deputy Chief Executive in October 2015.

Directors’ attendance at Public Board
Meetings 2016/17
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Portsmouth Hospitals where he later became
Director of Finance and Investment. In 2009,
after relocating back to the South West, Neil
became Director of Finance, Contracting and
Performance in NHS Devon and then for the
PCT cluster for Devon, Plymouth and Torbay.
From 2013 to 2015 he worked for NHS
England as Finance Director originally covering
Bristol, North Somerset, Somerset and South
Gloucestershire and then, from July 2014, from
South Gloucestershire to the Isles of Scilly.

Declarations of interests:
• Chairman of Plymouth Access to Housing
• Non-Executive Director, Plymouth Science
Park Ltd
Professor Rob Sneyd, Dean of the Plymouth
University Peninsula School of Medicine and
Dentistry, attends our Board meetings by
invitation.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17 61

Board evaluation and effectiveness

The Board held development sessions during
2016/17 which focused on ensuring that it had a
good understanding of the environment in which it
operates. In 2017/18, a Board Development Plan has
been prepared which seeks to:
• Maximise the Board’s influence through formal and
informal engagement to build understanding and
relationships with other key stakeholders.
• Enhance the Board’s knowledge through a series of
‘master-classes’ on subjects relevant to our role and
responsibilities.
• Maintain the Board’s visibility by adopting a
personable and interactive approach to leadership
through effective engagement with staff and patients.
• Develop the Board’s skills by using external
facilitation to objectively review and observe our
performance and optimise our effectiveness as a
team.
The Board Development Plan will be reviewed
regularly throughout the course of the year.

Standing Committees of the Board

Our Board has seven Committees, all of which are
chaired by Non-Executive Directors. They are:
• Audit
• Remuneration
• Safety & Quality
• Finance & Investment
• Human Resources & Organisational Development
• Research
• Charitable Funds
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee ensures that an effective
system of internal controls is maintained. It provides
independent review and scrutiny of the Trust’s
objectives and of the risks and controls set out in the
Board Assurance Framework. The core membership
of the Audit Committee is Elizabeth Raikes, Jacky
Hayden, Mike Leece and Henry Warren. Jacky, Mike
and Henry also chair other Committees of the Board.
Other Non-Executive Directors, with the exception of
the Chairman, receive papers and may attend if they
wish. It met on six occasions during the year and is
chaired by Elizabeth Raikes. The Directors of Finance
and Corporate Business regularly attend and all other
members of the Executive team routinely receive
papers and attend when the agenda demands.
Members’ attendance at Audit Committee meetings
during 2016/17:
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Non-Executive Directors

Meetings

Elizabeth Raikes, Chair

6 of 6

Jacky Hayden

2 of 3

Liz Kay

1 of 3

Mike Leece

6 of 6

Henry Warren

5 of 6

Mike Williams

2 of 3

Remuneration Committee
The Committee oversees the performance and
remuneration of the Executive team. All our NonExecutive Directors are members of the Committee.
It is chaired by Elizabeth Raikes. It met three times
during 2016/17; in September 2016, to consider the
Chairman’s appraisal of the Chief Executive and the
Chief Executive’s appraisals of her Executive team for
2015/16 and to approve the objectives of all members
of the Executive team for 2016/2017. It also met
in January and March 2017 to review Executive
portfolios and objectives for 2017/18, Executive
Director remuneration and guidance from the NHS
Improvement of Very Senior Managers appointments
and pay.
Members’ attendance at Remuneration Committee
meetings during 2016/17 was:

Non-Executive Directors

Meetings

Elizabeth Raikes, Chair

3 of 3

Giles Charnaud

2 of 3

Richard Crompton

3 of 3

Jacky Hayden

2 of 2

Liz Kay

2 of 3

Mike Leece

3 of 3

Estelle Thistleton

3 of 3

Henry Warren

3 of 3

Finance and Investment Committee
This Committee oversees the delivery of the Trust’s
financial plans, ensures action is taken to address
key financial risks and scrutinizes major businesses
cases prior to review by the Trust Board. Henry
Warren is the Committee’s Chairman. Other NonExecutive members are Giles Charnaud, Mike Leece
and Elizabeth Raikes. The Finance and Investment
Committee met every month in 2016/17, with the
exception of November, with clinical representation
provided by the Medical Director and/or the Director
of Nursing. Core members’ attendance at Finance
and Investment Committee meetings during 2016/17
was:

Core Member

Meetings

Core Member

Meetings

11 of 11

Mike Leece, Chair

6 of 6

Lee Budge

7 of 11

Lee Budge

4 of 6

Giles Charnaud

4 of 4

Steven Keith

6 of 6

Mike Leece

9 of 11

Estelle Thisleton

2 of 3

Neil Kemsley

11 of 11

Mike Williams

1 of 3

Elizabeth Raikes

7 of 11

Nick Thomas

10 of 11

Safety & Quality Committee
This Committee is responsible for overseeing
delivery of the Trust’s quality plans and providing
assurance to the Board on the key quality risks. It
met six times in 2016/17. The Committee was
chaired by Mike Williams until he stepped down
from the Board, then from January 2017 by Jacky
Hayden. Its core membership is the Nursing
and Medical Directors, the Chief Operating
Officer and the Director of Corporate Business.
Core members’ attendance at Safety & Quality
Committee meetings during 2016/7 was:

Core Member

Meetings
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Mike Williams, Chair until August 3 of 3
2016
Jacky Hayden, Chair from
January 2017

1 of 1

Kevin Baber

4 of 6

Lee Budge

6 of 6

Giles Charnaud

3 of 3

Greg Dix

5 of 6

Phil Hughes

3 of 6

Phill Mantay

1 of 6

Core members’ attendance at Human Resources &
Organisational Development Committee meetings
during 2016/7 was:

Charitable Funds Committee
The Plymouth Hospitals General Charity was
registered with the Charity Commissioners for
England and Wales on 27 July 1995 under a Model
Declaration of Trust for an NHS umbrella charity
where the Trust acts as sole corporate trustee.
In line with good practice, the corporate trustee
appointed the Charitable Funds Management
Committee to oversee the management,
investment and disbursement of funds within the
regulations provided by the Charity Commission
and to ensure statutory compliance. The
Charitable Funds Management Committee reports
regularly to the corporate trustee. During 2016/17
the corporate trustee approved the charity’s overall
strategy 2016 to 2020 and a revised investment
strategy based on the wider strategy’s aims. The
Committee meets six times a year. It has had
no Non-Executive Chair between June 2015
and January 2017. During this period, with the
agreement of the corporate trustee, the Committee
was chaired by the Associate Director of Finance.
Giles Charnaud became Chair of the Committee in
February 2017.

Foundation Trust

The Trust withdrew from a Foundation Trust
application process in 2009, after elections to
the Council of Governors had taken place. Our
governors met as a shadow Council of Governors
every quarter between 2009 and 2015, with
formal agendas and minutes. Since 2015 shadow
governors have met informally, each quarter, with
the Trust Chairman.
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Human Resources and Organisational
Development Committee
This Committee oversees delivery of the Trust’s
people objectives, addresses our key people risks,
delivery of our People Strategy and is responsible
for HR policy scrutiny and approval. It is chaired
by Mike Leece. Estelle Thistleton, Lee Budge
and Steven Keith are core members, with clinical
representation from a range of attendees. It
reviewed its membership in February 2016, with
changes to attendees taking effect from April 2017.
It met six times in 2016/176.

Research Committee
The Trust has formalised its Research Committee
as a Committee of the Trust Board and agreed its
Terms of Reference. Its primary aim is to develop
and oversee the implementation of the Trust’s
strategy for research, teaching and innovation,
including the identification and management of
associated risks. This new Committee is chaired
by Liz Kay and includes membership drawn from
the Executive team and the University of Plymouth;
it met for the first time under Liz’s chairmanship in
January 2017.
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Henry Warren, Chairman

Governance Statement
Scope of responsibility

The Board is responsible for internal control.
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the organisation’s
policies, aims and objectives. I also have
responsibility for safeguarding public funds and
the organisation’s assets for which I am personally
responsible as set out in the Accountable Officer
Memorandum.

Governance framework of the Organisation
Board Composition
Board composition
The Trust has had a fully constituted Board for
2016/17. There were, however, some changes
following the appointment of a number of new NonExecutive Directors and revisions to the portfolio of
some Executive Directors.
Board committee structure
The committees of the Trust Board comprise:
• Audit.
• Remuneration.
• Safety & Quality.
• Finance & Investment.
• Human Resources & Organisational Development.
• Research
• Charitable Funds.
The Terms of Reference for each committee are
reviewed and approved by the Trust Board on a
regular basis. Each committee is chaired by a NonExecutive Director. Committee attendance for each
Non-Executive and Executive Director is summarised
in the Trust’s Annual Report.

• Maintain the Board’s visibility by adopting a
personable and interactive approach to leadership
through effective engagement with staff and patients.
• Develop the Board’s skills by using external
facilitation to objectively review and observe our
performance and optimise our effectiveness as a
team.
The Board Development Plan will be reviewed
regularly throughout the course of the year.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code

Corporate governance is the way in which an
organisation is directed, controlled and led. It
defines relationships and the delegation of roles
and responsibilities of those who work within the
organisation, determines the rules and procedures
through which the organisation’s strategic objectives
are set, and provides the means of attaining those
strategic objectives and monitoring performance.
Most importantly, it defines where accountability lies
throughout the organisation. The Board’s activities are
based on the principles of good corporate governance
and nationally publicised best practice.

Risk assessment

The Trust’s current strategy is set out in ‘At the Heart
of Health in the Peninsula’ which was published
in May 2013. In 2016/17, the Trust produced an
Operating Plan which identified four overarching
aims, as summarised in the following diagram.

Board performance

The Board held regular development sessions
throughout 2016/17 which focused on ensuring that
it had a good understanding of the environment
in which we are working. In 2017/18, a Board
Development Plan has been prepared to support us
in realising our ambition of being a high performing
and compassionate Board. More specifically it seeks
to:
• Maximise the Board’s influence through formal
and informal engagement to build understanding and
relationships with other key stakeholders.
• Enhance the Board’s knowledge through a series
of ‘master-classes’ on subjects relevant to our role
and responsibilities.
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Key risks to the achievement of our objectives
Key risks to the achievement of our objectives have
been regularly reviewed and updated throughout the
year. The key areas of focus have included:
Improve quality
• National constitutional standards
• Operational resilience
• Elective referrals
• Medical and nurse staffing

Develop our workforce
• Workforce planning
• Recruitment & retention
• Agency price cap

Create a sustainable future
• System transformation.
• Medical and nursing education.
Progress in mitigating these risks has been
reviewed by the Trust Board and its committees
throughout the year. This process is described
further under the section titled ‘The risk and
control framework’.

Data security
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The Trust’s information risk management
process is led by the Senior Information Risk
Owner (SIRO). Information governance related
incidents are recorded on the Trust’s DATIX
system. A national Department of Health scoring
system is used to categorise the severity of the
incident – Level 0 and Level 1 incidents are
reviewed using local procedures whilst Level 2
(the most severe) incidents are reported through
the national IG Toolkit and shared with the
Information Commissioner’s Office.

The information governance team reviews all
reported incidents, works to promote good
practice and ensures that we identify and act
on lessons learned from these incidents. Level
2 incidents are investigated using Root Cause
Analysis methodology.

Overall system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to
manage risk to a reasonable level rather than
to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies,
aims and objectives; it can therefore only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
of effectiveness. It involves an ongoing process
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to
the achievement of the Trust’s objectives, to
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being
realised and the impact should they be realised,
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
Corporate governance framework
The Trust Board is supported by its subcommittees which review in more depth the
risks and assurances associated with different
aspects of the Trust’s responsibilities. These
are the Safety & Quality Committee, the Human
Resources & Organisational Development
Committee and the Finance & Investment
Committee.
Clinical leadership remains a central part of our
governance architecture as it helps us remain
focused on our primary goal of delivering
high quality care. With this in mind, we have
organised the Trust into a series of business
units known as ‘Service Lines’. We have also
established four ‘Care Groups’ each of which is
headed by a Clinical Director who is a member
of the Trust Management Executive. Each
Service Line is aligned to a Care Group.
are being maintained.
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NHS England’s Serious Incident Framework
was updated in March 2015 and requires NHS
organisations to report level 2 IG incidents
on the NHS serious incident management
system, STEIS, as well as the IG Toolkit.
STEIS incidents are onward reported to NEW
Devon CCG. The Trust IG team ensure that
Root Cause Analysis methodology is used to
investigate these incidents.

The risk and control framework
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Improve our financial position
• Financial sustainability
• Budget delivery
• Cash management
• Long-term capital investment

There were two Serious Incidents Requiring
Investigation (SIRIs) in 2016/17. These involved
a patient’s documents being sent to another
patient’s spouse and a patient’s appointment
letters being sent to an old address. The
Information Governance team has completed
a root cause analysis investigation in both
incidents which occurred as a result of human
error. The team continues to play a proactive
role in raising awareness and promoting best
practice in the handling of sensitive patient
information by reminding staff of the importance
of adopting high information governance
standards.

Board Assurance Framework

The Trust has a ‘Risk Management Framework’
which has been approved by the Trust Board. The
Framework sets out the key responsibilities for the
management of risk and seeks to ensure that the
risks to the achievement of the Trust’s objectives is
understood, reported and appropriately mitigated.
The Board Assurance Framework (BAF) is the
key strategic tool for the management of risk and
assurance. The Framework enables the Board
to demonstrate how it has identified and met its
assurance needs in relation to the delivery of the
Trust’s objectives.
The BAF includes:
• A description of identified risks and potential
consequences together with the source of the risk.
• The Board risk owner and the relevant ‘Assurance
Group’.
• Arrangements or controls in place to oversee and
mitigate risk.
• Current evidence to substantiate whether or not the
risk is being effectively managed and/or mitigated.
• Identified gaps in processes and/or outcomes
required to mitigate the risk and an ‘assurance rating’.
• Further action commissioned by the Assurance
Group.
Furthermore:
• Actions required to mitigate risks or improve the
level of assurance are identified and incorporated
within the forward work programme of the relevant
committee.
• The Board and its committees review the
framework on a monthly basis to ensure that key risks
are identified and seek assurance that appropriate
mitigating actions are being taken.
• The Audit Committee reviews aspects of the
assurance framework on a regular basis to satisfy
itself that appropriate systems of control are being
maintained.
• Serious or significant risks are added to the Board
Assurance Framework and actions to mitigate these
risks are monitored at the relevant level of the Trust.

As part of its role the CQC is required to monitor the
quality of services provided across the NHS and to
take action where standards fall short of the essential
standards.
Their assessment of quality is based on a range of
diverse sources of external information about each
Trust which is regularly updated and reviewed. This is
in addition to their own observations during periodic,
planned and unannounced inspections.
No enforcement action was taken against the Trust
during 2016/17 and the Trust was not the subject of
a responsive inspection. The Trust was, however, the
subject of a planned CQC inspection in July-August
2016 as a follow up to the comprehensive inspection
that was carried out in April 2015.
During the previous inspection we were rated
as ‘Requires Improvement’ overall. The follow
up inspection therefore focussed on those areas
rated previously as ‘Requires Improvement’ and
‘Inadequate’. The CQC also inspected the Well Led
domain at Trust level. The CQC’s Quality Report was
published in November 2016.
Whilst we have again been rated as ‘Requires
Improvement’ overall for our services, the report
clearly demonstrates significant improvements across
the core services. The CQC have aggregated the
ratings from the previous inspection and given new
overall ratings for each core service. Inspectors have
reported a marked improvement and there are no
more ‘Inadequate’ ratings. Our rating for each of the
five domains assessed by the CQC is shown below:

Essential standards of quality and safety

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the
organisation which regulates and inspects health and
social care services in England. All NHS hospitals
are required to be registered with the CQC in order
to provide services and are required to maintain
specified essential standards of quality and safety in
order to retain their registration.
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We were the first trust in the south west to be
awarded Outstanding for Caring and we have
retained this rating. This rating puts our Trust in an
elite group of NHS trusts in the country to be awarded
‘Outstanding’ in this category.

showing active support for their team’s health
and wellbeing. This is also supported by staff
feeling an improved sense of being valued
and recognised by their managers and the
organisation. Whilst acknowledging there is still
much work to do, it is an encouraging direction of
travel.

The report recognises many areas of outstanding
practice including “an outstanding response from
the critical care teams and the hospital trust to
areas of concern raised in the previous report”.

Quality governance

The Quality Report details a number of
Requirement Notices. A Requirement Notice is
issued where the CQC assess:
• The provider is acting in breach of the
regulations.
• The impact on people using the service is not
immediately significant.
• The provider should be able to improve its
standards within a reasonable timeframe.
• The provider has no history of poor
performance that gives rise to wider concerns.
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The action plan designed to address the
Requirement Notices is in the process of
being implemented. Monthly updates on the
implementation of our actions and ongoing
programmes of work to address the issues raised
by the CQC have been provided to the CQC,
NEW Devon Clinical Commissioning Group and
NHS Improvement.

Staff Survey

The 2016 NHS staff survey continues to show
encouraging improvement, with 86% of questions
within the survey improving on last year
(building on last year’s 68% improvement). This
improvement, when compared nationally, has
moved the Trust into the top 20% of acute trusts
for 3 of the 32 key findings, the first time the Trust
has featured in the top 20% since 2012.
There is an encouraging narrative emerging from
the data which describes the cultural journey
of the organisation. Staff are reporting higher
levels of support from their managers who are

• A weekly quality governance meeting led by
key directors to review key governance events.
• A Quality Assurance Committee to review
compliance across a range of governance
themes.
• A Quality Improvement Committee to oversee
delivery of the Trust’s quality improvement
priorities.
• Oversight of the Trust’s quality governance
arrangements by the Safety & Quality Committee.
• Monthly reports to the Trust Board showing the
Trust’s performance across a wide-range of safety
and quality metrics.
A detailed review of quality governance
arrangements was undertaken by the Director
of Corporate Business in 2013/14. The
recommendations from this review have now been
implemented but we continue to make progress
in developing the Trust’s quality governance
arrangements. More specifically, in 2016/17 we
have:
• Introduced a Reducing Errors and Achieving
Change Together (REACT) bulletin to share
learning gathered from SIRI investigations.
• Firmly embedded the role of Quality Managers
within the Surgery and Medicine Care Groups.
• Established a Clinical Effectiveness Group
to oversee the introduction of new devices and
procedures.
• Improved the rigour of, and attention to, risk
management practices through the establishment
of a Risk Management Review Group (RMRG).
• Re-launched our Quality Academy to provide
mentoring, coaching and resources to promote
quality improvement throughout the Trust.
We will continue to develop our quality
governance arrangements throughout 2017/18.
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The Trust continues to be fully registered with the
CQC across all of its locations without conditions
and continues to monitor compliance across all of
the fundamental standards. We are on a journey
of continuous improvement and we continue to
monitor, review and constantly improve the quality
of care across the services that we provide.

The Francis, Keogh and Berwick Reports
reinforced the critical importance of maintaining
effective quality governance arrangements. The
Trust’s current quality arrangements include:
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Of the 18 domains rated as ‘Requires
Improvement’ or ‘Inadequate’ for Derriford
Hospital in 2015 we have improved in 13. Of
particular note is the dramatic improvement in
Outpatients and Diagnostic Imaging. For Mount
Gould Hospital we improved in the Safe Care
domain from ‘Requires Improvement’ to ‘Good’.

Quality account
The Trust is required to publish an annual Quality
Account. This is reviewed by the Trust Board and
the Safety & Quality Committee to ensure that it
represents a balanced view and that there are
appropriate controls in place to ensure the accuracy
of data contained within it. Independent assurance on
the Trust’s 2016/17 Quality Account will be provided
by the Trust’s external auditors.
Data quality
The Trust has continued to adopt a pro-active
approach to data quality in 2016/17 by developing
a risk-based approach to assessing the key
performance data presented to the Trust Board and
subjecting this to independent internal audit scrutiny
to test and report on its accuracy, reliability and
validity. This includes a rolling programme of audit
reviews of the systems and data which underpin
reporting against national performance standards
such as waiting times.

Review of effectiveness
Approach to reviewing effectiveness
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control. My review is informed in a number of ways.
The Head of Internal Audit provides me with an
opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining
assurance through the Assurance Framework and
on the controls reviewed as part of the internal audit
work.
Executive managers within the organisation who have
responsibility for the development and maintenance
of the system of internal control provide me with
assurance. The Assurance Framework itself provides
me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls
that manage the risks to the organisation achieving its
principal objectives have been reviewed. My review is
also informed by:
•
•
•
•
•

External audit reports.
Internal audit reports.
Assessments by external agencies.
Care Quality Commission inspections.
Internal management reports.

I have been advised on the implications of the result
of my review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control by the activities of the Trust Board,
its sub-committees and the Trust Management
Executive.
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Significant issues

We have much to be proud of in the quality of care
that we give to our patients but continue to face
severe challenges in a number of key areas. The
most significant issues facing the Trust in 2016/17
may be summarised as follows:
• System and operational resilience: The
Trust continues to face significant pressure from
a sustained increase in the number of emergency
attendances, high levels of acuity and, perhaps most
significantly, a high volume of delayed transfers of
care (DTOCs) to the wider community. This continues
to result in medical outliers, the cancellation of
elective operations and crowding in the Emergency
Department.
• National performance standards: We continue
to face a significant challenge in consistently meeting
a number of key national performance standards.
The hospital has been under operational distress for
a considerable time which has had a major impact
on the efficient delivery of front line services and the
ability to maintain management focus on the delivery
of high impact changes.
• Workforce planning: We recognise the
importance of ensuring that we have the right
staff, in the right place and, at the right time but, in
common with the wider NHS, the Trust continues to
face significant workforce challenges. We continue
to adopt innovative approaches to the recruitment
of clinical staff but face challenges in recruiting
staff in some key service areas and are developing
a stronger plan for addressing these issues on a
sustainable basis.
• Financial sustainability: The Trust will incur a
further deficit in 2016/17. The above issues have
contributed to a serious financial position which
requires significant improvement through delivery of
an extremely challenging Financial Improvement Plan
which improves the underlying position in each of the
two years 2017/18 and 2018/19.
We have developed a two year plan which focuses
on establishing equilibrium between demand and
capacity, through significant improvements in both
front door assessment and alternate pathways
to admission and also faster discharge to more
appropriate settings of care. However, fundamental
system transformation is needed if we are to meet the
increasing demands on health and social care within
the finite resources available.
In June 2015, NHS England announced that Devon
would be one of three areas in England where local
health and care organisations worked together to

For our part, we will continue to work with our
partners within the wider health & social care
community to do what is right for our patients
and the population we serve by developing a
sustainable future.

Conclusion

My review confirms that whilst many key
components of an effective system of internal
control are in place as at 31 March 2017,
there is still scope for strengthening the Trust’s
arrangements to provide a sound basis for
securing delivery of our objectives. This will
continue to be a key area of focus for the Trust’s
leadership team throughout 2017/18.
Signed (on behalf of the Trust Board)
Ann James
Chief Executive
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make improvements for patients as part of the
new Success Regime. The Success Regime
and the wider Sustainability & Transformation
Plan (STP) are developing more detailed plans
to secure greater sustainability.
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Remuneration Report

emuneration report

Not subject to audit
The remuneration of the Trust’s Executive Directors is overseen by a committee of the Trust Board, known as
the Remuneration Committee. The Committee is comprised of Non-Executive Directors. They are guided by
the Department of Health’s advice on pay for very senior NHS managers who are not part of the Agenda for
Change terms and conditions of employment. All Executive Directors are appraised by the Chief Executive, who
is herself appraised by the Chairman, and appraisal documentation is provided to the Remuneration Committee.
Executive Directors are employed on substantive Trust contracts. The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors
is established by the Trust Development Authority and all are subject to appraisal.
Subject to audit

Salaries and Allowances

2016/7

Salary for
duties as
a director
or senior
manager
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Richard Crompton, Chairman

Salary
for duties
Salary
other
Expense
sacrifice
than as a
payments
arrangedirector
(taxable)
ments total
or senior
total to
to nearest
manager nearest £100
£100
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

30-35

£

£

All
pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
(bands
of
£5,000)

£000

£000

5,300

35-40

Terence Lewis, Non-Executive Director (see
note 1)

0-5

0-5

Michael Leece, Non-Executive Director

5-10

5-10

Elizabeth Raikes, Non-Executive Director

5-10

Henry Warren, Associate Non-Executive
Director

5-10

5-10

Michael Williams, Non-Executive Director (see
note 1)

0-5

0-5

Giles Charnaud, Non-Executive Director (see
note 2)

0-5

0-5

Estelle Thistleton, Non-Executive Director (see
note 2)

0-5

0-5

Jacky Hayden, Non-Executive Director (see
note 2)

0-5

0-5

Liz Kay, Associate Non-Executive Director (see
notes 2 and 17)

0-5

0-5

Ann James, Chief Executive

1,600

185-190

100

5-10

500

47.5-50

235-240

Phill Mantay, Director of Transformation

105-110

4,300

35-37.5

145-150

Neil Kemsley, Director of Finance

135-140

4,900

75-77.5

215-220

Phil Hughes, Medical Director

115-120

Kevin Baber, Director of Strategic Development

140-145

Steven Keith, Director of People

125-130

Nick Thomas, Deputy Chief Executive and
Director of Planning & Site Services

115-120

Lee Budge, Director of Corporate Business

90-95

Greg Dix, Director of Nursing

125-130
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65-70

600

500

100

700

100

100

185-190
140-145
55-57.5

180-185

500

60-62.5

180-185

6,100

22.5-25

120-125

500

25-27.5

150-155

2015/6

Salary
for duties
other
than as a
director
or senior
manager
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable) total
to nearest
£100

Salary sacrifice arrangements total
to nearest
£100

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£

£

£000

£000

20-25

3,500

25-30

0-5

Elizabeth Raikes, Non-Executive
Director

5-10

Mike Williams, Non-Executive
Director

5-10

5-10

Terence Lewis, Non-Executive
Director

5-10

5-10

Mike Leece, Non-Executive
Director (see note 4)

5-10

5-10

Ray Playford, Non-Executive
Director (see note 5)

0-5

0-5

Denis Wilkins, Associate
Non-Executive Director (see
note 6)

0-5

0-5

Henry Warren, Associate
Non-Executive Director

5-10

5-10
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Ian Douglas, Non-Executive
Director (see note 3)

Ann James, Chief Executive

185-190

Phil Hughes, Medical Director

115-120

Joe Teape, Director of Finance
and Deputy Chief Executive (see
note 7)
Kevin Baber, Director of
Operations
Hein Scheffer, Director of Human
Resources (see note 8)

0-5
400

100
65-70

500

45-47.5

900

55-60
140-145

5-10

2,600
100

40-45

230-235
180-185

32.5-35

1,200

90-95
140-145

200

10-12.5

50-55

500

20-22.5

140-145

10-12.5

120-125

120-125

200

Richard Best, Director of
Development - Service
Improvement (see note 9)

105-110

400

Nick Thomas, Director of
Planning & Site Services and
Deputy Chief Executive (see
note 10)

110-115

500

47.5-50

160-165

Lee Budge, Director of Corporate
Business

95-100

6,100

20-22.5

120-125

Phill Mantay, Director of
Transformation (see note 11)

35-40

200

10-12.5

45-50

Neil Kemsley, Director of
Finance (see note 12)

55-60

1,800

10-12.5

65-70

Steven Keith, Director of People
(see note 13)

20-25

2.5-5

30-35

6,000

Notes appear on next page
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Greg Dix, Director of Nursing
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Richard Crompton, Chairman

Salary for
duties as
a director
or senior
manager
(bands of
£5,000)

Notes

1. Term of office completed 24 September 2016
2. Appointed 1 October 2016
3. Term of office completed 31 May 2015
4. Appointed 1 June 2015.
5. Appointed 1 June 2015; resigned 12 November 2015.
6. Resigned 27 May 2015
7. Left the Trust 6 September 2015
8. Left the Trust 31 August 2015
9. On secondment to another organisation from 21 January 2016
10. Appointed Deputy Chief Executive in addition to existing role of Director of Planning & Site Services
September 2015
11. Acting Director of Finance 7 September 2015 to 1 November 2015 and Director of Transformation from 27
January 2016
12. Appointed 2 November 2016
13. Appointed 4 February 2016
14. Salary for duties as director includes only that proportion of remuneration relating to non clinical duties as
a director or senior manager of the Trust. All remuneration for clinical work undertaken during the period is
disclosed as other remuneration.
15. Pension related benefits are shown net of pension contributions made by the director or senior manager
during the period.
16. Expenses payments relate to the taxable part of the reimbursement of expenses such as travel and
subsistence.
17. The services of this non-executive director are provided by the University of Plymouth who invoice the Trust
accordingly.
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Pension Benefits 		
Lump sum
at retirement
age related
to accrued
pension at 31
March 2017

Cash Equivalent Transfer
Value at 31
March 2017

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2016

Real Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

(bands of
£2500)
£

(bands of
£2500)
£

(bands of
£5000)
£

(bands of
£5000)
£

£000

£000

£000

2.5-5

0-2.5

55-60

145-150

1,009

908

74

Greg Dix, Chief
Nurse

0-2.5

0

25-30

65-70

410

378

14

Nick Thomas,
Director of
Planning & Site
Services

2.5-5

10-12.5

45-50

140-145

949

855

77

Lee Budge,
Director of
Governance
(see note 2)

0-2.5

0

5-10

0

102

81

8

Neil Kemsley,
Director of
Finance

2.5-5

5-7.5

45-50

120-125

786

703

63

Steven Keith,
Director of
People

2.5-5

2.5-5

30-35

80-85

506

449

39

Phill Mantay
(Director of
Transformation)

0-2.5

0-2.5

20-25

50-55

255

228

12

Name and title

Ann James,
Chief Executive
Phil Hughes,
Medical Director
(see note 1)
Kevin Baber,
Director of
Strategic
Development
(see note 1)
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A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension
payable from the scheme. CETVs are calculated in accordance with the Occupational Pension
Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 2008.
The Real Increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It
takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses
common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period,

Notes

1. Opted out of the NHS pension scheme
2. No lump sum shown for members of the 2008 scheme
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Total
accrued
pension
at retirement
age at 31
March
2017
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Real
increase in
pension at
retirement
age

Real
increase
in pension
lump sum
at retirement age

Fair Pay

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid director
in the organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the post of Chief Executive, the highest paid director, was £186,850 (2015-16
£186,850.) This was 7.1 times (2016-2016 6.9) the median banded remuneration of the workforce, which was
£26,350 (2015-16 £27,090.) The range of banded remuneration was from £6,648 to £186,850 (2015-16 £6,453
to £186,850.)
In 2016-17 sixteen employees (2015-16 six) received total remuneration in excess of the Chief Executive’s, with
total remuneration ranging from £187,756 - £353,568 (2015-2016 range £187,665 - £199,281.)
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay, benefits-in-kind but not severance
payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of
pensions.

Off payroll engagements

All existing off-payroll engagements have been subject to a risk assessment as to whether assurance is required
that the individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
Off-payroll engagements as of 31
March 2017, for more than £220 per
day and that last longer than six
months

Number

Number of existing engagements as of
31 March 2016

8

Of which the number that have existed

All new off-payroll engagements
between 1 April 2016 and 31 March
2017, for more than £220 and that last
longer than six months

Number

Number of new engagements, or those
that reached six months duration between
1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016

10

10

10

for less than one year at the time of
reporting

2

for between one and two years at the
time of reporting

4

Number of new engagements which
include contractual clauses giving the Trust
the right to request assurance in relation
to income tax and national insurance
obligations

for between two and three years at the
time of reporting

1

Number for whom assurance has been
requested

for between three and four years at the
time of reporting

0

for four or more years at the time of
reporting

1

Of which
assurance has been received

4

assurance has not been received

6

engagements terminated as a result of
assurances not being received

0

None of the off-payroll engagements related to a board members or senior officers with significant financial
responsibility.
20 individuals have been deemed “board members and/ or senior officers with significant financial responsibility”
during the year.
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Sickness absence data

Trusts are required to disclose the total number of full time equivalent staff years, total days lost
(adjusted to the Cabinet Office measure), and a calculated average absences per staff year. The
following figures relate to the calendar year 2016.
2015
Number

Total Days Lost

54,363

49,897

Total Staff Years

5,888

5,708

9

9

Average Working Days Lost

Exit packages

There were no exit packages during the year

Analysis of staff numbers and costs
Total

Permanently
Employed

Other

£000s

£000s

£000s

Salaries and wages

239,313

219,460

19,853

Social Security costs

22,110

22,110

0

NHS Pensions Scheme

26,113

26,113

0

43

43

0

287,579

267,726

19,853

1,442

1,442

0

286,137

266,284

19,853

Staff Costs

Other pension costs
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TOTAL - including capitalised costs
Costs Capitalised as part of assets
TOTAL - excluding capitalised costs

Permanently
Employed

Other

Number

Number

Number

954

879

75

Administration and estates

1,417

1,360

57

Healthcare assistants and other support staff

1,014

921

93

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff

1,794

1,635

159

5

5

-

1,115

1,106

9

Other

8

8

-

TOTAL

6,307

5,914

393

43

43

-

Average Staff

Medical and dental

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff

Staff engaged on capital projects
(included above)

Consultancy

Expenditure on consultancy in 2016/17 was £189,000 (2015/16 £136,000.)
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Total
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2016
Number

SWARM recruited 40% of the UK`s total, whilst
Derriford Hospital was the highest recruiting centre
in the UK and the third largest recruiting centre in the
world.
There were celebrations when SWARM (South West
Anaesthesia Research Matrix) were announced as
the Anaesthesia Team of the Year at the 2016 British
Medical Journal (BMJ) Awards.
Set up four years ago, the South West Anaesthesia
Research Matrix (SWARM) is a trainee-led audit
and research collaboration between six NHS
organisations in the region. It is also supported by
Plymouth University Peninsula Schools of Medicine
and Dentistry (PUPSMD) and the NIHR Collaboration
for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care
South West Peninsula (NIHR PenCLAHRC).
The worldwide, multi-centred LAS VEGAS study, run
in 2013, first put SWARM on the map. This looked
at mechanical ventilation practice during operations.
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In 2016 SWARM recruited to CUPPA, a study of
whether careful brushing of teeth decreases patients’
risk of getting pneumonia after major surgery.
Judges’ comments on the winning Anaesthesia team
were that: "SWARM provides good opportunities
for career development and will increase the future
supply of highly informed, engaged and motivated
anaesthetic researchers working for the benefit of
patients."
The power of the network is in scaling up projects
to run concurrently at all the participating Trusts,
thus bringing high-quality, high-impact, multi-centred
research and audit to patients across the whole
region. So far the network has run 10 of these
collaborative projects, presenting and publishing their
results widely.

Recognition for epilepsy project
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Also recognised was a South West partnership of researchers, doctors and bereaved families
who scooped the prestigious BMJ award for Neurology and enhanced patient safety (pictured
below). The award was sponsored by the Association of British Neurologists and went to Cornwall
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust; Plymouth University; Royal Cornwall Hospitals and to the
charity SUDEP Action for a comprehensive and innovative approach to reduce sudden death in
people with epilepsy. This project was made possible by funding from KT’s fund, a charity set up
in memory of Katie Hallet from Cornwall and SUDEP Action. Katie was a young nurse who died
suddenly, aged 20, from epilepsy.

A big thank you to staff @Derriford_Hosp again. Fal
and Postbridge wards and the theatre staff. All used
#hellomynameis Fantastic

- @SoRRachelHarris

”
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Our People

We know that without our dedicated staff we would not be able to deliver outstanding care to our patients. Our
people make a difference every day to people who need their expertise and compassion. During the course
of the year, we developed a People Strategy which sets out how we will focus on the design and development
(as well as support) of our workforce over the next 2-3 years. This will ensure that we have a clear and focused
people plan to best place us to meet the many challenges ahead.

Our People Vision:

We aspire to being an outstanding hospital and a preferred employer for talented people. To do this we need
to create and sustain a culture in which our staff feel genuinely engaged and fulfilled at work, and motivated
to not only deliver great care, but to identify and pursue continued improvements, now and for the future.

How does it feel to work with us?

Knowing how our people feel about working in the Trust is very important – it helps us to understand the things
we are getting right and where we can work with our staff to make improvements. The National Staff Survey
gives us an annual report on our progress and in 2016 more than 3,000 of our people gave us their views. This
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Your Trust
in 2014

Your Trust
in 2015

Your
Trust in
2016

Average
(median)
for Acute
Trusts

Q21a

“Care of patients / service users is my
organisation’s top priority”

54%

71%

73%

76%

Q21b

"My organisation acts on concerns
raised by patients /service users”

58%

68%

71%

74%

Q21c

"I would recommend my
organisation as a place to work"

43%

52%

57%

62%

Q21d

"If a friend or relative needed
treatment, I would be happy with the
standard of care provided by this
organisation"

55%

65%

69%

70%

Staff recommendation of the
organisation as a place to work or
receive treatment (Q21a, 21c-d)

3.38

3.61

3.70

3.76

KF1
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We had a number of Big Conversations with our staff last year about the four areas identified;
appraisal, value and recognition, raising concerns and flexible working and improvements have been
made in all of the questions relating to these areas. We have listened hard to our staff and made big
changes to the way we carry out appraisals. It’s great to hear staff saying:

A much better, more flexible
process based around
conversation

• Patient Care: understanding how best to support staff with delivering the quality care they aspire
to deliver whilst recognising how their role makes a difference to our patients.
• Contributions to improvement: encouraging staff to get involved in making changes to improve
things for their service or patients.
• Training and development: Understanding what good quality training is like for staff.
We know that by focusing on the culture of our Trust “the way we do things around here” has an
impact on expectation of behaviours and influences the quality of care they can deliver as a result.
We want staff at all levels, as either individuals or teams, to feel empowered to take action to improve
their service or the care they offer. We want our people to work in an environment that encourages
compassion, supports staff to speak up and is one where bullying is not tolerated.
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For this year we are going to continue to use the Big Conversations and have identified three areas
for special focus:
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meant that 48% of our staff responded, ranking our response rate in the highest 20% of acute trusts.
Our data tells us that staff experience is improving, despite a very challenging and complex year. The
infographic above shows we have reduced the number of areas where we were in the bottom 20%
from 14 to eight and we now have three areas in the top 20% of acute trusts. We are also pleased to
note that whilst we know we still have work to do to be among the best trusts across all key findings,
our rate of improvement progress has been greater than that of the average of acute trusts.

How we value our people

We have developed a meaningful appraisal process
to help our staff to understand their role in the
organisation and how they are valued for their
contribution. This has been developed with feedback
from the Big Conversations.
We know that our staff have good solutions to
problems and getting their ideas heard is very
important. We are working with staff who came
up with great ideas as part of Fab Change Day to
trial their innovations and support them to spread if
successful.
This is Kai Fifield (pictured above), who we are
working with on his idea about coloured arm bands to
reduce portering time whilst looking for the right staff
in relation to patient collections and drop-offs.

We have introduced two ways to appreciate our staff:
Thank You cards and an Excellence Award Scheme.
These allow staff to get personal thanks for going
“above and beyond” in their daily work. Patients are
able to use both the Thank You cards and also to
nominate staff for an Excellence Award. Staff told us
they want personal feedback both from colleagues
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and patients that is personal to them and meaningful
and the research clearly links this with improved
outcomes for patients.

Celebrating the diversity of our people

We are committed to recognising and valuing the
diversity of our staff and ensuring they feel that our
processes and support for them is fair and equitable.
As part of this, we undertook a self-assessment
against the goals of the national Equality Delivery
System. As part of the assessment we held a patient
focus group to look at how fair and accessible our
services are and feedback from this was generally
very positive. The assessment identified areas
of focus that will be supported by the work of the
Leadership, Improvement, Culture and Engagement
Steering Group, which has oversight of our equality,
diversity and inclusion work, within the framework
of our Equality and Diversity Policy. Our policy
sets out our commitment to support all protected
characteristics fairly and consistently. We have
processes to support those with disabilities, for
example the provision of reasonable adjustments
in the workplace, in order that staff can fulfil their
potential in the workforce.
We continue to work with Project Search, to provide
internships to young people with Learning Disabilities.
This work is in partnership with City College
Plymouth, Pluss and Serco, who also provide work
placements.

Graduate Intern, Jack Cunningham, said: “It
has boosted my confidence. I have found that I
have got skills I didn’t realise I had. I have made
friends that I will keep in touch with. I was a
teenager, now I feel like a man.”

The Project has an enviable success rate with
72% of interns from the first five years achieving
competitive paid employment. Project SEARCH
supports young adults, between 18 and 24,
living in Plymouth with Learning Disabilities by
providing a Level 1 academic course running
alongside three internships within Derriford
Hospital.
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The interns, all of whom have learning
disabilities, have been working in Derriford
Hospital on honorary contracts, whilst
developing and learning new work skills. In
total, eleven interns have graduated from this
most recent cohort, bringing the overall number
of interns who have graduated from Project
SEARCH to more than 50 in the last seven
years.

Chairman Richard Crompton, presented the
certificates at the ceremony. Addressing the
intern and their guests, he said: “I have been
here for four years and for four years I have had
the pleasure of attending this ceremony. It is
genuinely the best day of the year. Our interns
have all told such inspirational stories. You’ve
also all said thank yous to the people who have
supported you but actually, we owe you far more
thanks – so thank you.”
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Ten very proud interns watched by equally
proud parents, relatives and employers,
graduated in July 2016 from Project SEARCH
Derriford, following nine months of intensive
work based training gaining Diplomas in
Progression.

This sentiment was echoed by fellow intern,
Stephen Watkins, who said: “It has given me
more individuality rather than living in someone
else’s shadow. It made me more confident.
Having paid work means the world to me, it has
given me a purpose.”

Speaking Up

We have welcomed two Freedom to Speak Up
Guardians who will support us in ensuring that our
people feel safe to speak up and that appropriate
action is taken when they do. Charlotte Burgoyne and
Dr Jamie Read are working across all staff groups
to raise awareness and report directly to the Chief
Executive and the Trust Board.

We use Assistant Practitioner apprenticeships in
order to further develop the skills of our healthcare
support workers so that they can provide enhanced
support to our patients. In March 2017, 10 of our
trainee Assistant Practitioners successfully completed
their level 5 apprenticeships, with a further 28 still
undertaking the qualification. The Trust is also actively
involved in the development of the new Nursing
Associate apprenticeship, during its pilot phase.
We have been successful in our application to
become a registered Employer Provider and this
means that we are able to deliver apprenticeship
qualifications to our own staff. The first qualification
that we will deliver is a level 2 apprenticeship for
Healthcare Assistants.

Developing our People

Our commitment to building a sustainable workforce,
combined with the forthcoming apprenticeship
reforms has meant that we have been able to focus
on apprenticeships as a real opportunity to provide
high quality development for our staff at all levels.
Given some of our recruitment challenges we have
recognised that we need to explore the potential for
new roles.
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Two of our current apprentices were shortlisted for
the Health Education South West Star Awards, in the
Intermediate and Advanced Apprentice of the Year
categories. One of these, who was on the Assistant
Practitioner programme, was successful and was also
put forward for the national award and was a winner.
Congratulations to Rachael Burgess (pictured),
Transplant Support Practitioner, who was recognised
for her outstanding contribution to patient care and
service delivery at the National NHS Apprenticeships
Celebration Awards.

Other vocational training that we have delivered
is listed in the table below:
Training delivered
Number

Healthcare Assistant Level 1 Progression
Award
Newly recruited Healthcare
Assistants

78

Clinical Observations
Healthcare Assistants

148

Clinical skills (inc cannulation,
venepuncture, urinary catheterisation,
IV drug administration)
Registered and non-registered
clinical staff

375

We have been supporting the NMC revalidation
requirements by providing both on-line and
face to face training to registered nurses and
midwives.
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Following feedback received from staff
regarding their experience of completing their
Statutory Trust Update training, the provision
of this training has been reviewed and a new
programme launched in March 2017. The new
programme has a more streamlined approach,
tailored to the needs of different staff roles. It
uses the UK Core Skills Training Framework
and due to this will give an element of
transferability when individuals move between
different organisations

Developing our leaders at every level

We are working creatively to identify a range
of development opportunities, which are not
restricted to traditional training opportunities,
such as simulation and human factors training,
coaching and mentoring and seek to fit these
within the context of day-to-day service delivery.

Caring for our people’s health and wellbeing is
one of the key areas of focus within the Trust’s
People Strategy, which incorporates workstreams that strongly endorse our commitment
to implementing the Public Health Responsibility
Deal 10 ‘Health At Work’ pledges; compliance
with NICE Guideline NG13: Workplace Policy
for Management Practices to Improve Health
& Wellbeing of Employees; NHS Staff and
Wellbeing CQUIN; and successful Workplace
Wellbeing Charter accreditation recognising us
as a healthy organisation.
In August 2016, the Trust had a unique
opportunity to co-locate the in-house
Occupational Health and Wellbeing (OH&WB)
service with the current on-site leisure, fitness
and social facility to create the Derriford
Centre for Health and Wellbeing (DCHW).
The development of the DCHW was the main
focus of the Thrive PHNT Steering Group, who
oversaw the construction of the new facility,
reviewed and re-defined the image, brand and
business model. This provided a single platform
to deliver all aspects of health and wellbeing to
the workforce and enabled more collaborative
working to offer an enhanced range of health
and wellbeing initiatives. A launch week was
held in October 2016 promoting all the on-site
services and facilities available to staff under
the DCHW branding of ‘Active. Healthy. Happy.’
To help create an environment in which staff
are supported to maintain good health and to
minimise ill health, DCHW delivered several key
health promotion initiatives, including:
• Our annual Staff Health & Wellbeing event
was held in April 2016 with more than 300 staff
attending. Staff participated in a mini health
check, attended health information workshops
and drop-in taster physical activity sessions.
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Leaders play arguably the most important part
in making our work place a great place to be;
they affect every part of our working lives and
a great leader can make us feel we can do
anything we set our minds to and that, working
together, almost anything can be overcome.

Staff Wellbeing
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Staff group

Leadership and management development is
a key area of focus to ensure we have skilful
self-aware leaders who manage and lead their
people well. We have a focus on developing
coaching skills and increasing confidence in all
aspects of people management.

• Our Seasonal Flu campaign vaccinated 58.4% of
frontline healthcare workers, falling short of the 75%
Staff Wellbeing CQUIN target but achieving a 5%
increased uptake on the previous year.
• Our 10 week team weight loss challenge, the
‘Big Pinch’, saw 59 teams with a total of 290 staff
participating throughout the Trust. Collectively, the
teams lost 492 kilos.
• Promotion of national PHE One You campaign
which included information stands, Active 10 walk and
provision of free NHS health checks at DCHW.
We have recruited staff volunteers who have a
passion for health and wellbeing and are enthusiastic
about supporting others to engage and partake in
leading a healthier lifestyle. These Health Champions
will help to embed staff health and wellbeing into all
we do as a Trust.
The Trust’s average time lost due to sickness
absence increased from 3.90% to 4.15%, above
the annual target of 3.5%. The top reasons for
sickness have consistently remained musculoskeletal
(including both back problems and other
musculoskeletal disorders) and psychological
(anxiety/stress/depression/other psychiatric illnesses)
which is in line with the national trend and mostly
associated with long-term sickness. Individuals are
absent with complex medical conditions requiring
longer recovery and rehabilitation periods.

To maintain a focus on these cases, support staff
appropriately and to address the overall increased
sickness absence rate, a sickness absence
improvement plan has been developed. We fully
recognise the pressures of working in a busy hospital
environment. To ensure staff are fully supported, a
comprehensive stress management plan is in place
incorporating the HSE Management Standards for
work-related stress, and covers the following main
work-streams: Education Plan; Health Promotion;
Data Analysis; Counselling; Rehabilitation; Evaluation
and Audit.

Safer Staffing

Since May 2014, the Department of Health Safer
Staffing Initiative has provided the public with an
overview of nursing staffing numbers for inpatient
areas within hospitals across the country. Each
department has to publish, on a monthly basis, the
planned number of staff on duty, against the actual
number of staff on duty (known as the fill rate).
Where the fill rate is less than 100%, an explanation
is given by the senior nursing team to confirm how
the department was safely staffed. This is often due
to cross cover or if the bed occupancy or the acuity
of the department required a lower level of staffing
than was initially planned. This can readily be seen
through the recent introduction of Safecare, a system
that looks at the number of patients and their care
needs and compares that to staffing levels. As can
be seen, the Trust levels of staffing have fluctuated
between 90% and 93% with March 2017 levels at just
over 90%.

Safer Staffing Fill Rate (by month)
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Getting the right people

Over the past 12 months we have improved our
recruitment processes considerably. The need
to recruit candidates into post as quickly as
possible is imperative both for the organisation
and the member of staff themselves and
significant work in two key areas has taken
place in order to streamline this process. Firstly,
the introduction of e-DBS has significantly
reduced the amount of time taken to move
through criminal record checks, and secondly
the internal development of a bespoke inhouse recruitment database has given the
recruitment team and operational departments
far greater visibility of where individuals are in
the recruitment process and allows bottlenecks
to be very quickly flagged and resolved.
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The successful development of new roles
has been critical in giving the Trust additional
opportunities for filling skills gaps that may not
necessarily be readily recruited to given the
current labour market. Non-traditional roles
such as nursing associates, doctors assistants,
physicians associates and apprenticeships
have been developed not only to widen access
to the workplace where qualifications and
availability of candidates in traditional roles may
be an issue but also ensure that the Trust has

Staff numbers by Staff Group, figure as of
31st March 2017
Staff Group

WTE

Scientific and Technical Staff (inc
ODPs)

240.25

Healthcare Assistants and Clinical
Helpers

1170.92

Administrative and Clerical Staff

1351.23

Allied Health Professionals and
Therapists

330.72

Estates and Ancillary Staff

137.79

Healthcare Scientists

238.13

Medical and Dental Staff

874.21

Nursing and Midwifery

1663.84

Total (wte)

6007.09

Total Headcount

6894

Annual Turnover

10.53%

Annual Sickness Absence

4.11%

Staff numbers by gender:
Female

Male

Total

4

11

15

Senior Manager

158

100

258

Other

5017

1604

6621

Grand Total

5179

1715

6894

Board

Table showing number of new staff recruited
over the financial year (by staff group)
Staff Group

Total

Add Prof Scientific and Technical

28.05

Additional Clinical Services

191.75

Administrative and Clerical

209.13

Allied Health Professionals

54.13

Estates and Ancillary

27.33

Healthcare Scientists

30.08

Medical and Dental

262.84

Nursing and Midwifery Registered

235.4

Grand Total

1039.72
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The introduction of recruitment events has had
a significant impact on the number of nursing
staff who have joined the organisation. Monthly
events were held during the last quarter of 16/17
and a significant number of student nurses
were recruited at these events (more than 130
preceptees are now scheduled to start over
the next 6 months, following 130 starting over
2016/17). This not only assisted in securing
our workforce numbers for the future but also
helped to publicise the Trust as an employer
of choice. Alongside this, we have continued
to recruit internationally to ensure that key
clinical posts are resourced and that the Trust
has assurance around safety and quality in key
departments.

the right people at the right level staffing our
departments, with now over 100 new roles and
apprenticeships embedded across the Trust.
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The challenging environment the NHS operates
within in terms of getting the right people in post
has meant that Plymouth Hospitals has had
to develop innovative solutions to ensure our
staffing complement is robust and is meeting the
requirements of our patients in terms of safety
and quality.

We couldn’t do without them … our
volunteers

We are extremely fortunate to benefit from around
550 volunteers, who help in a variety of ways
throughout the hospital, improving the quality of
our patients’ stay. Some of the roles undertaken by
volunteers are outlined by the volunteers themselves
(opposite), but you may not be aware many of our
volunteers visit wards and spend their time with
patients, chatting and listening, helping with meals,
refreshments, running errands and shopping.
If you have travelled a long way for treatment, if your
stay is longer than you expected, if it’s difficult for
friends and family to visit, a friendly chat with a ward
volunteer can be really welcome.
In fact of the 200 new volunteers who joined us in
2016, 166 picked ‘ward visiting’ as their role of choice.
The majority of these, 103 to be precise, were
students or young people, considering careers in the
NHS - but anyone, aged 16 or over, is able to apply!
At the time of writing, we have approximately 173
volunteers who help on our wards on a regular basis,
although there is always room for more – Derriford is
a big hospital!
It seems volunteers gain from their time with us too. A
recently-appointed volunteer told us: “This week was
my third week volunteering on my ward, I'm settling
in really well and I'm enjoying the experience. I was
wondering if I could do more hours?”
Such correspondence confirms that volunteering is,
as they say, a win-win situation. And yes, of course
we obliged and this volunteer was offered additional
time on the ward.

Hazel

I have been retired for just over a year during which
time I have volunteered at The Mustard Tree (Cancer
Support Unit). This is a role which is dear to my
heart as cancer has touched my family in the past.
Being a 'non-clinical' area, The Mustard Tree has
a homely feel about it - armchairs and sofas make
this a place where patients, carers and families
can relax aside from treatment and yet still have
access to information and support from the team of
compassionate and caring staff and therapists.
Whilst I look after refreshments, I also find time to
sit and chat to visitors in the Centre. It's a very real
privilege and a blessing to be alongside patients
and their families as they journey through and
beyond their experience of this illness. What I give
out is returned one thousand fold. The little sign
that welcomes people to the centre says 'Enter as
strangers, leave as friends' and this is a very true
reflection of the centre's ethos.

We like our volunteers to stay with us for at least six
months but nearly 90, that’s around 1 in 6, have been
volunteering for at least 10 years!
Here’s what a few of our current volunteers have to
say about what they do:

A massive thank you to each and every one of our volunteers.
We couldn’t do it without them.
If you would like to find out more about volunteering, or apply to join
the team, please contact Elizabeth Pollard, Volunteer Co-ordinator:
elizabeth.pollard@nhs.net or, read more on our website.
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I volunteer for the Derriford Hospital League
of Friends and started in July 2007 after the
loss of my husband. I am a committee member
and at this moment in time the Chairman of the
League. I am retired but find the camaraderie of
colleagues and staff very rewarding. I also serve
in the League of Friends Shop near the main
entrance, on Thursday afternoons. Many people
come into our shop to chat, to buy, or to tell us
their problems - some sad, some joyful. I listen!
That to me is rewarding.

Sheila
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I am retired and have been volunteering with
the League of Friends of the Plymouth Royal
Eye Infirmary in their tea bar since 2011. I
was so impressed by the treatment I received
at that time I decided to volunteer. I am a
"people person" and enjoy meeting so many
different people and having many interesting
discussions.
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Margaret

Our Financial Report
Finances

The Trust continues to operate in a financially
challenging environment. As in recent years the Trust
has seen an increase in the levels of emergency
attendances and admissions which have impacted on
the Trust’s ability to achieve the financial plan it set
out at the beginning of the year.

Overview of income and expenditure
position
2016/17 Financial Plan
The Trust was set a financial deficit control total
by NHS Improvement of £23.8m. If the Trust
was able to achieve this then it would also have
access to Department of Health Sustainability and
Transformation Funding (STF) of £11.9m which would
have further reduced this deficit to £11.9m. However,
during the financial planning process it was apparent
that the level of saving required to deliver this
control total in the context of the current operational
environment was not possible. The Trust Board
therefore set a financial plan to achieve a deficit of
£36.5m. This was reduced to £35.6m during the year
recognising an additional £0.9m contribution from the
Scan4Safety project.
The Trust, along with its local partners within the
NEW Devon CCG Success Regime requested a
revised system-wide control total that would qualify
the Trust to receive the additional STF, however this
was not accepted and therefore this additional income
and reduction to the deficit position was not possible.
The planned position reflected a deficit close to that
recorded in the previous year of £36m (before the
technical accounting impact of asset revaluations and
impairments). To achieve this plan the Trust required
savings of £16m (3.5% of turnover).

services including an expected £2m increase in
high cost drugs for which the Trust receives specific
funding from commissioners. The Trust also expected
a benefit in other healthcare contract tariff prices
changes of £3m. Income was forecast to reduce,
however, by £3m for non-recurrent contract income
received in 2016-17 and £6.5m for the 2% efficiency
requirement included in the national tariff. Other
income was forecast to increase by £4m as £2m
of the £16m efficiency programme was planned to
be found from additional income projects and there
was additional funding of £2m from the Scan4Safety
project.
Costs were forecast to increase by £15.5m. This
reflected the required investments in capacity to
deliver the growth in contracted service levels of £5m,
increases in high cost drugs of £2m and required
investments in workforce development, safety and
regulatory compliance of £2m. Price increases
were forecast to be £6.5m for pay inflation and
incremental increases, and £4m for increases in
national insurance contributions following the change
in the national insurance status of the NHS pension
scheme. Non-pay inflation increases were forecast
to be £4m including an increased contribution fee of
£1.5m (10%) for the NHS Litigation Authority’s Clinical
Negligence Scheme for Trusts (CNST). Additionally
the Trust had increased costs in 2016-17 reflecting
the full year costs of investments and workforce
recruitment made the previous year of £4m. The Trust
also made provision for a contingency fund of £1m
and £1m of revenue cost for the Scan4Safety project.
The remaining £14m of savings plans was forecast
to be delivered across agency budgets (£4.5m)
other workforce programmes (£3m), drugs (£1.5m),
procurement (£2m) and various service line
programmes (£3m).

The Trust’s income was forecast to increase by £16m.
£12m of this is in healthcare income where increases
included £10.5m inflation funding from healthcare
contracts and £8m for increased levels of clinical

“

Thank you, lovely nurses & surgeons at
@Derriford_Hosp for looking after me when I totally
freaked out during laser eye surgery this evening

- @EloiseMalone
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2016-17 Financial Results

The Trust’s reported financial position at the end of
March 2017 is a deficit of £38.2 million; however, the
impact of impairments and the impact of movements
in the donated assets reserve are not taken into
account in the evaluation of the Trust’s financial
performance by the Department of Health or the
Trust’s financial plan, which recognises the Trust’s
underlying performance of a £39.9m deficit for the
financial year.
As a result of this deficit, the Trust is now in overall
cumulative deficit (taking each year to the next) of
£81.7m. This means that as expected, and as in
2015-16, the Trust has broken its statutory duty to
break-even. As reported last year the Trust’s auditors
have notified the Secretary of State of this with a
Section 30 Notice.

for this variance was that the Trust was not able to
reduce agency spend as much as planned because
the high level of escalation beds required for safe
service delivery meant that, although increased levels
of staff were recruited, demand for temporary staff
was still very high. This also affected the pressure
the Trust was able to apply to agency market rates
that it pays for staff so although progress was made
in reducing some rates the Trust still has a significant
number of rates in exception to the NHS Improvement
capped agency rate. The increased patient levels also
impacted on the Trust’s ability to increase its private
patient income and to deliver increased levels of
contract activity as proposed in the savings plan.

The deficit of £39.9m is £4.3m more than planned.
This was largely down to the continued high level of
emergency activity and the impact that this had on the
ability of the Trust to deliver the planned levels of cost
savings.

As well as limiting the Trust’s ability to make savings,
the operational pressures also led to increased
ward expenditure and disruption to the Trust
elective capacity, meaning that increased levels of
independent sector outsourcing was required. These
factors contributed an additional £1.2m of budget
overspends. The Trust was also subject to penalties
for elective surgery cancelations which totalled
£1.1m.

Overall savings delivered were £14m, £2m below
the level we planned to achieve. The main reason

The Trust’s final income and expenditure performance
for the year is shown opposite:
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Diff
(£000s)

Revenue from patient care activities

403,258

385,932

17,326

Other operating revenue

47,090

46,839

251

Total Income

450,348

432,771

17,577

Gross employee benefits

(286,137)

(271,718)

(14,419)

Other operating costs

(182,514)

(174,389)

(8,125)

Depreciation and Amortisation

(15,749)

(15,634)

(115)

Total Expenditure

(484,400)

(461,741)

(22,659)

Operating surplus/(deficit)

(34,052)

(28,970)

(5,082)

27

35

(8)

(29)

(13)

(16)

Finance costs

(1,497)

(590)

(907)

Public dividend capital dividends payable

(4,360)

(5,805)

1,445

1,719

(4,205)

5,924

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year

(38,192)

(39,548)

1,356

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year

(38,192)

(39,548)

1,356

Impairments/(Impairments Reversals)

(1,719)

4,205

(5,924)

(653)

664

(35,996)

(3,904)

Investment revenue
Other gains and (losses)
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Impairments and reversals

Adjustments in respect of donated asset reserve
elimination
Adjusted retained (deficit)

“

11
(39,900)

A really big thank you to the A&E staff who
patched me up and reassured me after I came
in with two sectioned tendons in my finger, and
another big thank you to the great team at the
Freedom Unit who repaired the damage. They did a
great job and it's healing nicely now.

- Andy James

”
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2015-6
(£000s)
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2016-7
(£000s)

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Income

The majority of revenue from patient care activities
comes from NEW Devon and Kernow Clinical
Commissioning Groups (services for the local
population) and NHS England who commission
specialist, dental and screening services. In 2016/17,
the Trust treated 62,863 elective patients, 55,762 non
elective patients and nearly half a million outpatients.
The Emergency Department had 97,112 attendances.
Revenue from patient care activities increased by
£17m in 2016/17 (4%). As mentioned above, income
was expected to increase by £12m from the tariff
inflation, increased service levels planned, increased
high cost drugs levels and other contract price
changes. Contract performance during the year was
in excess of plan increasing income further by £5m.
This reflects increased levels of high cost drugs that
are funded by commissioners of £3m and increased
outpatient performance of £3m earned by Service
Lines that delivered capacity above that contracted.
Although the Trust was paid additional income for
the growth above plan of emergency attendances in
A&E of £0.5m (4.7%) and non-elective admissions of
£2.4m (4%), this was offset by an under-performance
in elective activity of £2.5m (2.2%), in part caused by
the additional operational pressures the emergency
activity caused. The increase in emergency work
above plan was also a key factor why the Trust was
unable to meet its key operational performance
standards. Although the Trust mitigated the impact of
contract penalties applied for this underperformance
through contract negotiations with commissioners the
Trust did incur contract penalties of £1.1m that were
not planned.
Other operating revenue includes £29.0m of income
derived from education, training and research
activities, including the training of junior doctors
and nursing staff. The balance represents income
generated from clinical and general services provided
by the Trust to other organisations and from charges
for the use of Trust services and facilities. Amongst
the movements from last year is a reduction in
donated income as the 2015-16 accounts included
£1m for the Trust’s new Helipad. The increase in
income outside this was lower than the £4m expected
as the Trust was unable to generate the income from
efficiencies as planned.

Expenditure

With over 5,900 permanently employed whole time
equivalent staff, pay costs (including salaries, national
insurance and pension contributions) comprise
the majority of the Trust’s operating expenses and
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account for over 60% of the Trust’s total expenditure.
Staff costs have increased by £14m from 2015-16.
The primary reason for the increase is as forecast
staff increments and inflation increased by £6.5m
and national insurance contributions by £4m. The
average number of staff employed during the year
also increased by 227 WTE. This reflects the full
year effect of investments in permanent staff made
in 2015/16 and also the investments in additional
services in 2016-17 to treat the additional numbers of
patients seen totalling £3.5m. This WTE movement
also includes an increase in temporary staff although
expenditure on agency staff has not increased as
the rates have reduced in some areas during the
year. As described, however, agency spend has
remained higher than that planned as vacancies
remain high and demand to cover increased numbers
of escalation beds has been very challenging to
manage.
Non pay costs incurred in 2016/17 totalled £183
million, an increase of £8m. The cost of clinical
supplies increased by £4m in the year, primarily due
to the increased cost of high cost drugs and devices
(matched with equal income). Other drugs costs have
reduced but this is offset with an increase in other
clinical supplies reflecting the increased number of
patients treated and inflation costs. There was also
a £1.5m increase in the purchase of healthcare from
non-NHS bodies which reflects the increased use
of the private sector facilities to support the delivery
of NHS patient care. This cost has been necessary
within the challenging operational environment the
Trust has experienced to supplement the Trust’s
internal capacity to ensure that the maximum
numbers of patients are seen in line with NHS
performance standards. As mentioned previously
there was also the forecast increase of £1.5m in the
contribution fee for the NHS Litigation Authority’s
Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts (CNST). Other
increases across a number of expenditure categories
total £1m which include smaller inflation pressures,
changes of service and some one-off changes to
receivables impairments and discount rates for
provisions.

Savings Plans

The Trust has delivered £14m of savings. As
described, this is below the planned delivery of £16m
which in part is due to the operational pressures
that the Trust has faced. Of the plans delivered,
£4.5m was from procurement including £1.6m from
pharmacy savings. The Trust delivered workforce
savings of £3m where investment in staffing

Cash and Working Capital

The Trust’s cash balance stands at £4.8m at the
end of the year, an increase of £3.6m since 31st
March 2016 and £3.6m above that planned.
The increase in cash represents an underspend
on the capital programme during the year. The
Trust originally planned to spend £22.8m on
capital expenditure but due to the delay in the
notification of £6m of Public Dividend Capital
funding, not confirmed until November, the
Trust agreed an underspend of £4.6m with NHS
Improvement. This cash has been retained in
the year end position with the expenditure to be
carried out in early 2017-18.

2. Our Accountability Report

The Trust has managed the cash implications of
the reported deficit position through a number
of Department of Health revenue support
loans totalling £50.4m. These loans allowed
the Trust to fund the pre-impairment deficit of
£39.9m and a working capital movement of
£10.7m. The working capital support funds
the reversal of action taken during 2015-16 to
increase creditors to offset cash funding that
did not meet the full deficit reported that year.
The funding has allowed the Trust to continue a
good performance against the Better Payment
Practice Code with 95% of invoices paid

within the required time. The Trust has paid
the required 3.5% dividend on public assets
employed.

Capital Investments

The Trust started the financial year with an initial
capital programme of £10.5 million focused
primarily on maintenance capital requirements
for the Trust’s buildings, infrastructure and
equipment, both medical and non-medical. This
initial programme also included allocations to
allow progress with major IT developments
commenced in the previous year including
the electronic Patient Notes project and the
Theatre Information System and to progress
strategic plans to re-provide the Trust’s ageing
Interventional Radiology theatres, provide
additional general operating theatre capacity
and relocate the Trusts’ Occupational Health
services.
In November 2016, the Trust received an
additional capital allocation of £6million from
NHS Improvement and was able to allocate
further internal resources to expand the scope
of the capital programme. By 31st March 2017,
the Trust had spent £18.2million on capital
assets, as summarised below. This represented
an underspend of £4.6 million on the Trust’s
Capital Resource Limit, a figure agreed with
NHS Improvement in order to contribute to
meeting national capital expenditure limits.
£'000s

Service Line Programme

5,083

Estates Backlog Maintenance

2,772

IT Systems Development

2,175

Electronic Patient Notes

1,784

Medical Equipment Replacement Programme

1,682

IM&T Replacement Programme

1,408

Occupational Health Re-provision

687

Modular Theatres

686

GS1 Standards Implementation

527

Other Strategic Estates projects

468

Interventional Radiology Re-provision

447

Lighting Energy Efficiency Project

223

Theatre Information System

140

Other Strategic IT projects

112

Donated assets

47

Total

18,240
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Scheme

3. Our Financial Statement and Notes

increases was mitigated. A further £4m was
delivered from savings across a range of service
line budgets, £1.2m from estates and IT projects
and £1.2m in technical finance savings.

During the year, the Trust’s Occupational Health
Service has been relocated from inadequate
accommodation in former staff residences that have
since been demolished, to new build accommodation
co-located with the Trust’s Health and Leisure
centre forming a new combined Centre for Health
and Wellbeing which opened in October 2016.
Two new operating theatres were delivered to the
hospital and installed in March 2017. These are
now providing additional modern capacity to treat
increasing numbers of surgical patients. Other longer
term projects are progressing and will continue into
2017/18.

Future Plans

The Trust has outlined a challenging Financial
Improvement Programme of £68m over the next two
years to return to financial balance, with £40m of this
to be delivered in 2017-18. The Trust has a proposed
deficit plan for 2017-18 in line with the financial
control total set by NHS Improvement of £3.1m.
Despite the current adverse trading position the Trust
remains a going concern and this status is supported
by both NHS Improvement and our External Auditors.
It must be noted however that the Trust is reliant on
further Department of Health loan funding included
in our plan which totals £16m during the course of
the year but, after in-year repayments, will be £5m at
year end. Although we are confident that this funding
will be forthcoming, as this has not yet been formally
confirmed for the whole year ahead it does represent
a material uncertainty that may be considered to cast
significant doubt about the Trust's ability to continue
as a going concern. However, we are certain that the
services currently provided by the Trust will continue
to be provided in the foreseeable future and the Trust
fully expects to receive this support as in previous
years so is therefore confident in adopting the going
concern status.

“

The Trust continues to work within the wider health
community to deliver key elements of the Financial
Improvement Programme. The Devon Sustainability
and Transformation Plan is supported by the
Trust Board and the fellow trusts included in its
geographical scope. This programme provides the
strategic pathway to ensure that all partners work
together to restore operational and financial stability.
The current plans for this programme indicate that
the Trust can return to financial balance in two years.
Key plans being developed with the health system
includes actions to reduce elective and outpatient
referrals and actions to reduce and manage
emergency admissions effectively including reducing
the number of patients awaiting transfer to alternative
care settings. The Trust will also supplement
these workstreams with its own internal financial
improvement plans including continuing to generate
procurement savings, tackling high agency spend and
developing alternative workforce models. The Trust
is also using the NHS Improvement ‘Model Hospital’
and ‘Getting it Right First Time’ benchmarking tools to
develop a number of clinical productivity programmes.
The Trust is confident that these actions will help to
bring long-term financial viability whilst delivering safe
and effective care for patients.

@PHNT_NHS and staff on Bickleigh & Tavy wards thank
you for the fantastic care my Mum received this week
#compassion #excellentcare

- @SusanBracefield
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1

1

Chief Executive Statement

It gives me great pleasure to present Plymouth
Hospitals NHS Trust’s annual Quality Account,
representing our report on the quality of services
we provided in 2016/17 and our key priorities for
improvement in 2017/18.
In 2016/17, we continued to face significant
pressure from a sustained increase in the number
of emergency attendances, high levels of acuity and
a high volume of delayed transfers of care to the
wider health and social care community. These
issues have a very real impact on both patients and
staff. Despite these pressures, we are constantly
struck by the very special things that are achieved
by so many amazing people throughout the Trust
every single day.
It was extremely pleasing to once again see this
reflected in the Care Quality Commission’s most
recent report on the quality of care provided by the
Trust. The report, which was published in
November 2016, clearly demonstrates significant
improvements. Whilst we were rated as ‘requires
improvement’ overall, Inspectors reported a
marked improvement and our rating for each of
the five domains assessed by the CQC is shown
below.

The report recognises many areas of outstanding
practice including “an outstanding response from
the critical care teams and the hospital trust to
areas of concern raised in the previous report”. We
are on a journey of continuous improvement and
continue to monitor, review and constantly
improve the quality of care for the services that we
provide.
It was also pleasing to receive the results of the
2016 NHS staff survey which continues to show
improvement, with 86% of questions within the

survey improving on last year. This improvement,
when compared nationally, has moved the Trust
into the top 20% of acute trusts for 3 of the 32 key
findings.
There is an encouraging narrative emerging from
the data which describes the cultural journey of the
organisation. Staff are reporting higher levels of
support from their managers who are showing
active support for their team’s health and
wellbeing. This is also supported by staff feeling an
improved sense of being valued and recognised by
their managers and the organisation.
Notwithstanding these improvements, we are not
complacent and acknowledge there is still much
work to do. We have developed a two year plan
which focuses on establishing equilibrium between
demand and capacity, through significant
improvements in both front door assessment and
alternate pathways to admission and also faster
discharge to more appropriate settings of care.
However, fundamental system transformation is
needed if we are to meet the increasing demands
on health and social care within the finite resources
available. For our part we must, and will, continue
to confront the challenges we face head-on by
seeking and embracing new ways of working for
the benefit of our patients whilst also taking the
time to celebrate the many amazing things that
happen throughout the Trust all day and every day.
I am therefore pleased to present our annual
Quality Account for 2016/17, which I believe to be
a fair and accurate report of our quality and
standards of care.

Ann James
Chief Executive

Quality Account 2016/17
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2

Review of 2016/17

Our core purpose is to deliver excellent hospital
based care to the population of Plymouth and
surrounding areas. We are committed to placing
quality at the heart of everything we do ensuring
that we build quality into all parts of our service
and rigorously focus on its delivery. In May 2015,
the Trust Board approved our Quality Improvement
Strategy which outlined our approach to quality
improvement for the next three years and set out
how we will improve and measure progress against
our stated aims.
In terms of our more specific priorities for 2017/18,
we have completed a consultation process with
patients, staff and other key stakeholders to
identify key areas of focus for the coming year.

2. Our Accountability Report

A number of key documents were considered when
selecting the draft priorities including the Board
Assurance Framework, Sign Up for Safety, Quality
Improvement Plan and CQC areas of focus in the
past year.
We do many amazing things yet sometimes we do
not always achieve the high standards we aspire to.
We deliver highly complex, specialist treatment
every day but we do not always get the simple
things right. We are passionate about continuously
improving the quality and safety of care provided
to our patients.

We are committed to delivering safe, caring,
effective, responsive and well-led services as this
means that our patients will be treated with care,
compassion, dignity and respect in addition to
receiving high quality clinical care that is personal
to each individual.

Building Capability
In 2016/2017, we continued our work on quality
improvement with the introduction of our Quality
Academy. This represents our approach to quality
improvement and includes the work carried out by
our quality improvement teams, the quality faculty,
human factors group, simulation group and the
other aspects of quality improvement including
educational resources such as our masters
programmes.
Our aim is to improve the capability of our frontline
staff to empower them to be able to carry out small
scale quality improvement projects or to provide
support for trust wide improvement projects. In
December 2016, we held our first academy training
day where we had 150 delegates, including patient
representatives, attend for training in quality
improvement. The day was extremely well
attended with excellent feedback. As we look into
2017, a further event will take place for our staff
and training will be provided for our service line
managers in quality improvement methodologies.
Our frontline staff who attend these events are
being encouraged to join in with quality
improvement projects of their own or with the
Trust priority projects. Alongside this work, we are
developing our website to enable all of our projects
to be monitored to make it easier for projects to be
conducted which would also carry resources
providing information for our staff on how best to
carry out improvement work.

Quality Account 2016/17
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Our strategic approach to quality continues to
develop and is grouped under the Care Quality
Commission’s (CQC) five domains of care as
illustrated below.

Our aim is to be a safe and highly effective hospital
which is highly rated by our patients and one which
staff are happy to work in. In achieving this, we
seek to constantly improve our services, shaped by
what our patients tell us, and be quick to respond
to problems and fix underlying causes.

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

Our commitment to quality

2

Review of 2016/17

Care Quality Commission
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the
organisation which regulates and inspects health
and social care services in England. All NHS
hospitals are required to be registered with the
CQC in order to provide services and are required
to maintain specified fundamental standards of
quality and safety in order to retain their
registration. As part of its role the CQC is required
to monitor the quality of services provided across
the NHS to make sure that they provide people
with safe, effective, compassionate, high-quality
care and to take action where standards fall short
of the fundamental standards. Their assessment of
quality is based on a range of diverse sources of
information about each Trust in addition to their
own observations during periodic, planned and
unannounced inspections.

During the previous inspection we were rated as
‘Requires Improvement’ overall. The follow up
inspection therefore focussed on those areas rated
previously as ‘Requires Improvement’ and
‘Inadequate’. The CQC also inspected the Well Led
domain at Trust level. The CQC’s Quality Report
was published in November 2016.
Whilst we have again been rated as ‘Requires
Improvement’ overall for our services, the report
clearly demonstrates significant improvements
across the core services.
The CQC have aggregated the ratings from the
previous inspection and given new overall ratings
for each core service. Inspectors have reported a
marked improvement and there are no more
‘Inadequate’ ratings. Our ratings for each of the
five domains assessed by the CQC are shown:

No enforcement action was taken against the Trust
during 2016/17 and the Trust was not the subject
of a responsive inspection. The Trust was, however
the subject of a planned CQC inspection in JulyAugust 2016 as a follow up to the comprehensive
inspection that was carried out in April 2015.

From this in 2015 …

…. to this in 2016.

Quality Account 2016/17
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Of the 18 domains rated as ‘Requires
Improvement’ or ‘Inadequate’ for Derriford
Hospital in 2015 we have improved in 13. Of
particular note is the dramatic improvement in
Outpatients and Diagnostic Imaging. For Mount
Gould Hospital we improved in the Safe Care
domain from ‘Requires Improvement’ to ‘Good’.



The action plan designed to address the
Requirement Notices is in the process of being
implemented.
Monthly updates on the
implementation of our actions and ongoing
programmes of work to address the issues raised
by the CQC have been provided to the CQC, NEW
Devon Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS
Improvement.

The report recognises many areas of outstanding
practice including “an outstanding response from
the critical care teams and the hospital trust to
areas of concern raised in the previous report”.

The Requirement Notices and the Trust’s response
may be summarised as follows:

The Quality Report details a number of
Requirement Notices. A Requirement Notice is
issued where:

2. Our Accountability Report

Area
Responsive Care
Urgent and
Emergency
Services

The CQC found that:

What are we doing to put this right?

Improvement was required in:
 Delivery of the four-hour
performance standard.
 Continuing to work with
commissioners and the local
mental health service provider
to ensure mental health
patients arriving at the
emergency department receive
the care they require in a timely
manner.



Improvements were required in the:
• Reduction of waiting times and
delays for an outpatient
appointment.
• Number of clinics cancelled and
capturing the reasons why
clinics were cancelled.

•
•





•

Delivering the Putting Patients First Programme.
This programme aims to stop patients spending
time in hospital unnecessarily thereby freeing up
beds for patients to be transferred to from the
Emergency Department.
Improving medical staffing numbers.
Reviewing the business case for redesign of the
Emergency Department.
Continue ongoing local review of Mental Health
Service, review the Pathway and Contractual
issues.
Delivering the managed discharge programme.
Developing a plan across the high volume service
lines of patients currently on the waiting list to
determine if the patients can be managed in
primary care, managed via a shared care model
with both primary and secondary care or if they
need to remain within secondary care.
Developing a plan with the high volume service
lines for developing alternative approaches to
follow up care, e.g. Patient Initiated Care.

Quality Account 2016/17
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Outpatients and
Diagnostic
Imaging

The provider is acting in breach of the
regulations; the impact on people using the
service is not immediately significant; and the
CQC assess that the provider should be able to
improve its standards within a reasonable
timeframe.
The provider has no history of poor
performance that gives rise to wider concerns.

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

We were the first Trust in the south west to be
awarded Outstanding for Caring and we have
retained this rating. This rating puts our Trust in an
elite group of NHS Trusts in the country to be
awarded ‘Outstanding’ in this category.

2
Area

Safe Care
Urgent and
Emergency
Services

Medical Care

Review of 2016/17
The CQC found that:

What are we doing to put this right?
• Where alternative methods of follow up cannot be
introduced for clinical reasons each service line
will develop a plan as to how they will reduce the
number of patients in the backlog of
appointments.
• Review any incidents related to the follow up
backlog.
• Amend Access Policy to make recording of clinic
cancellation reason mandatory.
• Monitor clinics cancelled with no reason recorded
at Service Line level and publicise.
• Publicise number of clinics cancelled with < 6
weeks notice at Service Line Level - understand
reasons why and develop actions to combat areas
where cancellations are not reasonable e.g. due to
annual leave

Improvements were required to:
• Review performance data in the
emergency
department
to
ensure it is accurately captured
and reported
• Ensure the paediatric early
warning score is implemented
fully and used consistently.
• Ensure the safe storage of
intravenous fluids.
is
• Ensure all equipment
maintained in accordance with
the trust’s service schedule.

•

Improvements were required in:
• Ensuring that equipment stored
on wards and in corridors does
not obstruct or impede the
access to and through fire exits.
• Reviewing the available storage
to patients who self-medicate
and retain their own medicines
on the wards.

•

•
•

•

•
•
•
•

Conduct review of admin process to enable
accuracy of time of arrival
ensuring that
Receptionists are booking in time of arrival.
Auditing current practice in use of the paediatric
early warning score, providing education where
required and sharing at Team Review.
Adding locks to the intravenous fluid storage
cupboard.
Following up all outstanding services on
equipment in the Emergency Department and
completing Technical Inspection of medical
devices in the Emergency Department.
Exploring available medical device databases on
the market with a view to purchasing a new
database to enable better management of service
schedules and other management information.
Develop a forward plan and undertake Fire Safety
Officer Walk arounds.
Run an awareness campaign related to the risk of
obstructed fire exits.
Each ward to undertake a risk assessment
regarding their equipment storage arrangements.
Setting the standard for the new patient lockers,
purchasing the new locker as new lockers are
required and agreeing an implementation strategy
for a staged replacement programme.

Quality Account 2016/17
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Our overall performance in 2016/17
The average number of daily attendances to our
Emergency Department continues to increase. In
March 2017, there was a daily average of 270
attendances. Furthermore, patients who arrive at
our Emergency Department are more acutely
unwell, with over 39.1% of patients triaged in the
highest two categories in March 2017, which
equates to 105 patients per day compared with 99
per day in February 2016. The level of operational
pressure has resulted in a significant increase in
elective cancellations in the early months of 2017.
An increase in medical outliers and a delayed
discharge position which remains poor has added
to the level of challenge.

The core quality metrics we have used and
reported throughout 2016/17 are shown in
Annex A.

Review of Services
During 2016/17 Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust
continued to provide (or sub contract) 64 NHS
services. The Trust has reviewed all data available
on quality of care in all these NHS services.
The income generated by the NHS services
reviewed in 2016/17 represents 100% of the total
income generated from the provision of NHS
services by Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust for
2016/17.

Goals agreed with Commissioners

Between April 2016 and the end of March 2017 the
following cancellations occurred:

Assurance Statements

2. Our Accountability Report

Throughout this time we saw more patients attend
and be admitted as emergencies. This meant we
did not have beds available for those patients
coming in for planned operations, with a particular
lack of critical care beds resulting in the
cancellation of planned surgery.

An element of Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust
income in 2016/17 was conditional on achieving
quality improvement and innovation goals through
the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
payment framework. The Trust received virtually
all CQUIN funding in 2016/17 on the basis of high
levels of achievement of milestones. The Trust has
an agreed list of CQUIN schemes with
Commissioners for 2017/18. Further information
on CQUINs can be found on the NHS England
website.
www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-standard-contract/cquin/

We tried to give patients and their families as much
notice as possible when cancelling their surgery
and did everything we could to discharge people as
quickly and safely as possible.

Underpinning quality in the organisation we have a
series of assurance statements, a summary of each
is set out below, with further details included
within Annex C Assurance Statements.
 Clinical Coding: Clinical Coding is the process by
which patient diagnosis and treatment is
translated into standard, recognised codes
which reflect the activity that happens to
patients. The accuracy of this coding is a
fundamental indicator of the accuracy of
patient records.
 Data Quality: Clinicians and managers need
ready access to accurate and comprehensive

Quality Account 2016/17
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 1904 on the day cancellations for hospital
reasons (equating to 3.03% over the year)
 306 not rebooked within 28-days as per
national standard
 6462 cancelled between 0-7 days before
planned treatment (the 1904 are a subset of
these)

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

The Trust continues to be fully registered with the
CQC across all of its locations without conditions
and continues to monitor compliance across all of
the fundamental standards. We are on a journey
of continuous improvement and we continue to
monitor, review and constantly improve the quality
of care across the services that we provide.

2

Review of 2016/17

data to support the delivery of high quality
care. Improving the quality and reliability of
information is therefore a fundamental
component of quality improvement
 Duty of Candour: The Trust ensures Duty of
Candour requirements are implemented
following any ‘moderate harm’ or above
graded incident once it has occurred. Where a
patient safety incident has caused harm, an
apology is offered to the relevant person,
which is a sincere expression of sorrow or
regret for any possible harm and distress
caused.
 Revalidation: Medical & Nursing - Revalidation
is the process by which all licensed doctors are
required to demonstrate on a regular basis that
they are up to date and fit to practice in their
chosen field and able to provide a good level of
care. Nursing and midwifery revalidation also
requires all Nursing & Midwifery Council
registrants to revalidate every 3 years in order
to maintain their registration.

Clinical Audit
Clinical audit provides a means of measuring how
well care is being provided compared to
expectations of good practice. It underpins several
quality improvement areas for the Trust,
particularly:
 Demonstrating clinical governance
 Promoting and enabling best practice
 Improving patient experience and outcomes
 Facilitating corporate learning
 Encouraging staff development
 Providing a platform for ongoing quality
improvement
The Trust has a yearly programme of clinical audits
which are categorised into the following priorities:
 Priority 1 - External must do (national audit)
 Priority 2 - Corporate must do (for example
clinical record keeping audits)
 Priority 3 - Service Line must do (compliance
with NICE guidance)
 Priority 4 - Specialist Interest

During 2016/17 the Trust participated in 95% of the
open, relevant national audits as defined by HQIP
(Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership).
These audits are detailed in Annex D.
During 2016/17 hospitals were eligible to enter
data into four National Confidential Enquiry into
Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) studies.
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust submitted data for
all four studies which are detailed in Annex D.
In 2016/17 we also completed 62 planned ‘Priority
2’ audits including clinical record keeping audit and
Ionising Radiation (Medical Exposure) Regulation
(IRMER), 39 ‘Priority 3’ audits and 53 ‘Priority 4’
audits and 31 service evaluations. A number of
improvements have been made as a result of these
audits.
Examples of these audits and the
associated improvements are summarised in Annex
E.

Follow-up Backlogs
Patients often require a ‘follow up’ appointment
with a healthcare professional following an initial
consultation, operation or procedure.
These
appointments can include, for example, a
discussion about test results, an assessment of how
a patient is progressing in recovering from or living
with a disease, how a patient is responding to a
drug therapy treatment or how they are
progressing following surgery.
Additionally
patients will receive follow up care for therapies
such as physiotherapy, speech and language
therapy, occupational therapy and dietetics.
Despite the fact the Trust completed around
400,000 follow up consultations in 2016-17 there
were still a large number of patients who did not
receive their follow up appointment by the date
the healthcare professional indicated would be
appropriate. This is important to both the patient
and the hospital due to any associated clinical risk
with having an appointment later than originally
deemed appropriate and it also represents a
commitment made to the patient that has not been
met by the hospital.

Quality Account 2016/17
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The number of time critical patients who have
waited past their see by date stands at 5,732 at the
end of March 2017. The services that account for
the largest number of patients are ophthalmology,
neurology and rheumatology (over 60% of the
total).
A combination of competing clinical
priorities, including pressure to achieving waiting
time for new patients referred and reduced clinic
capacity due to the need to increase ward rounds
due to the higher number of medical patients
admitted to the hospital, means current practices
need to be reviewed in order to eliminate the at
risk backlog as a matter of priority. The number of
Ophthalmology patients in the higher risk
categories has increased in the past 12 months,
and accounts for 44% of the overall at risk
numbers, due to the difficulties in securing and
retaining consultant specialist roles.

Patient Feedback

% of patients
recommending by month
April 2016
May 2016
June 2016
July 2016
August 2016
September 2016
October 2016
November 2016
December 2016
January 2017
February 2017
March 2017

Inpatient &
Daycase
96.58%
94.16%
95.20%
95.34%
95.65%
96.00%
96.40%
96.06%
96.02%
95.54%
95.93%
96.52%

Emergency
Department
94.74%
94.36%
95.19%
94.86%
95.58%
95.12%
93.50%
92.87%
92.38%
92.40%
91.85%
92.68%

Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs)
A summary of our PROMs results in 2016/17 is
shown in Annex B. PROMS are used to assess the
quality of care delivered to NHS patients from the
patient perspective. Currently covering four clinical
procedures, PROMs calculate the health gains after
surgical treatment using pre- and post-operative
surveys. The four procedures are hip replacements,
knee replacements, groin hernia and varicose
veins.
PROMs describe a patient's health status or healthrelated quality of life at a single point in time, and
are collected through short, self-completed
questionnaires. This health status information is
collected from patients through questionnaires
before and after a procedure and provides an
indication of the outcomes or quality of care
delivered to NHS patients.
Participation rates have improved overall to 59.1%,
with hips and knees both over 96%, further work is
required to increase level for groin hernia and
varicose veins.

Friends and Family Test Patients

Quality Account 2016/17
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Moving forward, services are working together
with clinicians from both the community and the
hospital to develop alternative ways of providing
follow up care and to introduce changes to the
patient’s pathway to provide follow up care in the
most appropriate place for the patient, which may
not be a hospital based appointment. We will also
improve our clinical administration processes to
support the timely decision making around patient
management and to prevent unnecessary delays in
appointments.

Our Inpatient & Daycase results have remained
steady throughout 2016/17, although Emergency
Services has dropped slightly. All results are
published monthly on the Trust website. Further
detail is shown in Annex B Core Indicators.
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At the end of March 2017 the number of patients
who had not received their appointment by the
date indicated was 30,710. This is compared to
32,698 in March 2016. These figures include
patient records where the follow up see by date
has not been identified. The Trust has an electronic
system of flagging patients as being ‘time critical’
for the follow up appointment, with time critical
indicating the patient may be at risk of harm if they
wait longer to be seen than the date given. This
allows for prioritisation of appointments to the
highest risk patients.
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Review of 2016/17

Staff Feedback

National Staff Survey

Friends and Family Test Staff

The National Staff Survey gives us an annual report
on our progress and in 2016 over 3000 of our
people gave us their views. This meant that 48% of
our staff responded, ranking our response rate in
the highest 20% of acute trusts.

The Friends and Family Test for staff was
introduced in 2013 and is one of the key data
sources used to monitor staff satisfaction. The
question was changed from 'If a friend or relative
needed treatment I would be happy with the
standard of care provided by this organisation' in
2013/14 to ‘How likely are you to recommend
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust to friends and family
if they needed care or treatment?’ in 2014/15. The
Trust’s performance in this regard is summarised
below.
Staff FFT Question 12d
How likely are you to
recommend Plymouth
Hospitals NHS Trust to
friends and family if they
needed care or treatment?’

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

79.11%

87.10%

81.63%*

*NB Quarter 2 16/17 data.

We know that without our dedicated staff we
would not be able to deliver outstanding care to
our patients. Our people make a difference every
day to people who need their expertise and
compassion.
As an organisation the Trust is committed to
employee engagement and involvement with a
genuine interest in hearing and acting on employee
feedback.
Knowing how our people feel about working in the
Trust is very important – it helps us to understand
the things we are getting right and where we can
work with our staff to make improvements.
The HR&OD team have worked closely with
colleagues across various teams throughout the
Trust, including Service Improvement and
Communications, and together have introduced a
number of methods that support and encourage
staff
in
contributing
ideas,
supporting
improvement, celebrating staff and raising
concerns:

Our data tells us staff experience is improving,
despite a very challenging and complex year. We
reduced the number of areas where we were in the
bottom 20% from 14 to 8 and now have 3 areas in
the top 20% of acute trusts. We are also pleased to
note that our rate of improvement progress has
been greater than that of the average of acute
trusts.
Big Conversations
We had a number of Big Conversations with our
staff last year about four Trust-wide focus areas
identified from the national Staff Survey; these
were appraisal, value & recognition, raising
concerns and flexible working. Improvements have
been made in all of the questions relating to these
areas. We have listened hard to our staff and made
big changes to the way we carry out appraisals. It’s
great to hear the positive comments our staff are
saying. This year we are going to continue to use
the Big Conversations and have identified three
areas for special focus:
 Patient Care: understanding how best to
support staff with delivering the quality of care
they aspire to deliver whilst recognising how
their role makes a difference to our patients.
 Contributions to improvement: encouraging
staff to get involved in making changes to
improve things for their service or patients.
 Training and development: Understanding
what good quality training is like for staff.
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Review of 2016/17
Recruitment

‘Your Voice’ is exactly that; the opportunity for all
staff to use their voice by attending our ‘staff
council’ with Ann James, to network and to bring
ideas to talk with colleagues about.

The Trust has an absolute commitment to ensuring
there are enough staff with the correct skillset to
provide safe, quality care for our patients.
Recruitment of key frontline clinical staff remains
challenging both locally and nationally as a result of
issues that have impacted on supply of staff and
also the changing labour market. The Trust has to
adapt to both the new healthcare workforce
landscape and continue to deliver significant
efficiencies in order to maintain financial
robustness.

Our Staff Volunteers programme – a Your Voice
initiative – is on the cusp of being launched. The
programme aims to bring non-clinical and clinical
colleagues working together with patients being at
the heart of the scheme. It is an open and inclusive
opportunity available to all Trust employees.
Value & Recognition

2. Our Accountability Report

We have introduced two ways to appreciate our
staff; Thank You cards and Excellence Awards,
these allow staff to get personal thanks for going
“above and beyond” in their daily work. Patients
are able to use both the Thank You cards and also
to nominate staff for an Excellence Award. Staff
told us they want personal feedback from
colleagues and patients that is personal to them
and meaningful and research clearly links this with
improved outcomes for patients. We are also
supporting an approach called Learning from
Excellence; working with clinical colleagues to
identify where things are going right and
recognising the staff involved by giving thanks and
feedback. Learning from what has gone well is then
disseminated positively across the Trust.

Temporary staffing across the NHS remains an issue
and, whilst bank, agency and locum spend is
necessary to maintain safe services, it is
comparatively expensive when compared to
employing substantive staff and one of the Trust
priorities is to continue to look at areas with
difficult to recruit to posts and look at alternative
ways of working. New roles such as doctors
assistants and nursing associates are working well
in pockets across the Trust and provide not only
more cost effective solutions to staffing the Trust
but also provide a better career pathway for many
of our unregistered support staff. In addition to
this, the Trust continues to recruit internationally
to critical posts that cannot be filled in any other
way and also has streamlined the recruitment
process significantly reducing the amount of time it
takes to get staff into post over the past two years.

Freedom to Speak Up Guardian

4. Appendices

We have welcomed two Freedom to Speak Up
Guardians and are looking to appoint a third to
complete and complement the team. The team will
create a support network and will support the Trust
in ensuring that our people feel safe to speak up
and that appropriate action is taken when they do.
Charlotte Burgoyne and Dr Jamie Read will be
working across all staff groups to raise awareness
and will report directly to the Chief Executive and
the Trust Board.
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Progress against 2016/17 priorities

In 2016/2017, we had an increased focus on
quality improvement at the same time as we
strengthened our assurance processes. Our
strategy has been to focus on key priorities for the
organisation and to oversee these through the
Quality Improvement Committee. Secondly, we
have continued to develop the capability of our
staff within the organisation enabling them to
improve the quality of care that they offer. Thirdly,
we have continued to foster the links between
hospitals and other organisations to work together
to improve the quality of care to patients across
the community.
Last year we identified three priority areas for
improvement as follows:
 Priority 1: Staffing
 Priority 2: Reduce the number of patients who
are cancelled
 Priority 3: Improve the quality & reliability of
care
Achievement against each of these priorities is set
out below.
Priority 1: Staffing – improve the patient
experience by ensuring our wards and
departments have the correct levels of staff with
the appropriate skills
Background
Having the right nursing staff in the right place at
the right time is a fundamental element to delivery
of safe high quality care for our patients. Patient
survey results show us patients do not always feel
the wards are adequately staffed. Nursing,
midwifery and care staff, working as part of wider
multidisciplinary teams, play a critical role in
securing high quality care and excellent outcomes
for patients.
What we did well
We were one of 32 hospitals selected to work with
Lord Carter and the Department of Health to
collectively consider the challenges faced in
nursing and midwifery staffing. The outcome of

this work has been shared nationally and includes
guidance on ensuring staff rosters are produced as
efficiently as possible using an electronic system,
the use of agency and temporary staffing and
reviewing some nursing roles.
The safer Staffing return continues to be submitted
monthly, with February 2017 showing a 91.10% fill
rate.
This information will continue to be
submitted and inform the Model Hospital and
nursing dashboards.
Patient acuity and dependency scores continue to
be recorded in real time using the Safe Care
System. This ensures we accurately match staffing
levels to the patients in our care. This is calculated
in the form of Care Hours per Patient Day and
helps to inform the decision making when moving
staff from one ward to another.
Nursing and midwifery staffing is monitored and
reported monthly via NHS Choices and the Trust
website. We publish our staffing levels for each
shift on a poster at the entrance to our wards. We
also have a poster in each bay stating the name of
the nurse responsible for their care and the nurse
in charge of each shift.
We introduced the new trainee nursing associate
role as part of the multi-disciplinary workforce in
January 2017. This role aims to bridge the gap
between health support workers who have a
qualification and graduate registered nurses. As
part
of
the
Devon
wide
Sustainable
Transformational Programmes 69 trainee nursing
associates were recruited, 17 of which will be
based at Derriford Hospital
We are recruiting a further 4 whole time
equivalent health care assistants to the nursing
pool, who can work flexibly across the hospital to
cover absence and vacancies.
Our effective use of the E-rostering system has
enabled the effective redeployment of nursing
hours across the hospital.
#GoldenTime has been introduced in our inpatient
ward areas. This provides an hour each day where
matrons work on their wards alongside their
Quality Account 2016/17
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Progress against 2016/17 priorities

All staffing information is now available in a format
that allows us to compare the relationship
between the care and experience our patients
receive.
We introduced electronic auditing of our practice
so we know exactly how well we are doing.
We introduced daily feedback through safety briefs
in our admission areas to ensure our staff learn
when we do not treat patients in a timely fashion
and to celebrate and learn from those occasions
when we get it right.
What we need to work on

2. Our Accountability Report

We will continue to work on recruiting and
retaining nurses and care staff. This will include
new recruitment incentives to provide targeted
offers to those areas difficult to staff. We will also
continue to look closely at the reasons for staff
leaving to understand the experience of staff
working in the Trust.
Agreed ward staffing levels are measured against
the standards set within published guidance on
safer staffing. We will continue to monitor staffing
levels very carefully in order to keep our patients
safe and well cared for.

Next steps
We recognise the importance of ensuring that we
have the right staff, in the right place and at the
right time, but in common with the wider NHS, the
Trust continues to face significant workforce
challenges. We continue to adopt innovative
approaches to the recruitment of clinical staff but

 Improve the hospital website in order to
attract staff to the organisation and develop a
prospectus to inform potential staff about our
specialist areas.
 Complete an annual establishment review In
line with the National Quality Board
recommendations.
 Put in place a quarterly review process to
ensure workforce plans remain in alignment
with the Trust’s financial and activity plans.
This approach will ensure that we not only
track delivery but that we also revise our plans
to meet our activity requirements by adapting
roles and skills mix in light of changing
recruitment market features.
 Progress the reporting of all health roster
metrics to enable real time monitoring of ward
performance of rosters, including the Carter
metrics on workforce efficiencies.
 Implement the full guidance regarding Care
Hours per Patient Day. This will allow us to
review the amount of nursing hours that is
needed to care for our patients safely.
Priority 2: Reduce the number of patients who are
cancelled and ensure patients are able to access
services within acceptable timeframes
Background
Patients have the right to expect timely care which
is in line with best practice. The Trust has recently
experienced difficulties with capacity which
resulted in cancellations for patients and longer
waits for treatment than we would like.
What we did well
When reviewing data from December 2016
compared to March 2017, those patients who have
a length of stay of more than 50 days has reduced
Quality Account 2016/17
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We will improve the public’s perception of staffing
levels on our wards and the number of patients
who feel their call bells were answered within 5
minutes of requesting assistance.

face challenges in recruiting staff in some key
service areas and are developing a stronger plan
for addressing these issues on a sustainable basis

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

clinical teams. Whilst maintaining this has been
challenging due to operational pressures, the
matrons remain committed to this project and
have designed an evaluation form which will be
circulated shortly to collect feedback and collate
potential improvements going forward.
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Progress against 2016/17 priorities

by 58% and for those patients who have a length
of stay of more than 7 days there is a reduction of
20%. This enables more patients to be admitted
for their treatment.
Next steps
We need to drive the delivery of the Putting
Patients First Programme and work with health
and social care partners to ensure there is a
reduction in the overall numbers of beds used
within the hospital in urgent care.

reduce unnecessary admissions and reduce lengths
of stay. These in turn will improve efficiency
throughout the hospital and deliver savings in both
emergency and elective care.
We will increase our MRI capacity to ensure that
through internal resources we meet demand,
avoid the costs of outsourcing and ensure delivery
of improved outcomes for patients.
Priority 3: Improve the quality and reliability of the
care we provide to our patients
Background
Untreated sepsis can progress to severe sepsis,
multi-organ failure, septic shock and ultimately
death. Septic shock has a 50% mortality rate, in
children this is estimated to be 10 – 15% and is the
most common cause of direct maternal death.
Around 35,000 people die from sepsis in England
each year.

Through ‘right sizing’ the hospital we will remove
inefficiencies and waste and more importantly
reduce the daily frustration of clinicians and clinical
management by enabling them to treat their
patients without the pressures of operational
pressures. There will be an unrelenting focus on
reducing the average length of stay and ensuring
we are able to stay within our safe staffing levels
and bed base.
Emergency Department
Reconfiguration of our Emergency Department will
ensure it is capable of providing the capacity and
quality of care required to meet current and future
demand. It will provide the right environment to
improve outcomes by facilitating rapid assessment
by senior staff supported by a full range of
diagnostics, providing enhanced ambulatory and
“23 hour” care and access to the most appropriate
services. These improvements will help deliver
national access standards, improve efficiency,

As a patient in hospital there is a chance that if you
deteriorate you may not receive the necessary
response in a timely fashion. This may cause you to
be more unwell, affect your treatment, increase
your length of stay and alter your views about your
experience in hospital.
In September 2015, NHS England issued a Stage
two patient safety alert supporting the
introduction of the National Safety standards for
Invasive procedures (NatSSIPS). All organisations
providing NHS funded care were required to
respond.
What we did well
Sepsis
The year has seen a significant improvement in
sepsis management across the organisation. Time
to antibiotics has improved from 5 hours to 44
minutes. Assessment tools and educational
resources have been provided to our staff and the
learning from our acute admission areas is now
being spread to those wards where the highest
incidences of sepsis are likely. The organisation has
Quality Account 2016/17
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Deteriorating Patients
We reviewed and defined the high level metrics
which provide assurance to the organisation that
we are minimising risk to patients. Including
cardiac arrest and medical emergencies per 1000
bed days, graphs are shown below.

across the world, for example patients being
administered the wrong drugs or surgery being
performed on the wrong part of the body, this
drive represents a huge step forward in eliminating
such errors.
Through collaboration with our workforce and
suppliers, and other trusts on the Scan4Safety
programme, we will have a system that can help
ensure that every product used in hospital is
assigned to the right location, to the right patient,
and is backed up by the right purchase orders and
invoices. This will benefit Plymouth and the wider
NHS as it delivers efficiencies that will help
enhance the quality of care we can provide.
Sample mislabelling

2. Our Accountability Report

We have produced a policy that sets out the
minimum standards for patient observations and
monitoring, which was presented and agreed at
the Nursing & Midwifery Operational Committee in
July 2016.
Scan4Safety

Harm Free Care
We set up the Harm Free Care Group to reduce
harm to our patients and improve our patient
experience by reducing pain and length of stay and
to provide a safe, effective and efficient service for
patients.
Next steps
 Continue the roll out of Scan4Safety,
 Build on 2017 achievements in the
management of sepsis,
 Further reduction of pressure ulcers and falls
by 10%
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The Trust was successful in becoming a
Scan4Safety demonstrator site. In the future all
materials and locations will have a barcode. The
barcodes mean that everything from a screw used
in a knee operation to a breast implant, that may
develop a fault years later, can be instantly traced.
We can find out details such as when it was used
and the surgeon who carried out the procedure.
Given the impact of avoidable harm in hospitals

A significant piece of work has been carried out in
the last year to reduce the number of errors as a
consequence of samples being mislabelled. New
trolleys that can be used at the bedside will reduce
the risks of samples being labelled away from the
patient. Feedback is now provided to areas
affected by these problems and monitoring
mislabelling incidents is reviewed by the
departments affected.
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been shortlisted in the national patient safety
awards for the work on sepsis. This work will
continue in 2017 and 2018. We are part of the
national CQUIN programme.
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Celebrating our successes

Whilst we faced a number of key challenges in
2016/17 there is much to be proud of. During the
year we improved the quality of our services in
many areas, some of our key achievements are
described below.

The 6 C’s
We have continued to embed the 6C’s projects
across the hospital which represents the Chief
Nursing Officer's (CNO) vision and strategy for
building a culture of compassionate care, based
around six values;







Care
Compassion
Courage
Communication
Competence
Commitment

Commitment
Golden Bed
The golden bed initiative is an integral part of the
daily operational running of the hospital. We
identify 10-20 golden beds per day where patients
will be discharged before 10:00. Our current focus
is identifying “amber boxes” (those patients that
will go home tomorrow) and ensuring pharmacy,
transport, relatives and patient are aware of
morning discharge arrangements. The golden bed
remains important in order to get early flow from
the assessment wards to the rest of the
organisation allowing flow from the emergency
department to the assessment units.

To support the change, a Visitors’ Charter for adult
inpatients was developed, outlining what we will
do as staff and what we ask our visitors to do. The
charter includes standards that we ask all of our
visitors to respect, such as ensuring that no more
than two people visit a patient at any one time,
supporting and encouraging the patient during
mealtimes, observing quiet times or being asked to
leave for a short period of time, such as during
doctors’ rounds, etc.
Judy, Matron for Cardiothoracic and Vascular, said:
“We hoped, by opening our wards up for longer to
families, loved ones and carers, it will enable them
to be more involved in their relatives’ care and
planning for their discharge home or to onward
care.”
Sue, Matron for Trauma, Orthopaedics and
Rheumatology, added: “We already had a number
of wards that were ‘open’ or had extended their
openings hours and the feedback from them had
been really positive.
“However, we also recognise that changing all of
our wards was a big change. We hope that this
partnership is making a difference and that this still
is the right thing to do for our patients and their
families.”

Communication
#letsbeopen
The #letsbeopen campaign was introduced by
former Matron Emma Wilkinson and following her
departure, it has been led by Matrons Judy Frame
and
Sue
Timmins,
supported
by
the
Communications Team.
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As a follow on from Tea with Matron for patients
we have now commenced regular Tea with Staff
where staff are offered the opportunity to meet
with matron, this aims to link patient and staff
experience. Matrons meeting with staff informally
allows for real time feedback from those at the
front line of patient care which is vital in ensuring
the care we give is delivered effectively. This time
allows members of our teams to talk openly about
their day to day challenges. Operational matrons
are holding Tea with Staff in a variety of forums for
example, incorporated into block training weeks,
formal planned sessions, matrons being available
during staff break times or actually joining staff at
break times. Moving forward with our Tea with
Staff commitment we are developing a feedback
form, as listening and responding to all staff is vital
in planning for the future.

2. Our Accountability Report

Courage

Compassion
Bereavement Cards
In June 2016 as part of the Compassion element of
the 6C’s project the Trust began sending
bereavement cards to the families of patients who
have died whilst in hospital. Included in the card is
information on how they can arrange to talk with
someone about the death of their loved one if they
thought that would be helpful. As an organisation
we have an obligation to care not only for the dying
patient but for their significant others. It is hoped
that this project will demonstrate that as a Trust
we are honest and open about the treatment we
provide and that we have committed, caring and
compassionate staff. By providing relatives with
the opportunity to be better informed and
supported through the bereavement process we
hope to make things easier for them at a very
difficult time. This project has now been fully rolled
out throughout the Trust and has been received
well. Feedback has been positive about the care
provided by staff and on many occasions families
have asked us to extend their thanks and gratitude
to the ward staff as they had not had the
opportunity to do this.

Ward Rounds
This project followed feedback from patients and
staff around principles of a ‘model ward round’.
Four key elements have been identified to achieve
an efficient, valuable ward for the patients and
staff across all groups. These principles are iPAT:
Introductions (#hellomynameis)
Privacy and dignity
Agree plan with the patient
Allow Time for questions

We believe iPAT should be led by the nurse on the
ward round who acts as an advocate for the
patient. As each ward/speciality will need to focus
on different clinical review points, the project team
have focused on the overarching ‘how should a
ward round feel’ principles.

Examples of the card we send.
In December 2016 this project was nominated for
Patient Experience National Network Awards
(PENNA). We were finalists in two categories
‘Support for Caregivers, Friends and Family’
category and the ‘Communicating Effectively with
Patients and Families’ category.
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The awards were held on the 21 March 2017 in
Birmingham and we won the ‘Support for
Caregivers, Friends and Family’ category.
Care
The review of cot sides and the reduction of falls
We identified that patients falling in our care is the
most common cause of harm within our hospital. A
proportion of these patients have sustained injuries
after falling from a bed. As part of our 6cs
commitment we have worked with ward teams to
ensure that patients are assessed for use of bed
rails in a consistent manner, that patients are
consulted about whether bed rails are appropriate
for them and that staff identify risks which might
cause harm from bed rail use.
We have worked with wards to ensure that they
have equipment available which will help to reduce
the risk of patients falling from a bed and
sustaining harm. Sensor alarms are used to alert
nurses that a patient may need some supervision
when mobilising or have a need that requires
assistance such as help with toileting. Low profile
beds are utilised when a patient is at risk of falling
from bed but a bed rail will increase the risk of
harm. We also attempt to utilise bay nursing
overnight where a nurse is in the bay throughout
the night thus reducing the risk of the patient
stumbling in the dark.

the ward staff and is helping to reduce the number
of falls in the high risk areas.
Competence
Having identified that within theatres we did not
have a standardised developmental competency
tool available for the different bands of nursing and
anaesthetic practitioners, competency packs were
developed for individual bands of staff. The
bespoke competency tool was designed to act as a
signpost for role development and method to
record progression.
The competency tool can be used to demonstrate
development as part of the appraisal process.
Following a review the pack has recently been relaunched and learners joining theatre central and
staff that have been promoted will be provided
with the competency pack to signpost expected
developmental progression within the role.
Prompt cue cards were developed relating to key
skills and policies that are critical to safety within
theatres. The response to the cards was an
overwhelming success; following a review changes
will be made to the content of the cards to reflect
recent changes in policy and practice. The plan is
to update the cards and distribute to all new
learners.
The development of E-log book remains an
aspiration; our IT partners are aware of the desire
to develop a generic competency tool to record
progression in the clinical practical skills. Staff will
continue to record competency development using
the current hardcopy format.
Moving Forward 2017/2018

With the Falls Specialist Nurse now being a
substantive position our plan is to review the bed
rail assessment again, continue teaching at ward
level and also to continue the support into the post
fall reviews. This has been extremely useful for all

In May 2016, Professor Jane Cummings, Chief
Nursing Officer for England launched an updated
National Nursing Strategy ‘Leading Change, adding
Value’.
The strategy offers 10 commitments, which our
matrons and Heads of Nursing have adapted into
10 key improvement projects to build on and
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Cancer services
 Increased number of cancer nurse specialists
available for patient and carer support, this
includes head and neck, sarcoma, upper
gastrointestinal, colorectal, lung, breast
reconstruction and uro-oncology.
 High rating scores for cancer nurse specialists
in the National Cancer Patients Experience
Survey.
 Implemented “straight to test” for patients
referred with suspected colorectal cancer,
reducing the need for patients to attend an
outpatient appointment.
 Successful application for Trust charitable funds
to replace our video conferencing equipment
to enable improved quality safety and
efficiency.
 Implemented “Specialist Care” Oncology
Degree Module for nurses and allied health
professionals.
 Redesigned rooms in our oncology and
haematology wards and departments to meet
the needs of teenage and young adults with
cancer.
 Commenced stereotactic ablative radiotherapy
for lung cancer patients.
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Commitment 1
We will promote a culture where improving the
population’s health is a core component of the practice
of all nursing, midwifery and care staff.
Action: Matrons became flu vaccinators to support
staff uptake.
Commitment 2
We will increase the visibility of nursing and midwifery
leadership and input in prevention.
Action: Implementation of #GoldenTime and
measuring the impact on our staff.
Commitment 3
We will work with individuals, families and
communities to equip them to make informed choices
and manage their own health.
Action: We will ensure patients are supported to make
informed choices by increasing their knowledge
regarding their medication on discharge.
Commitment 4
We will be centred on individuals experiencing high
value care.
Action: Ensure high value care by achieving our
hospital-acquired pressure ulcer and falls reduction
plans
Commitment 5
We will work in partnership with individuals, their
families, carers and others important to them.
Action: Working in partnership to ensure 50% of our
adult wards/departments meet the dementia friendly
standards.
Commitment 6
We will actively respond to what matters most to our
staff and colleagues.
Action: We will respond to the needs of our staff by
ensuring all staff have a voice through our staff Tea
with Matron initiative.
Commitment 7
We will lead and drive research to evidence the impact
of what we do.
Action: We will ensure our patients receive evidence
based care, by the roll out of manual blood pressure
recording across all adult wards.

Commitment 8
We will have the right education, training and
development to enhance our skills, knowledge and
understanding.
Action: We will roll out block training across our
wards.
Commitment 9
We will have the right staff in the right places and at
the right time.
Action: We will embed the SafeCare system across our
wards including the roll out of ‘Red Flag’ functionality.
Commitment 10
We will champion the use of technology and
informatics to improve practice, address unwarranted
variations and enhance outcomes.
Action: We will ensure our wards are fully utilising
SALUS (electronic patient tracking system)
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complement our work in 2016 to deliver the 6 C’s.
The aim of the new strategy is to add value to a
patient’s care to achieve better outcomes, patient
experience and better use of resources. The
commitments are described below:
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 Offering health and wellbeing clinics to patients
and implemented holistic needs assessment for
patients diagnosed with cancer in line with the
National Cancer Strategy.
 New Chemotherapy Day Unit designed to
improve capacity, reduce waiting times for
patients going onto treatment and improve the
patient’s experience.
 Implementing stratified pathways of care and
remote monitoring for patients on colorectal
cancer follow up.
 Appointment of professor in uro-oncology to
increase access to clinical trial drugs
 CQC rating of “Good” overall for End of Life
Care and “Outstanding” for Caring.
 Development of End of Life Strategy in line with
national ambitions document.
We also continue to work to meet the 62 day
standard; redesigning pathways, enabling easy
direct or straight to test for investigations where
appropriate.

options, including fresh fruit but still contains some
tempting dishes for those children who like familiar
food. We have also increased our range of finger
foods available for younger children.
Wildgoose Ward has introduced a calm time out
area for our teenagers. This area is away from the
main ward and provides a calm and re-assuring
area when the main ward becomes difficult for
some of our more challenging teenagers. The
Teenage Charity on Wildgoose Ward supported us
with this project and it has already had an impact
on the ward.
We have significantly invested in improving our
overnight accommodation for parents who wish to
stay by their child’s bed. Our previous provision of
uncomfortable Z-beds and old recliner chairs were
often broken and we did not have enough for all
our parents. With help from the Trust, Children’s
Happy Hospital Fund and the Teenage Fund we
have purchased 30 Buddy Beds. This combines the
functions of a recliner chair and bed to reduce the
space required and be a more comfortable option
for our parents.

The National Cancer Taskforce objectives provides
our plan for the next 3 years and we will continue
to plan and work towards ensuring the best quality,
timely and efficient care and treatment in line with
local need and national guidance.
We are very grateful to our local and national
charities such as the Plymouth and Cornwall Cancer
Fund, Macmillan Cancer Support, Teenage Cancer
Trust, Mesothelioma UK, Trust Charitable Fund
who continue to support patients and staff to
improve cancer care delivery. Financial support has
included backfill for nurses for project
development, funding info flex remote monitoring
service, decorating side rooms for end of life care,
development and training posts, project
management support.

Children’s Services
The paediatric wards have seen the introduction of
a new child friendly menu and the purchase of a
pizza oven. The new menu has lots of healthy

The Gold Dust Appeal has reached its target and
designs are being drawn to improve the
environment for children and young people on
Level 12. Over £100,000 will be spent on improving
the environment with interactive, sensory and
colourful designs.
We have also introduced the Friends and Family
Test (FFT) into our Children and Young Persons
Outpatient Department to encourage children and
their parents / carers to feedback on the service we
provide.
Following some work undertaken by our pain sister,
we have introduced a new pain care plan. This care
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Celebrating our successes
the new guides’ uniforms ensuring they are easily
identifiable to people visiting the hospital.

Dementia friendly award
The Dementia Friendly Community of the Year was
awarded to Plymouth City in 2016 and, as part of
recognising the achievements of the Plymouth
Dementia Action Alliance in raising awareness of
the needs of people with dementia and their
families, the award will be appearing at Derriford
Hospital for one week.
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust are partners in the
Plymouth Dementia Action Alliance (PDAA) and
have been working towards improving the care and
services provided to people with dementia in
hospital.

2. Our Accountability Report

Our Dementia Steering Group have led on a
number of developments, including the
introduction of Dementia Champions, dementia
friendly signage across the hospital, improvements
to ward environments and toilet facilities and a
weekly Memory Café in the Restaurant. They have
also ensured closer working with Care Homes,
Alzheimer’s Society and Older Persons Mental
Health services, staff training on dementia,
including awareness training, Dementia Friends and
Specialist Dementia continuing professional
development education.

Hospital guides
We are aware that the Derriford Hospital building
can seem very daunting to navigate. Our hospital
guides and wayfinding are key to helping people
get to their destination easily. A new Hospital
Guide logo has been designed and will feature on

Making mealtimes matter
To coincide with the Nutrition and Hydration Week
in March 2017 the hospital ran a number of
different initiatives as part of our Making
Mealtimes Matter Campaign, which aims to raise
awareness of the importance of nutrition to aid our
patients’ recovery. We showcased a number of
initiatives which have been developed to improve
patient mealtimes and invited members of our
Trust Board to join ward staff in assisting the
mealtime service for our patients.
As part of the campaign patients, visitors, staff and
members of the public were given the opportunity
to sample dishes from the inpatient menu and to
talk to hospital staff about the importance of
patient mealtimes. The campaign was generously
supported by a number of our local suppliers and
retailers in order to illustrate our partnership
working. Throughout the day, clinical staff were on
hand to discuss the importance of keeping
hydrated, how patients nutritional intake can be
improved through protected mealtimes and
improving the mealtime experience. Dietetic staff
were available to advise on the Malnutrition
Universal Screening Tool (MUST) assessment and
explain its importance. The event was a huge
success and the feedback was extremely positive.
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The group is very proud of the developments made
in standards of care for patients with dementia and
the support of their families, we will continue to
work closely with the PDAA and identify further
ways in which they can improve hospital services
and care for people with dementia.

In addition a visible ‘Bus Stop’ will be based
alongside the new reception desk and also link with
the Welcome Centre to ensure members of the
public and patients have multiple options for
wayfinding and support when they enter the
hospital.

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

plan will ensure timely management of children
and young people who experience pain either from
a procedure or operation or as part of their
condition.
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Celebrating our successes

The new patient menu which was launched in
autumn 2016 has proven to be very popular. The
menu for lunch has been extended to offer a total
of six hot meals daily which includes energy dense
and healthier options every day. The supper meal
was changed to a lighter meal offering which
consists of a range of sandwiches and jacket
potatoes with fillings, followed by a hot dessert.
Hot main courses are available for those patients
on special diets. The choice of snacks available at
afternoon tea was increased and breakfast choices
reviewed. The menu review gave the opportunity
to increase access to fresh fruit with fresh fruit pots
available as a snack throughout the day and fresh
fruit salad, made on site every day available as a
dessert option at lunch time.

During the hours of 08:00 and 19:00 a midwife is
now based at the ambulance hub in Exeter and all
calls that previously came into the Trust are
diverted for her attention. Additionally she can
give advice to ambulance staff when a 999 call
comes in from pregnant women and families with a
new baby. This has been shown to reduce the
number of unnecessary ambulance attendances to
pregnant women by up to 80%.
Outpatient induction is about to be offered to
women who live within thirty minutes of the
hospital and experiencing a low risk pregnancy.
This will mean that after the induction process
commences in hospital, women can choose if they
wish go home for a day or stay until labour starts.
A dedicated service for women with a raised BMI
has been developed. A concept called 'pregnancy
centering' has been adopted and if women choose
to have their care provided in this way, they can
attend for combined antenatal appointments and
pregnancy and birth information sessions
particularity developed for their needs. Research
has shown that a reduction in pregnancy weight
gain is associated with the support this programme
affords.

Maternity services
Our Maternity Department, care for nearly 5000
families a year through part or all of their
pregnancy journey, has continued to develop the
service.
The Labour Ward has undergone a refurbishment
of 80% of the rooms and all of the communal areas
and bathrooms.
Labour Ward has also become a quieter place!
Approximately 40 calls a day used to come into the
triage area on Labour Ward from pregnant women,
midwives and GP's wishing to seek advice regarding
referring women in, and families seeking advice in
the early days at home with their baby. The
midwives answering these calls were often called
away from providing care to patients, and were
frustrated at not being able to give adequate time
to the conversation.

Exercise in pregnancy is now offered as a free
programme in three pilot sites across the area.
Women can sign up to have an experienced
midwife and fitness instructor support them with
suitable exercise at this exciting time in their lives.
Perinatal mental health is often in the news. The
need for services to support women who have
experienced mental health problems in the past, or
for the first time in pregnancy, is paramount. A
successful national bid to the Department of Health
has enabled Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust and
local community services to develop a Perinatal
Mental Health Service. Currently being developed,
this service will mean that women can be
supported by a specialist team consisting of
psychologists, psychiatrists and midwives when
required.
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Two senior neonatal nurses recently attended a
conference in Toronto on Family Integrated Care
(FiCare) in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit as part
of the Florence Scholarship Fund. FiCare enables
parents to become the central carer in the team
caring for their baby in the neonatal unit.
Initial research has shown that Family Integrated
Care can reduce parent stress, lower infection
rates, improve infant growth and increase breast
feeding rates. The unit is actively working towards
implementing FiCare in the coming year.
NICU is also developing an enhanced role for
nurses (enhanced neonatal nurse practitioners) to
support our junior doctor colleagues and Advanced
Neonatal Nurse Practitioner Service in delivering
high quality care to our neonatal babies.

2. Our Accountability Report

The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is also being
introduced to NICU to encourage parents to
feedback on our service.
The Keep Me Close Appeal continues to raise funds
for much needed parental accommodation. Babies
who are receiving specialist care in NICU (Neonatal
Intensive Care Unit) Plymouth are often a distance
from their local area and consequently parents
need a suitable place to stay/live close by. The
fund currently sits at over £100,000.

Patient experience national awards 2016

 Support for Caregivers, Friends and Family Bereavement Cards
 Turning it Around When it Goes Wrong - PALS
Clinics and Welcome Centre in Hospitals
 Communicating Effectively with Patients and
Families – Bereavement Cards

We had even more to celebrate when we won the
Support for Caregivers, Friends and Family category
with our bereavement card initiative.

Safeguarding
Our safeguarding service continued to improve and
evolve in 2016/17. Safeguarding Children, Adult
Services and Learning Disability Services within the
Trust continue to be managed as one.
Training has been revised and is available for staff
at all levels, on-line or face to face, with more
complex multi-agency training available to those
staff who require it. The new safeguarding adult
intercollegiate document is due to be published
and will guide us to further improve information in
training and practice. It is anticipated that
safeguarding training will need to be re-revised
early in the financial year to ensure we meet all
expectations. Safeguarding Adult and Children
level 1 and 2 training will be available as separate
modules, to take into account skills for health
recommendations and the increased subject
matter needed.
The process for referral into the safeguarding
teams has been improved and the safeguarding
children’s team are available to offer support and
advice Monday-Friday 09:00 – 17:00. For adults at
risk a safeguarding alert process introduced to
highlight and monitor concerns is increasing
referrals into the department. The safeguarding
adult team are available Monday- Friday 08:30 –
17:00. The safeguarding team continue to support
our staff and collate information monitoring
themes and trends. They communicate with multiagency colleagues as needed.
The safeguarding team continue to ensure the
Trust are compliant with the Children’s Act
(1989/2004) and the Care Act 2014 and ensure
specific guidance is given as needed in practice.
They work closely with multi agencies (including
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In December 2016 we were delighted to discover
we had been shortlisted as a finalist in 4 categories
for the Patient Experience National Network
Awards 2016:

 Environment of Care - Improving Patients'
Sleep - Reducing Light and Noise Levels on
Wards at Night

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

Neonatal services
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Celebrating our successes

Local Safeguarding Adult and Children’s Boards to
ensure compliance with standards.

member. This can be transferred onto one of the
two methods of recognition.

Wards and departments have been asked to
nominate a Safeguarding Champion, who will then
form part of a team of experts to increase
communication across the Trust.

Since launching in 2017, 88 Thank You cards have
been sent to staff and 87 Excellence Certificates
created. Everyone nominated receives recognition.

Thank-you cards and excellence awards
Throughout the summer (2016) staff were asked
what made them feel genuinely valued working for
the Trust? The response being a simple ‘thank you’
gave a real sense of appreciation. Based on this
feedback, we took the decision not to continue
working with the external company WOW! who
had previously administered the recognition
certificates, instead we introduced local internal
recognition systems.
‘Thank You’ cards are sent to staff nominated by
colleagues or patients in a prompt and timely
fashion, often for the little things that make the big
difference.

The value and recognition schemes have now
merged with a ‘Learning from Excellence’ initiative.
Recognition for staff and their excellent work is not
only celebrated but is now used as a learning
opportunity. All experiences shared through a
nomination from patients or colleagues create
benefit through learning.

Welcome Centre
In an effort to improve visibility and accessibility of
our Patient Advice & Liaison Service (PALS) we
opened our Welcome Centre in the main concourse
of the hospital.

Excellence Awards are a more in-depth opportunity
to show appreciation to staff by nominating them
for an award. These awards are issued monthly to
line managers and allow teams to celebrate their
team members in ways that are individual to them,
with an annual Excellence Event later in the year.
Thank You cards and Excellence Awards are an
opportunity for patients and staff to recognise
members of Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust, either
individually or as a team. They are both based on
genuine, individual appreciation for staff and
nominations can be for anything from a simple
smile that made the difference to a patient to the
consistent above and beyond exemplary efforts
and dedication shown. The nomination process is
easy; cards are designed to be literally a quick
thank you with Excellence Awards being more indepth, plus any feedback, from a tweet or
Facebook message to a comment via a family

We recognised the importance of providing a calm,
caring environment where visitors are able to
obtain information and provide both positive and
negative feedback by sharing their experiences. An
additional meeting room is also available should
people become distressed or if their enquiry is
confidential. It offers an opportunity for our
visitors to have an informal relaxed meeting area,
to discuss and provide feedback on their
experience.
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Our Plans for 2017/18







Put patients first
Take ownership
Respect others
Be positive
Listening, learning and improving

2. Our Accountability Report

We have the ambition of creating an authentic
improvement culture at Plymouth Hospitals NHS
Trust. That really means getting ideas and actions
from wards, theatres, admin areas, patients and
service users.
To encourage this we are working on how our
leaders engage with teams, using a standardised
approach, improving our ability to provide support
through the Quality Faculty, capturing humanfactors training and providing focused training on
quality
improvement supported by
the
development of a Quality Academy.

Our Quality Improvement Strategy







Reducing mortality
Reducing harm
Providing reliable care
Improving patient experience
Improving our quality culture

Each of these areas is supported by a series of
individual programmes of works with clearly

We have also developed quality improvement
projects driven by quality and safety initiatives
highlighted from mortality reviews, incidents,
complaints, claims and patient feedback. These
projects are under the banner of Quality
Improvement and include for example:
 Sign up to safety projects - reduce harm
caused by falls, reduce the number of grade
2,3 & 4 pressure ulcers, reduce the number of
adverse incidents resulting from failure to
respond to a deteriorating patient, severe
sepsis, responding to diagnostic reports and
medication incidents
 Implementation from the National Safety
Standards for Invasive Procedures (NATssips)
Programme.

Our Operating Plan 2017-19
We have much to be proud of in the quality of care
that we give to our patients. We continue to
perform well in many areas but face a significant
challenge in providing responsive services and
improving our performance against a number of
key national standards. Many of these issues were
reflected in the findings from CQC inspection in
2015.
Following completion of a follow-up
inspection in 2016, the CQC recently published
their updated report which shows a considerable
improvement across all areas assessed but also
highlights the continuing challenges in providing
responsive services.
Our overarching quality
improvement plan has regard to a number of
national and local initiatives and programmes

Other quality
priorities

Sign up to
safety

National
performance
standards

Quality
improvement
plan

Quality
account

CQUIN
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During 2016/17 we have continued to improve our
approach and commitment to the Care Quality
Commission’s domains of care and developed our
Quality Improvement Strategy which specifically
looks at five areas for improvement:

defined goals, executive responsibilities and
measures to assess our progress.

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

We recognise that in order to deliver our
improvement priorities we must be an
organisation
which
embraces
continuous
improvement and is fully committed to greater
staff engagement and participation. In order to
capture the creativity and knowledge of our staff,
we need to provide support in identifying
problems, developing and testing solutions and
sharing knowledge. Our core purpose is to deliver
excellent hospital-based care to the population of
Plymouth and surrounding areas. We seek to do
this through our Trust Values:

5

Our Plans for 2017/18

Our Quality Account priorities
As in previous years the Trust has sought the
involvement and feedback of key stakeholders, to
ensure that our plans reflect the needs of our
patients and communities. We have done this by
consulting with staff, key stakeholders, patients
and members of the pubic using various methods
including surveys.
The consultation process took place between
February and March 2017 and identified three
specific areas on which to focus our attention in
2017/18. These priorities link directly to those set
out in our Quality Improvement Strategy and
Operational Plan 2017/19.
Priority 1 – Staffing – Improve the patient
experience by ensuring our wards and
departments have the correct levels of staff with
the appropriate skills
Having the right nursing staff in the right place at
the right time is a fundamental element to delivery
of safe high quality care for our patients. Patient
survey results show us patients do not always feel
the wards are adequately staffed. Nursing,
midwifery and care staff, working as part of wider
multidisciplinary teams, play a critical role in
securing high quality care and excellent outcomes
for patients.
Priority 2 - Reduce the number of patients who
are cancelled and ensure patients are able to
access services within acceptable timeframes
Patients have the right to expect timely care which
is in line with best practice. The Trust has recently
experienced difficulties with capacity which
resulted in cancellations for patients and longer
waits for treatment than we would like.
Priority 3 - Improve the quality and reliability of
the care we provide to our patients
Untreated sepsis can progress to severe sepsis,
multi-organ failure, septic shock and ultimately
death. Septic shock has a 50% mortality rate. The
mortality rate for sepsis in children is estimated to
be 10 – 15% and is the most common cause of

direct maternal death. Around 35,000 people die
from sepsis in England each year.
As a patient in hospital there is a chance that if you
deteriorate you may not receive the necessary
response in a timely fashion. This may cause you to
be more unwell, affect your treatment, increase
your length of stay and alter your views about your
experience in hospital.
A more detailed analysis of our current position in
each of these areas and our plans for improvement
are set out in Annex F.
Sign Up to Safety
Sign up to Safety is a national initiative to help NHS
organisations achieve their patient safety
aspirations and care for their patients in the safest
way possible. We want to give patients confidence
that we are doing all we can to ensure the care
they receive will be safe and effective at all times.
Our work is shaped around the following key areas:
 How do we create lasting change and a future
where patients and those who care for them
are free from avoidable harm?
 How can we create a safety culture that leads
to lasting change? If we create a culture where
staff and patients are treated with empathy
and kindness when things go wrong, we can
learn more about what we can do differently
to make care safer
 If the solutions and proven interventions exist
already, we can help people with
implementation
of
evidence
based
interventions and tools to inspire and motivate
people to keep going
 Are we working inter-professionally and
increasing the reliability of the fundamentals
of care? e.g. communication
 Can we capture data and learn from incidents
and investigations effectively? If we do this we
will have a good chance of preventing things
from going wrong in the future
Additional detail is described in Annex G.
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The paper record is a major barrier to effective
transformation both within the hospital and
throughout the patient journey. It is almost
inconceivable to imagine that an organisation of
the scale and complexity of Plymouth Hospitals
NHS Trust would continue to rely upon paper
based patient records.
We are embarking on a programme of work to
implement an electronic solution for patient
records (eNotes). This will transform the patient’s
current paper hospital note into a digital format.
One of the many benefits of the system will be the
speed of accessibility to records, removing the
need to request paper notes. Multiple users will be
able to see the same record at any one time from

numerous devices both on the Derriford and
peripheral sites using our secure network
connections.
It will provide a single point of access to patient
information which is currently stored in various
formats and locations, both paper and electronic.
All information will be stored electronically and
confidential health records will be available to
authorised staff from any computer workstation or
from any hand-held device.
Moving to an electronic record will mitigate a
number of issues related to the management of
paper records and bring extensive benefits to both
clinicians and to the patient’s experience. We are
currently carrying out the enabling work and aim
to start scanning the first health records
documents in the summer of 2017.

2. Our Accountability Report
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Annex A

Quality Metrics

National metrics
Description

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Target

37

35

42^

37

<35

3

0

2

2

0

Achieved
in 1 out of
12 months
96.4%

Achieved
in 0 out of
12 months
90.7%

Achieved
in 0 out of
12 months
85.2%

Achieved
in 0 out of
12 months
84.3%

92%

94.6%

93.7%

89.8%

93.2%

93%

Two week wait for symptomatic breast
patients (cancer not initially suspected)
31 day (diagnosis to treatment) wait for first
treatment: all cancers
31 day wait for second or subsequent
treatment: surgery
31 day wait for second or subsequent
treatment: anti-cancer drug treatments
31 day wait for second or subsequent
treatment: radiotherapy treatments
62 day (urgent GP referral to treatment) wait
for first treatment: all cancers
62 day consultant upgrade wait for first
treatment: all cancers

93.5%

65.4%

44.5%

77.5%

93%

98.3%

98.2%

96.9%

95.8%

96%

95.8%

94.8%

92.9%

90.9%

94%

99.4%

99.8%

99.6%

99.3%

98%

96.9%

96.7%

93.5%

96.7%

94%

85.1%

86.0%

81.1%

79.2%

85%

88.0%

78.5%

80.8%

78.6%

62 day wait for first treatment from
consultant screening service referral: all
cancers
Access to genitor-urinary medicine clinics (48
hours)
Cancelled operations by the hospital for nonclinical reasons on the day of or after
admission
Cancelled operations by the hospital for nonclinical reasons on the day or after
admission, who were not treated within 28
days

92.0%

91.9%

90.6%

86.9%

85%
Local
Target
90%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

1.34%

1.73%

3.51%

3.03%

0.8%

5.30%

8.80%

16.1%

15.3%

5%

Incidence of C-Diff
(patients aged 2 years and over)
Incidence of MRSA
RTT Incomplete Pathway : Of all patients
waiting on an RTT pathway, at least 92%
should have been waiting for < 18 weeks
Maximum time in ED of four hours from
arrival to admission, transfer or discharge
All cancer two week wait

95%

What this
means
Lower is
better
Lower is
better
Higher is
better
Higher %
is better
Higher %
is better
Higher %
is better
Higher %
is better
Higher %
is better
Higher %
is better
Higher %
is better
Higher %
is better
Higher %
is better
Higher %
is better
Higher %
is better
Lower % is
better
Lower % is
better

Other local metrics
Quality Account 2016/17

124 Leading with excellence, caring with compassion

29

Annex A

Quality Metrics

Description

2015/16

13.9

12.3

14.3

12.3

-

97%

95%

97%

97%

95%

66

49

36

38

-

9.58

10.5

11.6

11.1

-

0.80%

0.67%

0.43%

0.24%

-

1

2*

2

4

0

Number of complaints

860

773

646

609

Number of PALS enquiries

4193

4348

4672

4127

Reduce by
10%
-

Number of cardiac arrest calls

225

178

186

152

-

Grade 2, 3 & 4 pressure Ulcers

504

355

181

135

-

% patients receiving appropriate VTE risk
assessment

95%

95%

98%

97%

89.0
Jan 13–
Jan 14
67.6%

98
Jan 14Jan 15
72%

95.3%
Mar 16 –
Feb 17
96.4%
Mar 16 –
Feb 17
104
Jan 16 –
Jan17
74%

95%

% patients receiving appropriate
thromboprophylaxis

95.3%
Mar15 –
Feb 16
97.2%
Mar15 –
Feb 16
104
Jan 15Jan 16
72%

82%

78%

71%

71%

-

Patient falls resulting in harm or death
(moderate harm and above)
Incident reporting rate – per 100
admissions
Percentage of reported patient safety
incidents resulting in severe harm or death.
Number of Never events

2. Our Accountability Report

Mortality (HMSR) (Relative Risk)

% stroke patients spending 90% of their
stay on ASU
Fractured NOF – delays to surgery < 36hrs

2016/17

Target

95%

-

80%

What this
means
Lower is
better
Higher %
is better
Lower is
better
Higher is
better
Lower is
better
Lower is
better
Lower is
better
Lower is
better
Lower is
better
Lower is
better
Higher is
better
**
Higher is
better
Lower is
better
***
Higher is
better
Higher is
better

*

1 never event incident occurred in 2010 and was reported in the 2014/15 period
During previous years the trusts auditors for the Quality Account have found discrepancies when comparing the
paper hospital record and our electronic discharge system for VTE. Although the error rate is low the trust
believes that the indicator does represent our performance and is working to correct the issue with the
introduction of e-prescribing.
*** HSMR benchmark data is reviewed and nationally rebased each year, hence the rise in the reported figure does
not reflect poor performance.

**
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2014/15

Rate of C-diff per 100,000 bed days
(patients aged 2 years and over)
Hand hygiene compliance rates

2013/14
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Core Indicators

Comparative Core Quality Account Indicators
Core Indicator 12 – Summary Hospital Level Mortality Indicator

(a) The value and banding of the summary hospital-level mortality indicator (“SHMI”) for the Trust for the reporting
period
(b) The percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coded at either diagnosis or specialty level for the Trust for
the reporting period
SHMI (Summary Hospital-Level Mortality Indicator)
Plymouth - SHMI Value
Banding
National highest – SHMI Value
Banding
National lowest - SHMI Value
Banding
NHS trust average - SHMI Value

Oct 13 – Sep 14
0.966
2
1.198
1
0.597
3
1.001

Oct 14 – Sep 15
1.001
2
1.177
1
0.652
3
1.004

Oct 15 – Sep 16
0.9866
2
1.1638
1
0.6897
3
1.0034

% of patient deaths with palliative care coded at
either diagnosis or speciality level
Plymouth
National highest
National lowest
NHS trust average
*The palliative care indicator is a contextual indicator.

Oct 14 – Sep 15

Apr 15 - Mar 16

July 15 - June 16

18.6
53.5
0.2
26.7

20.3
54.6
0.6
28.8

20.7
54.8
0.6
29.6

Core indicator 18 - Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMS)
(i) groin hernia surgery
(ii) varicose vein surgery
(iii) hip replacement surgery
(iv) knee replacement surgery

Pre-operative participation and linkage
Participation from April 2015 – March 2016
Eligible
Pre-operative
hospital
questionnaires
procedures
completed
All Procedures
Groin Hernia
Hip Replacement
Knee Replacement
Varicose Vein

1539
426
344
356
413

Post-operative issue and return
Participation from April 2015 – March 2016
Pre-operative
questionnaires
completed
All Procedures
909
Groin Hernia
83
Hip Replacement
333
Knee Replacement
343
Varicose Vein
150

909
83
333
343
150

Post-operative
questionnaires
sent out
903
83
330
341
149

Participation
Rate

Pre-operative
questionnaires
linked

Linkage
Rate

59.1%
19.5%
96.8%
96.3%
36.3%

743
33
282
286
142

81.7%
39.8%
84.7%
83.4%
94.7%

Issue Rate

99.3%
100%
99.1%
99.4%
99.3%

Post-operative
questionnaires
returned
639
39
240
247
113

Response
Rate
70.8%
47.0%
72.7%
72.4%
75.8%
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PROMS Total Health Gain
Participation from April 2015 - March 2016

Hip
Replacement
Primary
Knee
Replacement
Primary
Varicose Vein

Measure
EQ-5D Index
EQ VAS
EQ-5D Index
Oxford Hip
Score
EQ VAS
EQ-5D Index
Oxford Knee
Score
EQ VAS
Aberdeen
Varicose Vein
Questionnaire
EQ-5D Index
EQ VAS

Average
Pre-Op Q
Score
0.853
72.23
0.30
14.86

Average
Post-Op
Q Score
0.90
74.09
0.71
37.84

Health
Gain
0.480
1.864
0.42
22.99

Improved
9
11
139
171

Unchanged
9
1
11
1

Worsened
4
10
16
6

159
176
190

60.08
0.44
19.20

69.98
0.70
35.31

9.90
0.27
16.11

102
139
177

11
20
3

46
17
10

175
104

68.37
24.90

71.09
16.22

2.71
-8.677

92
82

27
0

56
22

100
104

0.75
77.2

0.81
79.6

0.06
2.4

41
13

36
1

23
10

2. Our Accountability Report

Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust has taken the following action to improve its PROMS activity:
 Identification and appointment of clinical lead for each area
 Continue to monitor response rates for varicose veins and groin hernias and work with staff to improve the
number of returns
 Reporting to the Clinical Effectiveness Group
Next steps will include review of outcome data against other similar organisations and local monitoring of our patients
reported health gains.

Core Indicator 19 – Readmission with 28 days

Percentage of patients re-admittted to hospital within 28 days of being discharged
(i) 0 to 15
(ii) 16 or over
2009/10
10.46

2010/11
10.43

2011/12
12.18

15.35
6.04
9.76

14.11
6.41
9.96

14.94
6.40
10.02

Compared to other Large Acute Trusts
% Patients readmitted to hospital within 28 days of
being discharged for 16 year olds and over
National highest
National lowest
NHS trust average

2009/10
10.29

2010/11
9.65

2011/12
9.50

13.18
8.95
11.12

14.06
9.20
11.38

13.80
9.34
11.44

Please note that these indicators was last updated in December 2013 and future releases have been temporarily
suspended pending a methodology review

Core Indicator 20 - Trust’s responsiveness to the personal needs of its patients

Patient experience as measured by scoring the results of five questions from the National Inpatient Survey focusing on
responsiveness to personal needs. The scores shown below represent a composite of the five questions:
 Were you involved as much as you wanted to be in decisions about your care and treatment?
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Compared to other Large Acute Trusts
% Patients readmitted to hospital within 28 days of being
discharged for 0 – 15 year olds
National highest
National lowest
NHS trust average

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

Procedure
Groin Hernia

Modelled
Records
22
22
166
178
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Core Indicators

Did you find someone on the hospital staff to talk to about your worries and fears?
Were you given enough privacy when discussing your condition or treatment?
Did a member of staff tell you about medication side effects to watch for when you went home?
Did hospital staff tell you who to contact if you were worried about your condition or treatment after you left
hospital?
2012/13
67.3
84.4
57.4
68.1

Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust
National highest
National lowest
NHS trust average

2013/14
69.1
84.2
54.4
68.7

2014/15
68.9
86.1
59.1
68.9

2015/16
65.1
86.2
58.9
69.6

Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust continues to monitor performance against these questions in its local survey
programme, using the meridian system. This is shared with matrons and ward managers. A dedicated piece of work is
underway to improve information at the point of discharge, where patients have been asked to meet with staff to
redesign information provision.

Core Indicator 21 – Friends and Family Test Staff

The percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, for quarter two of 2016/17 who would recommend the
Trust as a provider of care to their family or friends.
Description

Plymouth Hospitals
NHS Trust
NHS Trust Average England
National highest

Total
Responses
1225

HSCIC
Workforce
Headcount
6,508

136,404

1,147,409

64%

18%

80%

6%

4174

15,853

100%

0%

100%

0%

0

564

29%

57%

44%

41%

National lowest

Work
Percentage
Percentage No
Recommended
Recommended
64%
16%

Care
Percentage
Percentage No
Recommended
Recommended
82%
5%

Plymouth Hospitals monitors the recommended scores for all Friends and Family test areas, using the meridian
system.

Core indicator 21.1 – Friends and Family Test Patients

Percentage of patients discharged following an inpatient stay or emergency treatment for February 2017 who would recommend
the trust as a provider of care to their family or friends.
Inpatient & Daycase
Response
Rate
Plymouth Hospitals
NHS Trust
NHS Trust Average
-England (excluding
Independent Sector
Providers)
National highest
National lowest

Emergency

Percentage
Recommended

Percentage Not
Recommended

Response
Rate

Percentage
Recommended

Percentage Not
Recommended

12,479
(44.97%)
24.34%

96%

1%

96%

2%

1375
(24.22%)
12.3%

92%

1%

90%

5%

100%

100%

0%

45.46%

100%

0%

3.98%

76%

10%

0.65%

47.80%

29.35%

The Friends and Family Test is now in place across all areas of the Trust and provides valuable feedback from our
patients, encompassing all adult, children and carers including inpatient, emergency care, maternity, outpatient and
day case across both hospital and community based locations.
Patients are asked ‘How likely are you to recommend our ward to friends and family if they needed similar care or
treatment’ based on the following potential responses:
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Extremely likely
Likely
Neither likely nor unlikely
Unlikely
Extremely unlikely
Don’t know

The chart below illustrates the response from March 2016 to March 2017.

2. Our Accountability Report

Through the qualitative feedback element of Friends and Family Test we ensure patients views are heard and shared.
Whilst the recommender score provides a gauge of overall patient satisfaction, the qualitative feedback gathered
through the Friend and Family Test provides an opportunity to understand our successes and areas for improvement
in more detail.
Using a number of collection methods keeps our response rates high and the paper based approach also allows real
time feedback to staff through our red post box system. Each ward and department has a feedback poster displayed
within view of patients, staff and visitors showing the number of patients seen during the period, number of survey
responses along with the recommender score and examples of comments.

Core Indicator 23 - Venous Thromboembolism
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Percentage of patients who were admitted to hospital and who were risk assessed for venous thromboembolism
during the reporting period.
Quarter 1
Quarter 2
Quarter 3
2016/17
2016/17
2016/17
Apr, May, Jun 16
Jul, Aug, Sep 16
Oct, Nov, Dec 16
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust
*95.10%
*95.20%
*95.36%
National highest
100%
100%
100%
National lowest
80.61%
72.14%
76.48%
NHS trust average
95.73%
95.51%
95.64%
* During previous years the Trust’s auditors for the Quality Account have found discrepancies when comparing the
paper hospital record and our electronic discharge system for VTE. Although the error rate is low theTtrust believes
that the indicator does represent our performance and is working to correct the issue with the introduction of eprescribing.
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Core Indicator 24 – C.difficile

Rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of C.difficile infection reported within the Trust amongst patients. Trust
apportioned cases only
Apr 2013 April 2014 April 2015 Mar 2014
March 2015
March 2016
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust
13.9
12.3
14.3
National highest
31.5
62.6
66.0
National lowest
0
0
0
NHS trust average
14.7
15.0
14.9

Core Indicator 25 – Patient Safety Incidents

Number and rate of patient safety incidents reported within the Trust during the reporting period, and the number
and percentage of such patient safety incidents that resulted in severe harm or death.
Patient safety incidents: Rate per 1,000 bed days and
numbers of incidents
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust
National highest - Incident Rate per 1000 bed days
Number of incidents
National lowest - Incident Rate per 1000 bed days
Number of incidents
NHS trust average - Incident Rate per 1000 bed days
Number of incidents
Patient safety incidents: Rate per 1,000 bed days and
numbers that resulted in severe harm or death
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust
National highest - Incident Rate per 1000 bed days
Number of incidents
National lowest - Incident Rate per 1000 bed days
Number of incidents
NHS trust average - Incident Rate per 1000 bed days
Number of incidents

Oct 2014 - Mar
2015
44.1
6,547
82.2
3,225
3.6
443
36.2
4,539

Apr - Sep 2015

Oct 2014 - Mar
2015
0.31
46
1.53
128
0.02
3
0.18
23

Apr - Sep 2015

43.9
6,474
74.7
3,948
18.1
4,078
38.1
4,647

0.15
22
1.12
87
0.03
5
0.16
20

Oct 2015 – Mar
2016
45.0
6,554
75.9
3,426
14.8
1,499
38.5
4818
Oct 2015 – Mar
2016
0.19
28
0.97
51
0.01
2
0.16
19

Core Indicator – KF 21 - National Staff Survey 2016

Percentage believing that the Trust provides equal opportunities for career progressions or promotion
Description
Total Percentage
Acute Trusts Average
Acute Trust Best Score
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust

2015

2016

87.0%

86.0%

-

95%

86.0%

88.0%

Core Indicator KF 26 – Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in the
last 12 months
Description
Acute Trusts Average
Acute Trusts Best score
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust

Total Percentage
2015

2016

25.0%

25.0%

-

16.0%

26.0%

23.0%
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Clinical Administration Programme






Difficulties contacting clinical services
Booking a new outpatient appointment
Cancellation of clinic appointments
Data quality issues affecting the management of patient pathways

The Trust has invested heavily in new technologies and a number of these have been implemented with the
benefits of each now being realised.
Digital Dictation
The implementation of this solution has provided greater visibility of workload, activity and performance
which has enabled a continued reduction in the delays around transcription and authorisation of clinical
correspondence. The Trust is now looking to develop its speech recognition capability to further quicken
the production of our clinical correspondence.

2. Our Accountability Report

Self-Check-in and Patient Calling
The implementation of self-check-in has resulted in less queuing for patients attending our clinics along
with the provision of a more confidential environment for our patients.
Enhanced Telephony and Reminder Services
The enhanced telephony system has been successfully implemented across a number of areas including the
Outpatient Management Centre, Imaging and PALS. In addition to this the programme has implemented an
improved outpatient appointment reminder service. The key benefits of this project have been to improve
patient experience in contacting the hospital, reduced levels of non-attendance (DNA) and patient
reschedules and reduced wastage costs. Over the course of this year the programme will be looking
towards implementing this automated reminder service for inpatient and day case admissions.
Electronic-outcomes
This project replaces the current outmoded and paper based method of recording clinical outcomes and
future care plans. This solution has now been rolled out across a number of key specialties and a number
of the key benefits are now being demonstrated, these include:

4. Appendices
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The Trust established the Clinical Administration Programme as a means to support the organisation in the
delivery of a successful, high quality and cost effective administration service to our patients and clinicians.
We are working to create an administration service that supports and matches the high quality clinical care
that we offer that gets it right for patients first time. In the past patients have experienced some issues
associated with our administration including:

Minimises missing information so improving patient safety
Reduced waiting times.
Reduced time needed on reception.
Improved Data Quality reducing validation time.
Improved Referral to Treatment (RTT) times.

Electronic Internal Referrals
The Trust has committed to developing a solution which removes the need to send paper around the
organisation. Not only will this speed up the referral process it will also improve patient safety through the
development of an auditable process.
Electronic Communication to Primary Care
Quality Account 2016/17
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The Trust is currently working with its primary care colleagues to develop a solution which allows the
electronic sending of clinical letters and other correspondence. This will allow, at the point of approval by
the relevant clinician, for the correspondence to be sent directly to the GP clinical system.
Communication to Patients
The Programme is looking to develop a hybrid approach on the way in which we communicate with
patients. Options currently being explored include developing a managed mail service which will free up
staff time for those patients who would still appreciate a hard copy letter, e-mailing directly to patients
details of appointments or may be the outcome of an appointment that has just been held or offering
patients an opportunity to sign up to a secure web account where they can access all the information that
is relevant to them. The method of communication can be based around patient choice.
Workforce Structures
We need to improve our clinical administration, for our patients and also for our staff who work in
administration. One of the things we want to do is create an attractive career pathway in clinical
administration. This element has been developed well with the new Outpatient Management Centre
arrangements. We have also implemented the role of Clinical Administration Manager which provides an
ideal next step for Team Leaders and Medical Secretaries. We also need to ensure that we have the right
number of staff at the right grade delivering a high quality service to our patients and the clinical teams.
For this reason the programme will be assessing, in conjunction with the service lines, what the staffing
requirement is for individual teams and ensuring that we have the right staff doing the right jobs.
Training, Improved Supervision and Delivery of Service Standards
The Trust has invested in a clinical administration training function with the intention of providing a more
sustainable approach to ensuring our staff have the right tools and knowledge to enable them to do their
jobs. This is being supported by the Clinical Administration Manager role mentioned above. The key
deliverables for this are to:
 Ensure that all staff have received adequate training and support to enable them to effectively carry
out the role that is expected of them
 Ensure all staff receive adequate and effective supervision to ensure the achievement of service
standards
 Development of a set of agreed service standards along with action planning to ensure that individual
departments achieve what is required of them
In order to achieve this, the Trust has invested in its Clinical Administration Training function and agreed a
training strategy which significantly broadens capacity and capability to deliver effective training and
education to our staff.
Workforce Administration
The Programme has committed to developing the role of the Ward Administrator. This work will not only
improve the support, training and education that is provided for this vital function but also a commitment
to improve the hours of cover on the wards and to provide sustainable cover during periods of absence.
These improvements will allow the Trust to improve its patient flow for elective and non-elective patients
as well as releasing time for the clinical staff by preventing them from having to undertake administrative
duties.
Supporting our NHS Professionals (NHSP) colleagues
The Trust has committed to ensuring that all members of staff whether permanent or temporary feel
equipped to carry out their role. To this end we are working closely with NHSP to ensure that staff that
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they place can make an immediate contribution to the team by receiving their essential training as soon as
they sign up.

Clinical Coding is the process by which patient diagnosis and treatment is translated into standard,
recognised codes which reflect the activity that happens to patients. The accuracy of this coding is a
fundamental indicator of the accuracy of patient records.
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust was subject to a successful Information Governance Clinical Coding audit,
undertaken in October 2016, by Rosalind Ward for the period 2016/17. The error rates reported in the
latest published audit for that period for diagnoses and treatment coding (clinical coding) is detailed in the
table below. The Trust was previously subject to an Information Governance Clinical Coding audit by D&A
Consultancy in September 2013 and 2014 and Rosalind Ward in October 2015. The Trust is still achieving
Level 2.

2. Our Accountability Report

Criteria
measured
Primary
diagnosis
incorrect (%)
Secondary
diagnosis
incorrect (%)
Primary
procedures
incorrect (%)
Secondary
procedures
incorrect (%)

2012
/13
5%

2013
/14
5%

2014
/15
10%

2015
/16
10%

2016
/17
8%

2.29
%

4.9%

4.9%

13.53
%

12.41
%

2.78
%

2.5%

1.4%

5.79
%

4.71
%

0.86
%

5.1%

3.9%

11.83
%

8.33
%

Data Quality
Clinicians and managers need ready access to accurate and comprehensive data to support the delivery of
high quality care. Improving the quality and reliability of information is therefore a fundamental
component of quality improvement.

Each Service Line area in the Trust has one or more Data Quality Champions, led by the Clinical Admin’
Managers. These operational Data Quality leads ensure their area is performing in accordance with the
required standards. As well as internal Data Quality summary reports, there are a variety of Data Quality
reports used by the operational teams to validate and correct issues.
All Data Quality reports, guidance and summaries are coordinated by the Data Quality handbook, an
electronic handbook providing a central point for all information. The Data Quality Champions and their
operational teams have detailed guidance to support them with undertaking Data Quality work and access
to APNs (Administrative Procedure Note) which explain the operational processes.
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The Trust monitors the accuracy of data in a number of ways including the monthly Data Quality Steering
Group (DQSG), Chaired by the Business Intelligence Manager. This group utilises the Trust’s internal Data
Quality Summary Reports and external Dashboards to monitor key indicators. Within the Performance &
Management Information Department is an RTT Validator who carries out the Data Quality actions from
the DQSG and a number of Analysts support Data Quality reporting.
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In 2017 internal audit completed a data quality audit pertaining to diagnostic targets. This audit and
previous audits on referral to treatment waiting times, stroke, cancer waiting times and the Emergency
Department 4 hour target provide assurance against these essential performance indicators.
During 2016 the Trust worked closely with the Elective Improvement Team from NHS Improvement (NHSI)
to support progress towards achieving the 18 week RTT target. During this time the team from NHSI
validated the Information and Data Quality processes and reported back the following:
“There is a comprehensive data quality methodology in place within the Trust which is supported by a range
of data quality indicators and reports all available at specialty level. Where new DQ issues are identified
locally, the Trust has the flexibility to respond by developing additional reporting. The data quality
improvement process is clear with accountability positioned within the operational teams.”
And
“The Trust is making a conscious decision to move away from a validation approach (i.e. correcting data
retrospectively ahead of national returns) and more towards real-time audit; this is an approach that the IST
fully supports and should be recognised as best practice.”
National Data Quality Validity and Benchmarking
The Trust provides submissions to the Secondary Uses Service (SUS). This is a single source of
comprehensive data which enables a range of reporting and analysis in England and is run by the Health
and Social Care Information Centre. The table below shows the percentage of valid records in the
published data at month 9 2016/2017 for two key indicators:
Patient Pathway
Admitted patient care
Outpatients
Accident & emergency care

Valid NHS
Number
99.3%
99.7%
97.9%

Valid GP
Practice
100%
100%
100%

The Trust remains top in the peninsula for Data Quality Assurance on the SUS Data Quality Dashboards with
a total combined score of 99.6%

Duty of Candour
The Trust ensures Duty of Candour requirements are implemented following any ‘moderate harm’ or above
graded incident once it has occurred. There are key steps in the process as shown in the diagram below.
Where it is felt a ‘candour conversation’ is required, it is important to identify the most appropriate person
to conduct such a conversation, which in most circumstances it would be the clinician with whom the
patient has an active clinical relationship.
We ensure an account of the incident is provided, which is a true account of all the facts known about the
incident at the date of the notification, particularly including what happened, why and how it happened
and what can be done to stop it happening again to someone else?
We ensure the person(s) communicating with the patients and/ or relevant person;
 Has a good understanding of the facts relevant to the case
 Has excellent interpersonal skills, including being able to communicate with patients and/or relevant
persons in a way they can understand, avoiding excessive use of medical jargon
Quality Account 2016/17

134 Leading with excellence, caring with compassion

39

Annex C

Assurance Statements

Duty of Candour Diagram

2. Our Accountability Report

Infection Control
The Trust has made significant progress towards modernising the service it offers and meeting the
challenging new agenda being set at both local and national levels. The Infection Prevention and Control
Team has dramatically changed the way it has worked in order to deliver a more clinically-orientated and
relevant service. This approach has been effective in both improving clinical practice and reducing rates of
hospital-associated infection.

The Quality Premium sets out the ambition for Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to deliver a 10% or
greater reduction in all Escherichia coli bacteraemias over 2017-18, using January to December 2016 as the
baseline year. During this period Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust recorded 60 post-48 hour cases (compared
to ~100 for the previous three years). The subsequent objective will be to reduce all Gram negative
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Over the last few years, there have been significant improvements in hand hygiene compliance and clinical
practice audit scores, such as the Saving Lives High Impact Interventions. Infections due to meticillinresistant and susceptible Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA and MSSA) and Clostridium difficile have fallen, as
have rates of surgical site infection. Considerable Trust-wide effort is required to maintain and continue
these improvements, particularly if the Trust is to continue to achieve the MRSA bacteraemia and C. difficile
reduction targets.

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

 Is willing and able to offer an apology, reassurance and feedback to patients and/or their carers
 Is able to maintain a medium to long term relationship with the patient and/or their carers, where
possible, and to provide continued support and information
 Is culturally aware and informed about the specific needs of the patient and/or their carers
Where a patient safety incident has caused harm, an apology is offered to the relevant person, which is a
sincere expression of sorrow or regret for any possible harm and distress caused
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bacteraemias by 50% by 2010-21. Achieving these reductions will be a key challenge over the next few
years.
Progress towards achieving key targets for 2016/17 was as follows:

 Reduce MRSA bacteraemias in line with agreed local and national targets. Between April 2016 and
March 2017, there were 2 MRSA bacteraemias (Target: no cases for the year).
 Reduce Clostridium difficile in line with agreed local and national targets. Between April 2016 and
March 2017, 37 cases of hospital-apportioned Clostridium difficile were recorded, of which 2 were
considered avoidable and 31 non-avoidable, with a decision awaited on the other 4 cases (Target:
fewer than 35 avoidable infections).
 Achieve a 5% reduction in all cases of MRSA. Between April 2016 and March 2017, there were 18 new
cases of MRSA compared to 30 the previous year (a reduction of 40%).
 Achieve a 5% reduction in all MSSA bacteraemias. Between April 2016 and March 2017, there were 46
MSSA bacteraemias compared to 45 the previous year (an increase of 2%).
 Maintain the mean ward closure time due to epidemic gastroenteritis below 7 days. Between April 2016
and March 2017, there were three ward closures due to norovirus (Mean closure time 2.7 days).
 Reduce other infections according to national and local priorities. Reductions achieved.
 Comply with current and new national mandatory surveillance requirements. Compliant.
 Support and assist in the implementation of screening high-risk patients for meticillin-resistant and
susceptible S. aureus (MRSA and MSSA). Compliant.
 Continue to follow local and national guidance to control and reduce Resistant Gram-negatives
including Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacteriaceae (CPE). Compliant.
 Support and assist in the screening of patients for CPE. Complete.
 Continue to perform surgical site surveillance, including post-discharge surveillance, on all major
procedures. Complete.
 All wards to perform at least a monthly Hand Hygiene audit with compliance of at least 95%. Between
April 2016 and March 2017, the overall Trust hand hygiene compliance was 97%.
 All wards to perform at least monthly Saving Lives High Impact Intervention audits for in use medical
devices and score 100%. Data available on balanced scorecard.
 All wards to achieve compliance with Infection Prevention and Control audits. Data available on
balanced scorecard.
 Maintain availability of alcohol hand gel in clinical areas as close to 100% as possible. Between April
2016 and March 2017, the availability of alcohol hand gel in clinical areas was 95%.
 Continue to develop and update the IPC website. Completed.
 To comply with national legislation and guidance including the Health and Social Care Act (Code of
Practice for the NHS on the prevention and control of healthcare associated infections and related
guidance), Care Quality Commission Essential Standards, Winning Ways and national guidance on the
management of MRSA and C. difficile. Compliance reviewed and evidence folders updated.

Information Governance Toolkit
The Information Governance Toolkit is a Department of Health online system which all NHS organisations
and their partners complete on an annual basis. Completion of the toolkit allows the Trust to demonstrate
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Research and Development
Plymouth remains the most successful hospital in the Peninsula for commercial funded research and
recruitment to interventional trials.
Clinical research trials provide the evidence used to prevent, diagnose and treat illness through the
supporting, testing and development of new treatments. Research in the Trust may involve drugs, surgical
and other interventional techniques, devices, care pathways, patient related outcomes and all things
related to healthcare.
In recent years Plymouth has increased the volume complexity and diversity of its clinical research
portfolio. This has been made possible by developing a research and development workforce, both
administrative and nursing that has provided the platform on which clinical research has been made
possible. Coupled with an enthusiastic clinical workforce and a supportive trust environment have led to
increasing capacity and delivery of research projects.

2. Our Accountability Report

There are currently 518 (Open) research projects ongoing in the Trust and we have recruited 4251 patients
into research projects this financial year, to date. 112 new research projects have been opened this year,
37 commercial research projects and 75 non-commercial research projects.
The Trust continues to be an active member of the Quintiles Prime Site Consortium. In the calendar year
2016, the Trust opened 6 Quintiles studies, recruited 73 patients to these studies.
The implementation of the DRIVE (Delivery of Research Improvements) initiative (described last year) which
is now embedded in our processes led to further improvements in recruitment pathways and feasibility
assessments of the Trust research projects. This together with the going live of TriNetX will deliver more
robust feasibility and ensure time to target is met.

There is continuing evolution of the integration of academic research between the Trust and University of
Plymouth. The near completion of the new laboratories connected to the John Bull Building (Medical
School) offers the exciting potential of a new chapter in the development of research. This will bring basic
research scientists from the University of Plymouth close to the hospital campus, providing the opportunity
for the Trust and University to move into the area of Translational Medicine. Translational Medicine is an
interdisciplinary branch of the biomedical field supported by three main pillars: benchside (lab), bedside
and community. It is hoped that collaboration with all the stake holders (including the public) will lead to
the potential for rationally designing new and more effective clinical trials.
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In January the Trust trialled a new site audit process for one of its commercial pharmaceutical stakeholders.
Plymouth Hospital NHS Trust was the first site in Europe to “test” the process, which we are pleased to say
only; identified some minor findings.
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that it complies with national standards for handling information. It covers personal information, i.e. that
relating to patients/service users and employees, and corporate information, e.g. financial and accounting
records. The Trust achieved a score of 76% for Version 14 (2016/17) of the Information Governance Toolkit
which was submitted by 31 March 17. The Trust was given a green rating for this attainment level.
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The Trust continues to develop plans for a dedicated research facility, the T3 building to deliver Tomorrow’s
Treatments Today.
Conclusion
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust has a well established reputation for high quality research and development
and a strong record of participation in commercial and non-commercial clinical trials, as set out in this
report. Research at Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust bears testimony to the commitment of both staff and
patients in bringing tomorrow’s treatments nearer today.

Medical Revalidation
Revalidation is the process by which all licensed doctors are required to demonstrate on a regular basis that
they are up to date and fit to practice in their chosen field and able to provide a good level of care. This
means that holding a licence to practice is becoming an indicator that the doctor continues to meet the
professional standards set by the General Medical Council (GMC) and the specialist standards set by the
medical Royal Colleges and Faculties.
Revalidation aims to give extra confidence to patients that their doctor is being regularly checked by their
employer and the GMC. Licensed doctors have to revalidate usually every five years, by having annual
appraisal based on the General Medical Council’s core guidance for doctors, Good medical practice.
Revalidation and medical appraisal are led in the organisation by Dr Philip Hughes, Medical Director and
Responsible Officer. He is supported by a Medical Appraisal Lead, a senior manager and an appraisal
administrator.
The appraisal and revalidation team participate in quarterly regional network events, ensuring that they are
aware of current developments and best practice in the field. The Trust submits quarterly returns as
required by NHS England, as well as a detailed annual audit.
The Annual Medical Appraisal and Revalidation report was presented to and approved by the Trust Board in
September 2016.

Nursing Revalidation
Nursing and midwifery revalidation requires all Nursing & Midwifery Council (NMC) registrants to revalidate
every 3 years in order to maintain their registration.
The Director of Nursing is the appointed its Responsible Officer, who is leading on the management of
revalidation for Nursing & Midwifery Council registrants. The Trust has a Revalidation Policy which outlines
individual’s roles and responsibilities, the support available to registrants and confirmers and the Trusts
monitoring and compliance arrangements.
The administration function is designed to provide advance notice to registrants and their managers of
revalidation dates and detail what associated support and guidance is available. Revalidation completion
rates are monitored and escalation arraignments are in place for those who are approaching their
registration date and have not completed revalidation, or where registration has lapsed.
During the last year, the Trust confirmed revalidation for all registered nursing and midwifery staff who
were due for revalidation.
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Annex D National Clinical Audits
Category

Audit Name

Long Term Conditions
Long Term Conditions

2. Our Accountability Report

Long Term Conditions
Long Term Conditions
Older People

Older People
Other

Other

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA)
National Diabetes Audit – Adults - National Inpatient
Audit (NaDIA)
National Diabetes Audit – Adults - National Pregnancy
in Diabetes Audit (NPID)
Rheumatoid and Early Inflammatory Arthritis
Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit programme (FFFAP)

Inpatient Falls

National Hip Fracture Database
Sentinel Stroke National Audit programme (SSNAP)
National Ophthalmology Audit

Cataract Surgery

Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection
Completed

100%
N/A
N/A
100%

Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection

100%
100%
100%

Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection
Did not participate due to
operational pressures
Completed
Continuous data collection

100%
N/A
N/A

Continuous data collection

100%

No submission requirement
during 2016-17.
Continuous data collection

N/A

Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection
commenced mid 2016-17 following
implementation of Medisoft IT
solution. The Trust will not be
included in this reporting period.
In progress

100%
N/A

In progress

N/A

In progress
In progress

100%
See below

Continuous data collection

100%

Continuous data collection

100%

Continuous data collection
Completed
In progress

100%
100%
N/a
100%
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National Clinical Audit of Specialist Rehabilitation for
Patients with Complex Needs following Major Injury
(NCASRI)
Other
Medical and Surgical Clinical Outcome Review
Programme

Cancer in Children, Teens and Young Adults

Non-invasive ventilation
Older People
National Audit of Dementia
Women's and Children Child Health Clinical Outcome Review Programme
(NCEPOD)

Chronic Neurodisability

Young People’s Mental Health
Women's and Children Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome
Review Programme (MBRRACE-UK)
Women's and Children Neonatal Intensive and Special Care (NNAP)
Non NCAPOP Audits
Acute
Case Mix Programme (CMP)
Acute
BTS – Adult Asthma
Acute
BTS - Paediatric Pneumonia
Acute
BAUS Urology Audits

% of cases
submitted

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

NCAPOP Mandatory Audits
Acute
National Emergency Laparotomy Audit (NELA)
Acute
National Joint Registry (NJR) - Hip replacement
Acute
National Joint Registry (NJR) - Knee replacement
Acute
National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
(COPD) Audit Programme
Secondary

Cancer
Bowel Cancer (NBOCAP)
Cancer
National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA)
Cancer
Head and Neck Cancer Audit (DAHNO/HANA)
Cancer
Oesophago-gastric Cancer (NAOGC)
Cancer
National Prostate Cancer Audit
Heart
Acute Coronary Syndrome or Acute Myocardial
Infarction (MINAP)
Heart
Adult Cardiac Surgery
Heart
Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM)
Heart
Coronary Angioplasty/National Audit of Percutaneous
Coronary Interventions (PCI)
Heart
National Heart Failure Audit
Heart
National Vascular Registry
Long Term Conditions Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) programme

Status

Annex D National Clinical Audits
Category

Acute
Acute
Acute
Acute

Acute
Blood and Transplant

Heart
Other
Other

Other
Other

Audit Name

Status


Female Stress Urinary Incontinence Audit

Radical Prostatectomy Audit

Nephrectomy audit
Percutaneous Nephrolithotomy (PCNL)

RCEM - Moderate & Acute Severe Asthma - adult and
paediatric (care in emergency departments)
RCEM - Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock
(care in emergency departments)
Neurosurgical National Audit Programme
Renal Replacement Therapy (Renal Registry)

Completed
In progress
In progress
Completed

Major Trauma Audit
National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion
programme

Re-audit of the 2016 audit of red cell and platelet
transfusion in adult haematology patients

Re-audit of Patient Blood Management in
Scheduled Surgery
National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA)
Endocrine and Thyroid National Audit (BAETS)
Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme)

Unilateral Hip Replacement

Unilateral Knee Replacement

Varicose Veins Surgery

Groin Hernia Surgery
UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry – Adult
UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry - Paediatric

% of cases
submitted

Completed

100%

Completed

100%

Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection

Continuous data collection

100%
Unknown Report due
Apr-17
100%

Completed

100%

Completed
Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection

100%
100%
N/a
100%

Continuous data collection
Continuous data collection

100%
100%
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Annex D National Clinical Audits
Category
Comments
National Confidential Enquiries

Non-Invasive
Ventilation (NIV)

The aim of this study is to explore avoidable and remediable factors in the process of care for patients
treated with non-invasive ventilation. This study focuses on the prompt recognition of ventilatory failure and
rapid initiation of NIV.

Cancer in
Children, Teens
and Young
People

The aim of the study is to review patients under the age of 25 years old that have had unplanned admission
to critical care within 30 days of receiving systemic anti-cancer therapy (SACT). This study also reviews the
decision making and consent process around the prescription of SACT.

Chronic
Neurodisability

The aim of this study is to identify the remediable factors in the quality of care provided to children and
young people with chronic disabling conditions, focusing in particular on cerebral palsies. The study focuses
on professionals with a range of expertise, procedures and interventions, and access to equipment.

Young People’s
Mental Health

The aim of this study is to identify the remediable factors in the quality of care provided to young people
treated for mental health disorders; with specific reference to depression and anxiety, eating disorders and
self-harm.

Title of Study
Non-Invasive Ventilation
(NIV)

2. Our Accountability Report

Cancer in Children, Teens
and Young People
Chronic Neurodisability
Young People’s Mental
Health

Status

Number (%) of
cases included

Action
All 5 cases selected by NCEPOD received home oxygen
and were excluded from the study. The report is due
to be published in June 2017.
At present no cases have been selected for further
review by NCEPOD.

Completed

0

In progress

0

In progress

10

An additional 3 cases were selected and excluded from
the study.

In progress

4

One of the 4 cases is being reviewed as possible
exclusion.

4. Appendices
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During 2016/17 hospitals were eligible to enter data into four NCEPOD studies. The Trust submitted data for all four studies,
equating to 100% participation. Full details of national confidential enquiries can be found at www.ncepod.org.uk. Details are
listed below:

Quality Account 2016/17

46

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17 141

Annex E Example Outcomes from Clinical Audits
Audit Description

Comments

PRIORITY 1: Mandatory National Audits
Sentinel Stroke National
Audit Programme (SSNAP)

There are no actual recommendations from the SSNAP but there is regular analysis of areas that have
lower scores. This is aided with the development of an improvement plan. A process has been
implemented where Root Cause Analysis reports will be undertaken for all instances where it has taken
over 60 minutes ‘door to needle’ time in a bid to improve thrombolysis rates. There is also a business
case to address staffing levels for the number of Allied Health Professionals vs number of Acute Stroke
beds. This is to address the National Stroke Standards.

Case Mix Programme
(CMP)

The data is submitted through the Intensive Care National Audit & Research Centre (ICNARC) system on a
quarterly basis. The key changes in the last year have been in trying to reduce delays to discharge from
the Intensive Care Unit to the wards. This is part of a larger quality improvement project due to this
becoming a Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) national goal.

National Joint Registry
(NJR)

The Trust was highlighted as an outlier and one of the worst performing in respect of knee replacement
revisions. NJR indicated that it is possible that within the national data that some revisions are underreported. The Trauma and Orthopaedic Service Line has confirmed that there has been data collection
and entry concerns due to a shortage and change of administrative staff. New processes have been
implemented and a local performance report is being developed to highlight missing submissions from
the NJR. The Lead Nurse will then chase missing NJR forms to ensure 100% data submission.

National Cardiac Arrest
Audit (NCAA)

The Trust is part of the National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) which examines cardiac arrest data and
benchmarks against many other acute Trusts. The latest NCAA report 2015-2016 highlights the Trust has
34% cardiac arrest survival to discharge rate, which is much higher than the national average of 18-21%.
This improved success rate is likely to be attributed to the resuscitation policy and usage of the Devon
Wide Treatment Escalation Plan (TEP) documentation that identifies patients appropriately ‘not for
resuscitation’ and preventing futile and inappropriate resuscitation attempts.

PRIORITY 2: Corporate Must Do Audits
Clinical Record Keeping

Ionising Radiation (Medical
Exposure) Regulation
(IRMER)

It is essential that a planned programme of audit of our clinical record keeping is undertaken across all
specialties to ensure that the quality of the health record facilitates high quality treatment and care.
It is also a mandatory requirement of the Department of Health to undertake an annual
assessment (Information Governance Toolkit) which states that clinical record-keeping audits must
be undertaken across at least 50% of specialties to assess the standard of record-keeping.
The Trust achieved 71% compliance in 2016/17. Compliance is monitored through the Clinical
Effectiveness Group.
A rolling audit programme is being implemented across specialties where agreements have been
made for clinicians to evaluate a patient’s films within the patients’ clinical record rather than awaiting a
formal Radiologist report.
Six of the eight specialties required to undertake this audit have completed. There are two areas of noncompliance that are being monitored through the Radiation Protection Committee.

PRIORITY 3: Service line must do clinical audits
Predictors and outcomes
of completion axillary node
clearance in node positive
breast cancer patients at
Derriford hospital

The evaluation was undertaken as part of a quality assurance process for the West Devon and East
Cornwall Breast Screening Unit. This was undertaken due to uncertainty created by out of date national
best practice guidance to ensure that local practice is appropriate. The auditor concluded that the Breast
Unit have been able to navigate safely through a time of contradicting guidance from various medical
bodies regulating the practice and that there is no requirement to change current practice.

Has the use of Octenilin as
opposed to chlorhexidine
for skin preparation prior
to needing vascular access
improved patients skin
irritation/dermatitis

This retrospective audit was undertaken to review the effectiveness of a departmental change to use
Octenilin as opposed to chlorhexidine for skin preparation to see if a patient’s skin irritation / dermatitis
improved. There was a noted increase in the number of dialysis patients developing dermatitis due to the
frequent cleansing of the fistula area. The audit results show conclusively that all patients previously
suffering from dermatitis were clear of any signs of dermatitis six months after the change of skin
preparation from Chlorhexidine to Octenilin. Octenilin was found to be an effective and safe alternative
skin cleanser for patients reacting to Chlorhexidine and there have been no recorded problems with
anaphylaxis, skin irritation or infection. The locally agreed change to introduce Octenilin has been agreed
by the Infection Control Team and the revised protocol is being implemented for all Haemodialysis
patients.
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Annex E Example Outcomes from Clinical Audits
Comments

Safety, visual and
anatomical outcomes of
intravitreal injection of
Ozurdex performed same
day with cataract surgery

A retrospective observational review was undertaken of 16 consecutive eyes that underwent a combined
surgical procedure (micro incisional cataract surgery by phacoemulsification and intravitreal application
of steroid implant Ozurdex®) for the treatment of significant cataract and macular oedema due to
diabetic retinopathy or retinal vein occlusion. The review concluded that the procedure can be done
safely in one session and that it delivers expected anatomical and visual benefits in the majority of
patients. It also found during a review of the age related factor that younger patients had better final
visual acuities and better response in Central retinal thickness (CRT) reduction.

Emergency Care
Physiotherapy Audit (7 day
working)

The aim of this audit was to ascertain the number of physio referrals after 5pm on weekdays and to see if
a patients’ length of stay could be decreased if there was a late shift physio. The initial audit undertaken
in December 2015 highlighted that 37% of the patients visited during the late shift (5-7pm) were
discharged that evening and would usually wait until the following day for assessment. A Band 6
Physiotherapist post that works 10am – 7pm was piloted. Subsequent evaluation found this pilot to be
successful and resulted in a substantive appointment to this post. A further re-audit will be undertaken
to assess the effectiveness of this appointment.

PRIORITY 4: Specialist Interest Audits
This audit aimed to identify the level of compliance in following the departmental guideline regarding the
indications, procedure, recording and reporting. The results highlighted that only 11% of the
immunisation schedules were followed up and that further work was required in regards to recording the
Hep B vaccination. The cause was linked to unclear information in the guideline as to which paperwork
was required. A detailed action plan has been created to assist in appropriate completion of the
Hepatitis B immunisation schedule with the majority of actions near completion. This includes adding an
additional training requirement to Junior Doctor departmental induction.

Anticipated Nausea and
Vomiting in Chemotherapy
Patients

This service evaluation looked to find patterns in chemotherapy patients with anticipated nausea and
vomiting (ANV) affects. A questionnaire was collected to identify the patients that could be treated with
antiemetic drugs prior to treatment. The results highlighted anxiety amongst patients prior to and during
to chemotherapy treatment and it was agreed that further discussions were required with the patients’
during their ‘New Patient’ talk. During the new patient assessment a screening process will be
implemented to assess whether it is appropriate to treat patients with anti-emetic drugs and relaxation
therapies prior to their treatment to help them cope with anxiety which could lead to anticipatory
nausea and vomiting.

2. Our Accountability Report

Immunisation of Infants at
Risk of Hepatitis B

Audit on virtual diabetic
retinopathy clinics in the
Royal Eye Infirmary

This audit aimed to review the outcomes and patient satisfaction of four pilot virtual diabetic retinopathy
clinics from April 2016 –June 2016. The pilot received good patient satisfactory with 97% of patients
advising they would recommend the service. The virtual clinics resulted in only 30% requiring attendance
for further treatment with 42% of patients being discharged from the service without having to attend a
further unnecessary visit to the hospital.

4. Appendices
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Audit Description
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2017/18 priorities

Reduce the number of complaints relating to staff
attitude and behaviour
Improve patient’s perception of staffing on our wards In your opinion are there enough nurses on duty to care
for you in hospital? (Q31 National Inpatient Survey –
Always / Nearly Always)
Call bells to be responded to within 5 minutes (Q44
National Inpatient Survey 2016)

Reduce the overall staff vacancy factor

Reduce staff sickness and absence levels

Maintain agreed staffing levels for all wards in line with
Safer Staffing

Description

<10%
>65%

>90%

56%

80%

tbc

tbc

2017/18
Target
Planned vs
Actual >95%

107

11.14%

2016/17
Performance
Planned vs
Actual
Feb 17 –
overall 91.1%
4.14%

We have reviewed our current position based on information from the past 12
months. We have then used this information to set targets for the coming year.

Current Position

Having the right nursing staff in the right place at the right time is a fundamental
element to delivery of safe high quality care for our patients. Patient survey results
show us patients do not always feel the wards are adequately staffed. Nursing,
midwifery and care staff, working as part of wider multidisciplinary teams, play a
critical role in securing high quality care and excellent outcomes for patients

Rationale

Priority 1: Staffing – Improve the patient experience by ensuring our wards
and departments have the correct levels of staff with the appropriate skills

Annex F

Improve the hospital website in order to attract staff to the organisation and
develop a prospectus to inform potential staff about our specialist areas.
Complete an annual establishment review In line with the National Quality
Board recommendations.
Put in place a quarterly review process to ensure workforce plans remain in
alignment with the Trust’s financial and activity plans. This approach will ensure
that we not only track delivery but that we also revise our plans to meet our
activity requirements by adapting roles and skills mix in light of changing
recruitment market features.
Progress the reporting of all health roster metrics to enable real time monitoring
of ward performance of rosters, including the Carter metrics on workforce
efficiencies.
Implement the full guidance regarding Care Hours per Patient Day. This will
allow us to review the amount of nursing hours that is needed to care for our
patients safely.
Build on the successes of previous recruitment open days and schedule future
dates for 2017/18.
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We will monitor staffing levels and incidents on a monthly basis to the Nursing and
Midwifery Operational Committee, chaired by the Director of Nursing. In addition
we will provide monthly and bi-annual updates to the Patient Experience
Committee, Trust Management Executive and Public Trust Board. External reports
monitoring progress against staffing levels will be provided to our commissioners,
NHS Improvement (NHSI) and the Care Quality Commission.

Measuring Progress

•

•

•

•

•

•

We will continue to adopt innovative approaches to the recruitment of clinical staff
but face challenges in recruiting staff in some key service areas and are developing a
stronger plan for addressing these issues on a sustainable basis.

How we will do it

Annex F

2016/17
Performance

0.80%

2017/18
Target

Measuring Progress

4. Appendices

Putting Patients First (PPF) programme, is designed to improve flow through our hospital
and improve quality of care for patients as well as quality of working life for our staff.
We’re seeing early signs of improvement, for example, higher number of discharges
before midday and on the weekend, but we know there is more to be done and Putting
Patients 1st is the lynchpin of our internal transformation. We have an ethos of
continuous improvement and our own Quality Academy to support this. Allied to this,
teams in procurement, service improvement and finance are working to help clinical
services Get it Right First Time.

Putting Patients First

We are developing improvement trajectories for each of the key national operational
standards. The current position for each of the key national performance standards is as
follows:
 Urgent care: We are currently planning to meet the national standard of at least
95% of patients being admitted, transferred or discharged within 4 hours by January
2018.
 Elective care: We are currently planning to reduce the number of patients waiting
longer than 18 weeks for treatment and achieve a standard of 89% by March 2018.
This is informed by the discussions currently being held within the STP.
 Diagnostics: We are currently planning to meet the national standard of <1% of
patients waiting more than 6 weeks by October 2017. The achievement of this
trajectory will be dependent on a number of critical factors including equipment
developments, continued outsourcing and successful recruitment to key positions.
 Cancer: We are currently planning to meet the national standard of at least 85% of
patients within agreed timeframes and are in the process of revising our profile of
improvement.

How we will do it

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts
2017/18 priorities

Priority 2: Reduce the number of patients who are cancelled and ensure
patients are able to access services within acceptable timeframes
Rationale
Patients have the right to expect timely care which is in line with best practice. The
Trust has recently experienced difficulties with capacity which resulted in
cancellations for patients and longer waits for treatment that we would like.
Current Position

3.03%

95% tbc

We have reviewed our current position based on information from the past 12
months. We have then used this information to set targets for the coming year.

Number of patients who are cancelled

84.34%

Description

A&E four hour waiting time

85.7%

<1% tbc

92% by
March 2018
tbc

3.7%

Referral to Treatment incomplete pathways
 The operating standard for all providers is 92%
and any deviation below this must be
specifically agreed with the provider regulator
and commissioners.
 Where there are over 52 week waiters,
develop trajectories to eliminate all over
52week waiters as soon as possible and by no
later than March 2017.
Over 6 week diagnostic waiting times
 Develop bespoke trajectories which as a
minimum delivers 1% or below

We will monitor progress against the overall projects through the Service Improvement
programme structure and drive changes in practice via the Quality Improvement
Committee chaired by the Medical Director. These programmes will be governed through
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the Operational Performance & Delivery Group (OPDG) and regular reports to the Trust
2. Our
Accountability Report
Board.
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2017/18 priorities

E-Discharge
This project will be focusing on managing the information that is provided when patients
leave the hospital. We recognise how important it is that patients understand there
recent admission in respect of their diagnosis, medications, ongoing care and possible
complications. We will be working with our patients, general practitioners, pharmacists,
community staff and the staff at our organisation to make sure that when we discharge
patients, they have the best possible information, that it is accurate, is provided in a

Audit results indicate that we do not always record a full set of vital observations and we
do not always document when we escalate that a patient has triggered. We need a
robust data capture of observations that have been carried out on the ward and the
ability to auto trigger on an alert.

Deteriorating Patient (Sepsis)
We have made a significant improvement in sepsis management across the organisation
in the last 12 months, time to antibiotics has improved from 5 hours to 44 minutes.
Assessment tools and educational resources had been provided to our staff and the
learning made from our acute admission areas is now being spread to wards where the
highest incidences of sepsis are likely. This work will continue in 2017 and 2018 as we are
part of the national CQUIN programme.

We have reviewed our current position based on information from the past 12 months
and used this information to set targets for the coming year.

Current Position

Untreated sepsis can progress to severe sepsis, multi-organ failure, septic shock and
ultimately death. Septic shock has a 50% mortality rate. Sepsis in children is estimated to
be 10 – 15% and is the most common cause of direct maternal death. Around 35,000
people die from sepsis in England each year. As a patient in hospital there is a chance
that if you deteriorate you may not receive the necessary response in a timely fashion.
This may cause you to be more unwell, affect your treatment, increase your length of
stay and alter your views about your experience in hospital.

Rationale

Priority 3: Improve the quality and reliability of the care we provide to our
patients

Annex F

2016/17
Performance
97% - ED
75.5% -MAU/SAU
66% - ED
77% -MAU/SAU
100%
100%

95%

2017/18
Target
95%
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Through the electronic whiteboard system SALUS, all of our ward areas are able to
monitor a number of key safety and quality indicators, which will enable ward staff to
monitor their progress in key safety areas and take action.

We will monitor progress and drive changes in practice monthly via the Quality
Improvement Committee chaired by the Medical Director. Clinical teams will be
monitored against progress using the CQUIN metrics agreed with our commissioners.

Measuring Progress

E-Discharge
We will work with patients and colleagues to identify what information is needed at the
point of discharge.

Deteriorating patient (Sepsis)
• Adopt the national CQUIN targets for sepsis for 2017/18 as our ambition
• Continue to run the sepsis programme through the sepsis management group
• Provide data to our ward areas to ensure the know their daily performance in the
management of septic patients
• Focus more on the management of septic children to ensure they get best care
• Introduce the electronic observations project
• Complete a procurement exercise to evaluate and purchase an electronic patient
observation and monitoring system on wards

How we will do it

Severe Sepsis – screening of all patients who present
with potential sepsis
Severe Sepsis – antibiotics to be given within one hour
of diagnosis
Severe Sepsis – 3 days after antibiotics have been given
a review of the appropriateness to continue is required.

Description

timely fashion and contains the information of most value to our patients. This project
will run for a year when we will be expecting our first pilots of the new process to be in
place.

Annex G Sign Up to Safety Programme
Sign Up to Safety

We shape our work around the following key areas, which help us remain open to learning:
 How do we create lasting change and a future where patients and those who care for them are free
from avoidable harm?
 How can we create a safety culture that leads to lasting change? If we create a culture where staff and
patients are treated with empathy and kindness when things go wrong we can learn more about what
we can do differently to make care safer
 If the solutions and proven interventions exist already, we can help people with implementation of
evidence based interventions and tools to inspire and motivate people to keep going
 Are we working inter-professionally and increasing the reliability of the fundamentals of care? e.g.
communication
 Do we capture data and learn from incidents and investigations effectively? If we do this we will have a
good chance of preventing things from going wrong in the future

2. Our Accountability Report

At the heart of Sign up to Safety is the philosophy of locally led, self-directed safety improvement. Sign up
to Safety is designed to help realise the ambition of making the NHS the safest healthcare system in the
world by creating a system devoted to continuous learning and improvement. This ambition is bigger than
any one individual or organisation and achieving it requires all our staff to unite behind this common
purpose. We want to give patients confidence that we are doing all we can to ensure the care they receive
will be safe and effective at all times. Sign up to Safety aims to deliver harm free care for every patient,
every time, everywhere. It champions openness and honesty and supports everyone to improve safety for
our patients.
Sign up to Safety’s 3 year (2015-16, 2016-17, 2017-18) objective is to reduce avoidable harm by 50% and
save 6,000 lives. As part of Signing up for Safety our organisation has committed to setting out the actions
to improve safety and made the following pledges:

Our pledges were derived from current programs of work identified from incidents, NHS Litigation
Authority claims and patient and staff feedback as well as nationally recognised areas for improvement.
The following programs of work have been included for the coming year:
Reduce falls leading to harm
We continue to work on reducing our number of falls that harm our patients, and we are on track to
achieve our 20% reduction for 2016/17. We have set a new target for the 2017/18 year to further reduce
the number of falls resulting in harm by a further 10%. We take into account recommendations from
Quality Account 2016/17
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 Put safety first: Commit to reduce avoidable harm in the NHS by half and make public our goals and
plans developed locally.
 Continually learn: Make our organisation more resilient to risks, by acting on the feedback from
patients and by constantly measuring and monitoring how safe our services are.
 Honesty: Be transparent with people about our progress to tackle patient safety issues and support
staff to be candid with patients and their families if something goes wrong.
 Collaborate: Take a leading role in supporting local collaborative learning, so that improvements are
made across all of the local services that patients use.
 Support: Help people understand why things go wrong and how to put them right. Give staff the time
and support to improve and celebrate the progress.

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

Sign up to Safety is a national initiative to help NHS organisations achieve their patient safety aspirations
and care for their patients in the safest way possible. We want to give patients confidence that we are
doing all we can to ensure the care they receive will be safe and effective at all times.

Annex G Sign Up to Safety Programme
national reports, and will take part in the National Audit of Inpatient Falls in May 2017. We learn from our
data so we know what we need to do differently to further reduce the risk of harm to the patients in our
care. Our Falls Risk Assessment and Care Plan is specific to the patient and we continue to support our
ward teams to put in place measures to help reduce the risk of falls. We know we can further improve the
way we implement these measures, and so the 2017 work around reducing falls will be focused much more
on ensuring those specific measures to reduce the risk of falls are in place for our patients. We will also be
looking at the reasons as to why a patient may fall on more than one occasion

Reducing Harm from Pressure Ulcers
We are on track to achieve our targeted reduction in grade 2-4 hospital acquired pressure ulcers and have
set a target of a further 10% reduction in 2017/18. We continue to ensure that we learn from our
investigations and data in order to reduce the occurrence of pressure ulcers. Work continues on improving
the accuracy of pressure ulcer risk assessment and the use of appropriate measures to reduce the risk to
our patients by further developing the skills and knowledge base of inpatient nursing staff. The tissue
viability team continue to work in targeted areas to reduce the number of pressure ulcers occurring.

Reduce the number of adverse incidents resulting from failure to respond to a deteriorating patient
The year has been a significant improvement in sepsis management across the organisation. The average
time to antibiotics has improved from 5 hours to 44 minutes. Assessment tools and educational resources
have been provided to our staff and the learning from our acute admission areas is now being spread to
wards where the highest incidences of sepsis are likely to occur. The organisation has been shortlisted in
the national patient safety awards for the work on sepsis. This work will continue in 2017 and 2018 as we
are part of the national CQUIN programme.
Responding to diagnostic reports
We intend to improve our timeliness in responding to diagnostic reports. The recommended further
actions within these reports will be acknowledged and implemented when clinically appropriate. There can
be adverse consequences resulting from delays to diagnosis and treatment. This project aims to eradicate
delays.
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Annex H Statement of directors’ responsibilities

In preparing their Quality account, directors should take steps to assure themselves that:
 the Quality Account presents a balanced picture of the trust’s performance over the reporting period;
 the performance information reported in the Quality Account is reliable and accurate;
 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance
included in the Quality Account, and these controls are subject to review to confirm they are working
effectively in practice;
 the data underpinning the measure of performance reported in the Quality Account is robust and
reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, and is subject to
appropriate scrutiny and review;
 the Quality Account has been prepared in accordance with any Department of Health guidance.
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the Quality Account.

2. Our Accountability Report

By order of the Board

Richard Crompton
Chairman

Ann James
Chief Executive

Date: 30 June 2017

Date: 30 June 2017

4. Appendices

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009, National Health Service (Quality Accounts)
Regulations 2010 and National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Amendments Regulations 2011 and 2012
to prepare a Quality Account for each financial year. The Department of Health has issued guidance on the
form and content of annual Quality Accounts (in line with requirements set out in Quality Accounts
legislation).

Quality Account 2016/17

54

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17 149

Annex I

Statements from external stakeholders

Local Healthwatch (Plymouth, Cornwall, Devon and Torbay)

Local Healthwatch (Plymouth, Cornwall, Devon and Torbay) continue to work with Plymouth Hospitals NHS
Trust to ensure that the patient voice is heard at service design and decision making level.
We were pleased to read the Quality Account for Plymouth Hospital NHS Trust for 2015/16. Despite the
ever increasing challenges faced by the Trust considerable progress in its action plan following both its CQC
inspection in 2015 and re-inspection in 2016 has started to deliver resulting in areas being previously rated
as ‘Inadequate’ now being rated as ‘Good’ or ‘Requires Improvement’.
The level of operational pressure felt by the Trust continues to be high, with the number of attendances at
the Emergency Department continuing to increase, leading to increasing admissions that impact on the
delivery of elective procedures. This in turn leads to patient frustration due to significant cancellations of
operations. Part of the challenge faced by the Trust around this involves the timeliness of the discharge
process. Whilst the Trust has made improvements in their process, particularly around the pharmacy
medication process, they continued to be hampered by finite resources in the local health and social care
system to deliver follow on care.
Patient feedback received around Derriford Hospital and its services is generally positive, with most
commenting on the excellent level of care received and the way that staff positively go about delivering
that care. However, there are occasions when things don’t quite go as planned and we note the Trust’s
commitment to continue to improve the quality and safety of care provided. With reference to the work
done on Priority 2: Reduce the number of patients who are cancelled and ensure access to services within
acceptable timeframes; this is fully supported by local Healthwatch as we can confirm that the feedback
shared with us expresses waiting times as an area of complaint and concern.
We note and support the Trust’s priorities for 2017/18 around staffing levels, reduction in cancellation of
procedures and timely access to services and improving the quality and reliability of care provided to
patients. In particular we also note the introduction of the first element of the eNotes project in a move
away from paper records to a more seamless digital solution to Patient Records.
Local Healthwatch continues to work with Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust as a critical friend, where
representatives from Healthwatch Plymouth and Cornwall attend the Patient Experience Committee. These
meetings are an effective way to allow health professionals to understand concerns of patients that use
their services. Likewise Healthwatch Devon continue to liaise directly with the patient experience lead via
the regional patient experience network.
Both Healthwatch Cornwall and Plymouth continue to have a monthly presence at Derriford Hospital
gathering the views of patients, relatives and carers.

Northern, Eastern and Western Devon Clinical Commissioning Group

Introduction
NHS Northern, Eastern and Western Devon Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) welcomes the
opportunity to review and comment on the Quality Account for Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust (PHNT)
2016/17 and would like to offer the following commentary.
As commissioners of health services we have a duty to ensure that the services commissioned are of good
quality and we are pleased to see that there continues to be a whole system approach by the Trust to
ensure continued patient safety. We have continued to work with the Trust through well-established
mechanisms to monitor the quality of services and continuous improvement.
Achievements of note which we would like to commend the Trust on include:
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Additionally, the Trust should be congratulated on achieving a significant improvement in domains rated as
‘Requires Improvement’ or ‘Inadequate’ there are now 38 domains rated as ‘Good’
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)
The CCG has worked collaboratively and successfully with the Trust to develop the Commissioning for
Quality & Innovation (CQUIN) scheme for 2016/17 and the Trust was able to demonstrate improvements in
the management of patients with sepsis. This work will continue in 2017/18.
Maternity
The new maternity pilot integrating midwives into the ambulance call centre is an exciting innovation.
Upon completion the CCG would wish to work with the Trust to better understand how this initiative could
improve outcomes for mothers and babies. The work to be carried out by the Trust and the CCG
collaboratively in implementing the Better Births policy will be crucial in addressing safety and continuing
to see improvement in maternity outcomes.
Safe Care
The CCG acknowledges that despite the significant pressures the Trust has prioritised reducing
cancellations and delayed treatments. The CCG will continue to support the Trusts initiatives and is
confident that they will drive this agenda forward.

2. Our Accountability Report

Patient Experience
The CCG is delighted that the Trust will continue its work from 2016 to deliver the 6 C’s in a new strategy to
add value to a patients care to achieve better outcomes, patient experience and better use of resources led
by the Matrons and Heads of Nursing.
This is in addition to the Trust continuing their work to improve the overall patient experience which has
demonstrated consistently positive feedback from patients, carers and service users.
Looking forward
The CCG welcome the specific priorities for 2017/18 which are highlighted within the report and consider
that they are appropriate areas to target for continued improvement. The CCG is assured that these
priorities were developed in conjunction with key stakeholders, including staff and patients.

Lorna Collingwood-Burke
Chief Nursing Officer

Plymouth Caring Plymouth Scrutiny Panel

Unfortunately due to a conflict between the deadline set by the Department of Health for the submission
of Quality Accounts and the Council’s municipal calendar the Caring Plymouth Scrutiny Panel has been
unable to consider these Quality Accounts as part of a standard committee meeting.
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It is felt overall that the report is well written and reflective of quality activity and future aspirations. The
CCG looks forward to continuing to work in partnership with the trust to assure the quality of services
commissioned in 2017/18.

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

Care Quality Commission (CQC)
As the first Trust in the south west to be awarded ‘Outstanding for caring’ the CCG recognises the
significant hard work and commitment to quality and patient safety demonstrated by the staff and
leadership at PHNT in order to achieve this status.
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Cornwall Health and Adults Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Thank you for providing us with your quality account for the year 2016 - 2017. Cornwall Council entered
into the pre-election period on 20 March 2017 and an election was held on the 4 May 2017.
The next meeting of the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not take place
until June 2017. Therefore the Committee have not met to agree a statement on the quality account
provided by the organisation.
It is confirmed that representatives of Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust have attended meetings when needed
and the organisation has provided reports and information to the Committee on an ongoing basis.
Patient Council
In its successful second year, the Patient Council has worked to optimise its good relationship with the
Trust Board to both support and challenge them in the delivery of their mission to put the patient at the
centre of all they do.
The year also saw increasing contact from managers in many hospital areas, clinical and administrative,
asking for patient input to new projects and initiatives.
Council members continue to be involved in a number of activities including:
 Stakeholder feedback for the Success Regime
 PLACE assessments (patient view of the hospital environment, catering, cleanliness etc.)
 Spot checks on wards and corridors, trying to ensure that equipment is kept to one side in order to help
those with sight and orientation difficulties
 End of life care
 Discharge management
 Anti-smoking working group
 Patient/community support groups
 Input to the hospital Quality Academy
 Contributing to the development of the new hospital website
 Raising the profile of the disabled patient, especially with respect to accessibility issues
 Contributing to the Equal opportunities group
 Environmental issues on the hospital estate
 Enhancing patient involvement in their treatment plans using new technology, liaising with clinical staff
at consultant level
2016 also saw the start of a scheme to align individual council members with clinical disciplines, to work
with matrons and other senior staff to provide patient input and support for new initiatives.
Council members are drawn from various patient support groups, and are able to represent the patient and
carer viewpoint.
Jane Hitchings, Chair Patient Council
John Osborn, Deputy Chair Patient Council
Lay Chair of the Patient Experience Committee
Progress has been made in numerous areas of care by Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust during 2016/17, in
spite of the continuing pressures of patient acuity and numbers, and their need of treatment both in
emergency and elective settings. It is encouraging and reassuring that culture is changing to become
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It is essential that the development and implementation of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan, to
which senior hospital staff make significant contribution, gives patients, staff and systems the opportunities
urgently required to improve the way healthcare provision is organised for maximum effectiveness and
benefit for the people it needs to serve. The challenges to the wider NHS and to Plymouth Hospitals NHS
Trust are enormous, as are the potential benefits. The community which is Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust,
made up of it present patients and staff must commit, co-operate and work together to achieve the best
possible future, not only for each other but for those who will follow us.
Vera Mitchell, Lay Chair Patient Experience Committee

2. Our Accountability Report

4. Appendices

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

increasingly transparent and collaborative, giving better care and experience to patients from better
motivated, more committed and more satisfied staff. There is evidence of Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust
being an increasingly positive hospital, ready to initiate and embrace beneficial change. In spite of
continuing daily operational challenges there is evidence of many improvements achieved in clinical
treatments and in care for the patient as a person. Improvements to the patient environment, clinical
administration, food, privacy and compassion stand alongside the progress resulting from research and
clinical audit programmes, all leading to better patient care and outcomes.
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Independent auditor’s report

Independent Auditor's Limited Assurance Report to the Directors of Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust on the
Annual Quality Account
We are required to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of Plymouth Hospitals NHS
Trust’s Quality Account for the year ended 31 March 2017 (“the Quality Account”) and certain performance
indicators contained therein as part of our work. NHS trusts are required by section 8 of the Health Act 2009 to
publish a quality account which must include prescribed information set out in The National Health Service
(Quality Account) Regulations 2010, the National Health Service (Quality Account) Amendment Regulations
2011 and the National Health Service (Quality Account) Amendment Regulations 2012 (“the Regulations”).
Scope and subject matter

The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2017 subject to limited assurance consist of the following indicators:
 Percentage of patient safety incidents resulting in severe harm or death (page 30)
 Rate of clostridium difficile infections (page 30)
We refer to these two indicators collectively as “the indicators”.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 to prepare a Quality Account for each financial year. The
Department of Health has issued guidance on the form and content of annual Quality Accounts (which
incorporates the legal requirements in the Health Act 2009 and the Regulations).
In preparing the Quality Account, the directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:
 the Quality Account presents a balanced picture of the Trust’s performance over the period covered;
 the performance information reported in the Quality Account is reliable and accurate;
 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance
included in the Quality Account, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are
working effectively in practice;
 the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Account is robust and
reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, and is subject to
appropriate scrutiny and review; and
 the Quality Account has been prepared in accordance with Department of Health guidance.
The Directors are required to confirm compliance with these requirements in a statement of directors’
responsibilities within the Quality Account.
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether anything has
come to our attention that causes us to believe that:
 the Quality Account is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the
Regulations;
 the Quality Account is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in the NHS
Quality Accounts Auditor Guidance 2014-15 issued by the Department of Health in March 2015 (“the
Guidance”); and
 the indicators in the Quality Account identified as having been the subject of limited assurance in the
Quality Account are not reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the Regulations and
the six dimensions of data quality set out in the Guidance.
We read the Quality Account and conclude whether it is consistent with the requirements of the Regulations and
to consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any material omissions.

Quality Account 2016/17

154 Leading with excellence, caring with compassion

59

Annex J

Independent auditor’s report

2. Our Accountability Report

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with these documents (collectively the “documents”). Our responsibilities do not extend to any
other information.
This report, including the conclusion, is made solely to the Board of Directors of Plymouth Hospitals NHS
Trust.
We permit the disclosure of this report to enable the Board of Directors to demonstrate that they have
discharged their governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance report in connection
with the indicators. To the fullest extent permissible by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Board of Directors as a body and Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust for our work or this report save
where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing.
Assurance work performed

A limited assurance engagement is narrower in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. The nature,
timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a
reasonable assurance engagement.
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We conducted this limited assurance engagement under the terms of the Guidance. Our limited assurance
procedures included:
 evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for managing and reporting
the indicators;
 making enquiries of management;
 testing key management controls;
 limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicators tested back to supporting
documentation;
 comparing the content of the Quality Account to the requirements of the Regulations; and
 reading the documents.

4. Appendix - Quality Accounts

We read the other information contained in the Quality Account and consider whether it is materially
inconsistent with:
 Board minutes for the period April 2016 to June 2017;
 papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the period April 2016 to
June 2017;
 feedback from Commissioners dated 18/05/2017;
 feedback from Local Healthwatch organisations dated 19/05/2017;
 feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 18/05/2017;
 feedback from other named stakeholder(s) involved in the sign off of the Quality Account dated
15/05/2017;
 the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority, Social Services and
NHS Complaints (England) Regulations 2009, dated May 2017;
 the latest national patient survey dated 17/02/2017;
 the latest local patient survey dated March 2017;
 the latest national staff survey dated 07/03/2017;
 the latest local staff survey dated 02/06/2017;
 the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control environment dated May 2017;
 the annual governance statement dated 19/04/2017;
 the Care Quality Commission inspection report dated 25/11/2016; and
 the results of the Payment by Results coding review dated October 2016.

Annex J

Independent auditor’s report

Limitations

Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial information, given
the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for determining such information.
The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the selection of different
but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially different measurements and can impact
comparability. The precision of different measurement techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and
methods used to determine such information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision thereof, may
change over time. It is important to read the Quality Account in the context of the criteria set out in the
Regulations.
The nature, form and content required of Quality Accounts are determined by the Department of Health. This
may result in the omission of information relevant to other users, for example for the purpose of comparing the
results of different NHS organisations.
In addition, the scope of our limited assurance work has not included governance over quality or non-mandated
indicators which have been determined locally by Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust.
Conclusion

Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, for the
year ended 31 March 2017:
 the Quality Account is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the
Regulations;




the Quality Account is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in the Guidance;
and
the indicators in the Quality Account subject to limited assurance have not been reasonably stated in all
material respects in accordance with the Regulations and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the
Guidance.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Hartwell House
55-61 Victoria Street
Bristol
BS1 6FT

23 June 2017
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2016-17 Annual Accounts of Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust
STATEMENT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RESPONSIBILITIES AS THE ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER OF THE
TRUST

- there are effective management systems in place to safeguard public funds and assets and assist in
the implementation of corporate governance;
- value for money is achieved from the resources available to the Trust;
- the expenditure and income of the Trust has been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament
and conform to the authorities which govern them;
- effective and sound financial management systems are in place; and
- annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the Secretary of State with the
approval of the Treasury to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the end of the
financial year and the income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the
year.

2. Our Accountability Report

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in my
letter of appointment as an Accountable Officer.
I confirm that, as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Trust’s
auditors are unaware, and I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Trust’s auditors are aware of that
information.
I confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and
that I take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgements required
for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

Ann James

Date

26 May 2017

4. Appendices

Signed

4. Appendix - Annual Accounts

The Chief Executive of the NHS Trust Development Authority has designated that the Chief Executive
should be the Accountable Officer to the Trust. The relevant responsibilities of Accountable Officers
are set out in the Accountable Officers Memorandum issued by the Chief Executive of the NHS Trust
Development Authority. These include ensuring that:

Chief Executive

th
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE ACCOUNTS
The directors are required under the National Health Service Act 2006 to prepare accounts for each
financial year. The Secretary of State, with the approval of the Treasury, directs that these accounts
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of the income and expenditure,
recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the year. In preparing those accounts, directors are
required to:
- apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the Secretary of State with the approval
of the Treasury;
- make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the accounts.
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Trust and to enable them to ensure that the
accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned direction of the Secretary of
State. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Trust and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the accounts.
By order of the Board

Ann James

Chief Executive

26 May 2017

Neil Kemsley

Finance Director

26 May 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF PLYMOUTH HOSPITALS NHS TRUST

We have also audited the information in the Accountability Report that is subject to audit, being:


the single total figure of remuneration for each director;



CETV disclosures for each director;



the analysis of staff numbers and costs; and



the table of fair pay (pay multiples) disclosures

This report is made solely to the Directors of Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust, as a body, in accordance
with Part 5 of the Act and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors
and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Trust’s Directors those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Trust and the Trust’s Directors, as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

2. Our Accountability Report

Respective responsibilities of Directors, the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the
Comptroller and Auditor General (the “Code of Audit Practice”) and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Trust’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating
effectively.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances and have been consistently applied
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As explained in the statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities, as the Accountable Officer of
the Trust, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in the use of the Trust's resources. We are required under Section 21(3)(c) and
Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Act to be satisfied that the Trust has made proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report by exception
where we are not satisfied.

4. Appendix - Annual Accounts

We have audited the financial statements of Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust (the "Trust") for the year
ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The financial
statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position,
the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted
and adapted by the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 (the “2016/17 GAM”)
and the requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006.

2016-17 Annual Accounts of Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust
and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
Directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the
financial and non-financial information in the Performance Report and the Accountability Report to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information
that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use
of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2016,
as to whether the Trust had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and
deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The
Comptroller and Auditor General determined these criteria as that necessary for us to consider under
the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in place proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March
2017, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment,
we undertook such work as we considered necessary.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:


the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Plymouth
Hospitals NHS Trust as at 31 March 2017 and of its expenditure and income for the year then
ended; and



the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health Group
Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Emphasis of matter – Going concern
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the
adequacy of the disclosure made in Note 1.2 to the financial statements concerning the Trust’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The Trust incurred a £39.9 million deficit for the year ended 31 March
2017 and, at that date had net current liabilities of £5.65 million. The Directors are seeking additional
cash funding of £16 million from the Department of Health, supported by NHS Improvement during
the 2017/18 financial year. As disclosed in Note 1.2 to the financial statements, the Department of
Health, supported by NHS Improvement has not, at the date of our report, confirmed this support.
This condition, along with the other matters explained in Note 1.2 to the financial statements,
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Trust’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include the adjustments that
would result if the Trust was unable to continue as a going concern.
Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:


the parts of the Accountability Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the
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Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the requirements of the
National Health Service Act 2006; and


Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the
Act because we have reason to believe that the Trust, or an officer of the Trust, is about to make, or
has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is
about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be
unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency.
On 17 May 2017, we referred a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Act in relation
to Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust's breach of its statutory break-even duty for the three year period
ending 31 March 2019.
We are required to report to you if we are not satisfied that the Trust has put in place proper
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Basis for Qualified Value for Money Conclusion

2. Our Accountability Report

The Trust failed to achieve its statutory break even objective requirement for 2016-17 recording a
£39.9 million deficit, against an original budgeted deficit of £36.5 million reported in April 2016. In
addition, the Trust’s medium term financial plan shows a further deterioration in the cumulative
break even position in 2017-18, with a forecast deficit of £3 million and is unable to set a sustainable
financial plan that will allow it to recover its cumulative deficit in the medium term.
The deterioration in the Trust’s financial outturn was due, in part, to:
-

the underachievement of income targets because of lower than planned elective activity;

a shortfall in the delivery of the Trust’s cost improvement plans internal target for the
financial year;
the Trust being unable to achieve a planned reduction in temporary workforce costs as a
result of continuing operational pressures; and
additional costs arising from penalties for cancelled operations.

Qualified Value for Money Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller & Auditor General
in November 2015, except for the effects of the matter/(s) described in the Basis for Qualified Value
for Money Conclusion paragraph, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, Plymouth Hospitals
NHS Trust put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.
We are required to report to you if:


in our opinion the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by NHS
Improvement; or
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These issues are evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for planning finances effectively to
support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and maintain statutory functions.

4. Appendix - Annual Accounts

the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the
Performance Report and the Accountability Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the audited financial statements.
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we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Act in the course
of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or



we have made a written recommendation to the Trust under section 24 of the Act in the
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of Plymouth Hospitals NHS
Trust in accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Code of Audit Practice.

Peter Barber
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor
Hartwell House
Victoria Street
Bristol
BS1 6FT
th

30 May 2017
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for year ended
31 March 2017
NOTE

2016-17
£000s

2015-16
£000s

9.1
7
4
5

(286,137)
(196,544)
403,258
47,090
(32,333)

(271,718)
(194,228)
385,932
46,839
(33,175)

Investment revenue
Other gains and (losses)
Finance costs
(Deficit) for the financial year
Public dividend capital dividends payable
Retained (deficit) for the year

11
12
13

27
(29)
(1,497)
(33,832)
(4,360)
(38,192)

35
(13)
(590)
(33,743)
(5,805)
(39,548)

Other Comprehensive Income

2016-17
£000s

2015-16
£000s

(863)
(39,055)

(762)
(40,310)

Retained (deficit) for the year
Impairments/(reversals)

(38,192)
(1,719)

(39,548)
4,205

Adjustments in respect of donated asset reserve elimination
Adjusted retained(deficit)

11
(39,900)

(653)
(35,996)

Net (loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment
Total comprehensive income for the year
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Financial performance for the year

The notes on pages 12 to 33 form part of this account.

4. Appendices

4. Appendix - Annual Accounts

Gross employee benefits
Other operating costs
Revenue from patient care activities
Other operating revenue
Operating (deficit)
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Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17

Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2017

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Trade and other receivables
Total non-current assets
Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Borrowings
DH capital loan
Total current liabilities
Net current assets/(liabilities)
Total assets less current liablilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Borrowings
DH revenue support loan
DH capital loan
Total non-current liabilities
Total assets employed:

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000s

£000s

NOTE
15
16
20.1

204,619
1,011
2,937
208,567

200,544
1,345
2,646
204,535

19
20.1
21

11,169
20,182
4,809
36,160
244,727

10,362
18,400
1,246
30,008
234,543

22
26
23
23

(40,739)
(317)
(58)
(700)
(41,814)
(5,654)
202,913

(48,135)
(380)
0
(700)
(49,215)
(19,207)
185,328

26
23
23
23

(1,253)
(741)
(73,982)
(700)
(76,676)
126,237

(1,222)
0
(23,414)
(1,400)
(26,036)
159,292

195,551
(77,422)
7,456
652
126,237

189,551
(39,502)
8,591
652
159,292

FINANCED BY:
Public Dividend Capital
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Total Taxpayers' Equity:
The notes on pages 12 to 33 form part of this account.
The financial statements on pages 7-33 were approved by the Board on 26th May 2017 and signed on its behalf by
Chief Executive:

Ann James

Date:
26th May 2017
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity
For the year ending 31 March 2017

189,551

Retained
earnings

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

(39,502)
(38,192)

8,591

652

159,292
(38,192)
(863)

(863)

272

(272)

0

0
6,000

6,000

(37,920)

(1,135)

0

(33,055)

Balance at 31 March 2017

195,551

(77,422)

7,456

652

126,237

Balance at 1 April 2015
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended 31
March 2016
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year
Net gain / (loss) on revaluation of property, plant,
equipment
Transfers between reserves
PDC repaid in year

195,551

(527)

9,926

652

205,602

6,000

Net recognised revenue/(expense) for the year

2. Our Accountability Report

Net recognised (expense) for the year
Balance at 31 March 2016

(39,548)

(39,548)
(762)

(762)

573

(573)

0

0
(6,000)

(6,000)

(38,975)

(1,335)

0

(46,310)

189,551

(39,502)

8,591

652

159,292

(6,000)

9
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Balance at 1 April 2016
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year
Net gain / (loss) on revaluation of property, plant,
equipment
Transfers between reserves
Temporary and permanent PDC received - cash

Public
Dividend
capital
£000s
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Information on reserves
1

Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities.
Additional PDC may also be issued to NHS trusts by the Department of Health. A charge, reflecting the cost of capital
utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of Health as the public dividend capital dividend.

2

Income and expenditure reserve
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the Trust.

3

Revaluation Reserve
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the
extent that, they reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in
operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the
extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the downward movement represents a clear consumption of economic
benefit or a reduction in service potential.

4

Other reserves
The balance on this reserve dates back many years and relates to the acquision of property from a demising Community
Trust.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year ended 31 March 2017
2016-17
£000s

2015-16
£000s

(32,333)
15,749
(1,719)
(422)
(807)
(2,497)
(9,673)
(287)
142
(31,847)

(33,175)
15,634
4,205
(1,061)
(1,459)
3,315
14,523
(215)
185
1,952

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest Received
(Payments) for Property, Plant and Equipment
(Payments) for Intangible Assets
Proceeds of disposal of assets held for sale (PPE)
Net Cash (Outflow) from Investing Activities

27
(15,100)
(396)
0
(15,469)

35
(11,037)
(935)
28
(11,909)

Net Cash (Outflow) before Financing

(47,316)

(9,957)

6,000
0
50,568
225
(700)
0
(1,278)
(3,936)
50,879

0
(6,000)
46,114
0
(700)
(22,700)
(535)
(6,094)
10,085

3,563

128

1,246
4,809

1,118
1,246

7
7
5
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Gross Temporary and Permanent PDC Received
Gross Temporary and Permanent PDC Repaid
Loans received from DH - New Revenue Support Loans
Other Loans Received
Loans repaid to DH - Capital Investment Loans Repayment of Principal
Loans repaid to DH - Working Capital Loans/Revenue Support Loans
Interest paid
PDC Dividend (paid)
Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and Cash Equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash and Cash Equivalents at year end

21

4. Appendices
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Operating (deficit)
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Donated Assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
(Increase) in Inventories
(Increase)/decrease in Trade and Other Receivables
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in movement in non cash provisions
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities

NOTE
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
1.

Accounting Policies
The Secretary of State for Health has directed that the financial statements of NHS trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the
Department of Health Group Accounting Manual, which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the DH Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the Department of Health. The
accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful
and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the
Manual for Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the Trust
are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment and inventories.

1.2

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
IAS 1 requires management to assess, as part of the accounts preparation process, the Trust's ability to continue as a going concern.
In the context of non-trading entities in the public sector, the anticipated continuation of the provision of a service in the future is
normally sufficient evidence of going concern. The financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis unless there are
plans for, or no realistic alternative than, the dissolution of the Trust without the transfer of its services to another entity.
As directed by the 2016/17 Department of Health Group Accounting Manual, the directors have prepared the financial statements on a
going concern basis as they consider that the services currently provided by the Trust will continue to be provided in the foreseeable
future. On this basis, the Trust has adopted the going concern basis for preparing the financial statements and has not included the
adjustments that would result if it was unable to continue as a going concern.
The directors also consider that the contracts it has agreed with commissioning bodies and the application it intends to make to the
Department of Health, supported by NHS Improvement, for additional cash funding in 2017/18 are also evidence that the Trust will have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the forseseeable future. It is, however, acknowledged that the additional
cash funding requested in 2017/18 (which totals £16m during the course of the year but, after in-year repayments, will be £5m at year
end) has not yet formally been approved by the Department of Health. Therefore, although we are confident that this funding will be
forthcoming through the monthly request and approval process, as this has not yet been confirmed for the whole year ahead it does
represent a material uncertainty that may be considered to cast significant doubt about the Trust's ability to continue as a going concern.
However, as stated above, as we are certain that the services currently provided by the Trust will continue to be provided in the
foreseeable future, we are content with adopting the going concern status.

1.3

Charitable Funds
The income, expenditure, assets and liabillities of the Plymouth Hospitals General Charity are not material in the context of the Trust's
accounts, and consolidated accounts have not, therefore, been prepared. The value of charitable funds at 31.3.17 was £5m.

1.4

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates
and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

1.4.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process
of applying the Trust’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.
Judgement is required to asess whether or not there has been any impairment of assets over the period. In the case of land and
buildings the advice of the District Valuer is sought annually. For plant and equipment an internal impariment review is completed
annually. During the year 2016/17 a review of Information Technology assets was also carried out by the Distict Valuer, with no
amendment to the carrying values of such assets found to be necessary.
1.4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period that have a significant risk of casuing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities with the next financial
year.
Accruals for services received not yet invoiced are estimated on the basis of past experience.
12
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating injured individuals to
whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The Trust recognises the income when it receives
notification from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation Recovery Unit that the individual has lodged a compensation
claim. The income is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for unsuccessful
compensation claims and doubtful debts.
1.5

Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The
cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
Retirement benefit costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined
benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in
England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes:
the cost to the NHS body of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting
period.

2. Our Accountability Report

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of
the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the NHS trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the
method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.
1.6

Other expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured
at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.7

Property, plant and equipment

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components
are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the
asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets
that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions
preventing access to the market at the reporting date.
Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially
different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing use are determined as
follows:
● Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use.
● Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost, modern equivalent asset basis.

Annual Accounts
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Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
● it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
● it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the NHS trust;
● it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
● the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and either
● the item cost at least £5,000; or
● Collectively, a number of items have a total cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets
are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and
are under single managerial control.

4. Appendix - Annual Accounts

1.4.3 Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair
value of the consideration receivable. The main source of revenue for the Trust is from commissioners for healthcare services.
Revenue relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year end are apportioned across the financial years on the basis of
length of stay at the end of the reporting period compared to expected total length of stay.

Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and,
where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost
includes professional fees and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs. Assets are revalued and depreciation
commences when they are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at
depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be
materially different from current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset
previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged
to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment
losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit should be taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the
revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where
subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of
the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
1.8

Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the Trust’s
business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust, where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where the
cost is at least £5000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Software that is integral to the operation of hardware, for example
an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the
operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not
capitalised: it is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Measurement
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or, where no
active market exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent assets basis) and value in use where the asset is
income generating. Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development
costs and technological advances.

1.9

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Freehold land, assets under construction or development, and assets held for sale are not depreciated/amortised.
Otherwise, depreciation or amortisation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible noncurrent assets, less any residual value, on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life of an asset is
the period over which the Trust expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the Trust and
may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the
effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and the estimated useful lives.
At each financial year-end, the Trust checks whether there is any indication that its property, plant and equipment or intangible noncurrent assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of such an impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually at the financial year end.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged
to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment
losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that
would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to
the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
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1.10 Donated assets

1.11 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.
The trust as lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at
the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Trust’s deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised
initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they
are operating or finance leases.
The NHS trust as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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1.12 Inventories
Inventories are valued at current cost. This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of
stocks.
1.13 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that
form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management.
1.14 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rates.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.
1.15 Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA,
which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHSLA is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions
carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at Note 26.
Non-clinical risk pooling
The NHS trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes
under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of
claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.
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Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of positive 0.24% (2015-16: positive 1.37%) in
real terms.

4. Appendix - Annual Accounts

Donated non-current assets are capitalised at current value in existing use, if they will be held for their service potential, or otherwise at
value on receipt, with a matching credit to income. They are valued, depreciated and impaired as described above for purchased assets.
Gains and losses on revaluations, impairments and sales are treated in the same way as for purchased assets. Deferred income is
recognised only where conditions attached to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain.
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1.16 Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Trust, or a present obligation that is not
recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the NHS trust. A contingent asset is disclosed where
an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
1.17 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Trust becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables,
when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the
asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss; held to maturity
investments; available for sale financial assets, and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
1.18 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Trust becomes party to the contractual provisions of
the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historic cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.
Other financial liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans
from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the
effective interest method.
1.19 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is
not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.20 Foreign currencies
The Trust's functional and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling
at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are
recognised in the trust’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.
1.21 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the Trust has no
beneficial interest in them.
1.22 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend
Public dividend capital represents taxpayers’ equity in the NHS trust. At any time the Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and
require repayments of PDC from, the Trust. PDC is recorded at the value received. As PDC is issued under legislation rather than
under contract, it is not treated as an equity financial instrument.
An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of Health as public dividend capital
dividend. The charge is calculated at the real rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average carrying amount of all assets
less liabilities (except for donated assets and cash balances with the Government Banking Service). The average carrying amount of
assets is calculated as a simple average of opening and closing relevant net assets.
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is
calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus
calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses
which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Trust not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then
being included as normal revenue expenditure).
1.24 Research and Development
Research and development expenditure is charged against income in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar as development
expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured. Expenditure so deferred is
limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the SOCI on a systematic basis over the period expected to
benefit from the project. It should be revalued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as
depreciation, on a quarterly basis.
1.25 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The HM Treasury FReM does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016-17. These standards are still
subject to HM Treasury FReM interpretation, with IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 being for implementation in 2018-19, and the government
implementation date for IFRS 16 is still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
● IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but not yet adopted
by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted
● IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted
● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the FReM:
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
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1.23 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or
passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures
compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are
handled.
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2

Operating segments

The Trust has no material operating segments other than healthcare.

2016-17
£000s

2015-16
£000s

Income

450,348

432,771

Operating (deficit)

(32,333)

(33,175)

Net Assets

126,237

159,292

3

Income generation activities

The Trust undertakes income generation activities with an aim of achieving profit, which is then used in
patient care. The following provides details of income generation activities whose full cost exceeded
£1m or was otherwise material.
2016-17
£000s
2,359
2,507
(148)

Income
Full cost
(Deficit)

2015-16
£000s
2,196
2,441
(245)

The only scheme with costs exceeding £1m was car parking.

4

Revenue from patient care activities

NHS Trusts
NHS England
Clinical Commissioning Groups
Foundation Trusts
NHS Other (including Public Health England and Prop Co)
Additional income for delivery of healthcare services
Non-NHS:
Local Authorities
Private patients
Overseas patients (non-reciprocal)
Injury costs recovery
Other Non-NHS patient care income
Total Revenue from patient care activities

5

2016-17
£000s

2015-16
£000s

0
149,164
245,887
899
82
0

55
141,742
229,633
575
249
6,000

2,541
2,509
196
1,715
265
403,258

2,534
2,682
128
2,154
180
385,932

Other operating revenue
2016-17
£000s

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Patient transport services
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure -non- NHS
Receipt of charitable donations for capital acquisitions
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation
Rental revenue from operating leases
Other revenue
Total Other Operating Revenue
Total operating revenue

18
Annual Accounts - page
18

176 Leading with excellence, caring with compassion

2015-16
£000s

369
4
28,963
883
422
9,232
5,247
681
1,289
47,090

353
40
27,424
1,037
1,061
10,608
4,618
870
828
46,839

450,348

432,771

Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17

6

Overseas Visitors Disclosure
2016-17
£000s

7

128
51
60
0
30
9

Operating expenses
2016-17
£000s

2015-16
£000s

37
7
710
754
7,651
79
112,479
16,568
189
3,324
2,407
2,153
16,126
20
477
269
130
77
15,345
404
(1,719)
161
74
10
15,709
1,556
1,195
110
996
196,544

232
0
182
414
6,142
60
108,412
16,881
136
3,652
2,273
1,916
15,831
28
511
325
(529)
42
15,257
377
4,205
149
74
10
14,281
1,333
905
(7)
1,550
194,228

Employee Benefits
Employee benefits excluding Board members
Board members
Total Employee Benefits

285,340
797
286,137

270,936
782
271,718

Total Operating Expenses

482,681

465,946
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Services from other NHS Trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Services from NHS Foundation Trusts
Total Services from NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Trust Chair and Non-executive Directors
Supplies and services - clinical
Supplies and services - general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Business rates paid to local authorities
Premises
Hospitality
Insurance
Legal fees
Impairments and reversals of Receivables
Inventories write down
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Internal audit fees
Audit fees
Other auditor's remuneration
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and Training
Change in discount rate
Other
Total Operating expenses (excluding employee benefits)

Operating Leases
Several items of medical equipment, some vehicles and some buildings used mainly for administrative functions but also some for service
provision are held on operating leases. The Trust also leases land at the site of the haemodialysis unit and a multi-storey car park adjacent
to the main Derriford site.

8.1

Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust as lessee

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Land
£000s

100
200
0
300

Buildings
£000s

3,065
8,803
2,057
13,925

Other
£000s

656
1,533
0
2,189

2016-17
Total
£000s

2015-16
£000s

4,037
4,037

3,829
3,829

3,821
10,536
2,057
16,414

3,390
12,075
866
16,331
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196
45
94
1
27
11

Income recognised during 2016-17 (invoiced amounts and accruals)
Cash payments received in-year (re receivables at 31 March 2016)
Cash payments received in-year (iro invoices issued 2016-17)
Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables (re receivables at 31 March 2016)
Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables (iro invoices issued 2016-17)
Amounts written off in-year (irrespective of year of recognition)

2015-16
£000s

Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17

8.2

Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust as lessor

The Trust lets part of its estate to commercial organisations on operating leases.

2016-17
£000s

Recognised as revenue
Contingent rents
Total
Receivable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

9

Employee benefits

9.1

Employee benefits

2015-16
£000s

681
681

870
870

300
419
455
1,174

458
1,071
0
1,529

Employee Benefits - Gross Expenditure
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS BSA - Pensions Division
Other pension costs
Total employee benefits

2016-17
Total
£000s

2015-16
Total
£000s

239,313
22,110
26,113
43
287,579

230,533
17,264
24,866
40
272,703

Employee costs capitalised
Gross Employee Benefits excluding capitalised costs

1,442
286,137

985
271,718

9.2

Retirements due to ill-health

2016-17
Number
5

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds

Total additional pensions liabilities accrued in the year
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2015-16
Number

7

£000s

£000s

211

232
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9.2

Pension costs

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would
be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM required that "the period between formal
valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years. " An outline of these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary's Department)
as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction
with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust
figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of scheme liability as at 31 March 2017 is based on valuation data as at
31 March 2016, updated to 31 March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM
Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the
annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions
website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

2. Our Accountability Report

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into
account their recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March
2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health,
with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and
employer representatives as deemed appropriates.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from
April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public
Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2%
of pay. Subject to this "employer cost cap" assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be
determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
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Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable
and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsba.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify
their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined
contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participation in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable
to that scheme for the accounting period.
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10

Better Payment Practice Code

10.1

Measure of compliance

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target

2016-17
Number

2016-17
£000s

2015-16
Number

2015-16
£000s

88,653
84,382
95.18%

218,097
193,672
88.80%

84,006
79,665
94.83%

192,316
170,879
88.85%

2,824
2,451
86.79%

8,847
7,069
79.90%

2,483
2,225
89.61%

8,604
6,828
79.36%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice,
whichever is later.

10.2

The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
2016-17
£000s

Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation
Total

11

Investment Revenue

27
27

(Loss) on disposal of assets other than by sale (PPE)
Total

35
35

(29)
(29)

2015-16
£000s
(13)
(13)

Finance Costs

Interest
Interest on loans and overdrafts
Interest on obligations under finance leases
Interest on late payment of commercial debt
Total interest expense
Provisions - unwinding of discount
Total

14

2015-16
£000s

Other Gains and Losses
2016-17
£000s

13

4
0
4

6
0
6

2016-17
£000s

Interest revenue
Bank interest
Total investment revenue

12

2015-16
£000s

Events after the end of the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any events after the end of the reporting period for disclosure.
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2016-17
£000s
1,466
22
6
1,494
3
1,497

2015-16
£000s
567
0
4
571
19
590

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total
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Plant &
machinery
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15.1
Land

Assets under
construction
& payments
on account

296,399
17,597
396
600
0
(4,277)
(863)
309,852

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

5,961
0
14
0
(1,243)
(22)
0
4,710

95,855
0
(4,248)
(1,719)
15,345
105,233
204,619

£000's

27,609
0
111
0
668
(2,731)
0
25,657

3,125
(636)
(22)
0
298
2,765
1,945

200,785
3,250
584
204,619

£000's

192
0
0
0
0
0
0
192

20,468
(75)
(2,731)
0
2,147
19,809
5,848

1,825
120
0
1,945

£000's
107,494
0
271
600
3,090
(1,524)
0
109,931

146
0
0
0
8
154
38

5,725
123
0
5,848

£000's
8,214
17,597
0
0
(7,194)
0
0
18,617

72,116
(138)
(1,495)
0
7,197
77,680
32,251

38
0
0
38

£000's
140,927
0
0
0
4,679
0
337
145,943

0
0
0
0
0
0
18,617

30,722
945
584
32,251

£000's
6,002
0
0
0
0
0
(1,200)
4,802

0
849
0
(1,719)
5,695
4,825
141,118

18,617
0
0
18,617

£000's

Cost or valuation:
At 1 April 2016
Additions of Assets Under Construction
Additions - Non Cash Donations (i.e. physical assets)
Additions Leased (including PFI/LIFT)
Reclassifications
Disposals other than for sale
Revaluation
At 31 March 2017

0
0
0
0
0
0
4,802

139,056
2,062
0
141,118

£000's

Depreciation
At 1 April 2016
Reclassifications
Disposals other than for sale
Impairments/reversals charged to operating expenses
Charged During the Year
At 31 March 2017
Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

4,802
0
0
4,802

2016-17

Asset financing:
Owned - Purchased
Owned - Donated
Held on finance lease
Total at 31 March 2017

Land and property assets are carried at valuation on the Statement of Financial Position. All of the Trust's land and building assets are revalued annually by the District Valuer of the Valuation Office
Agency, who is a Member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Valuations are carried out in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual
insofar as these terms are consistent with the agreed requirements of the Department of Health and HM Treasury.
Building asset lives are also reassessed annually by the District Valuer. The lives determined by the 31 March 2017 exercise will be applied in 2017-18.
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Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

At 1 April 2016
Movements (specify)
At 31 March 2017
Additions to Assets Under Construction in 2016-17

Property, plant and equipment prior-year

Buildings excl Dwellings
Plant & Machinery
Balance as at YTD

15.2

Land

Buildings

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

0
0
0

Assets under
construction
& payments
on account

0
0
0

£000's

0
0
0

£000's
0
0
0

£000's
0
0
0

£000's

£000's
5,989
65
6,054

0
0
0

£000's

£000's
2,602
(1,200)
1,402

0
0
0

Total

£000's
8,591
(1,135)
7,456

Total

0
0
0

Furniture &
fittings

0
0
0

Information
technology

7,290
10,307
17,597

Transport
equipment

0
0
0

Plant &
machinery

0
0
0

Land

Assets under
construction
& payments
on account

300,233
7,885
1,046
0
(2,206)
(762)
306,196

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

5,820
0
12
129
0
0
5,961

88,355
(2,165)
4,205
15,257
105,652
200,544

£000's

22,660
0
18
4,956
(25)
0
27,609

2,742
0
0
383
3,125
2,836

197,413
3,131
200,544

£000's

156
0
0
36
0
0
192

18,491
(25)
0
2,002
20,468
7,141

2,700
136
2,836

£000's
102,298
0
166
7,211
(2,181)
0
107,494

132
0
0
14
146
46

7,094
47
7,141

£000's
20,048
7,885
0
(19,719)
0
0
8,214

66,990
(2,140)
0
7,266
72,116
35,378

46
0
46

£000's
143,249
0
850
7,387
0
(762)
150,724

0
0
0
0
0
8,214

34,404
974
35,378

£000's
6,002
0
0
0
0
0
6,002

0
0
4,205
5,592
9,797
140,927

8,214
0
8,214

£000's

Cost or valuation:
At 1 April 2015
Additions of Assets Under Construction
Additions - Non Cash Donations (i.e. Physical Assets)
Reclassifications
Disposals other than for sale
Revaluation
At 31 March 2016

0
0
0
0
0
6,002

138,953
1,974
140,927

£000's

Depreciation
At 1 April 2015
Disposals other than for sale
Impairments/reversals charged to operating expenses
Charged During the Year
At 31 March 2016
Net Book Value at 31 March 2016

6,002
0
6,002
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2015-16

Asset financing:
Owned - Purchased
Owned - Donated
Total at 31 March 2016
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15.3

Property, plant and equipment economic lives

16

Intangible non-current assets

16.1

Intangible non-current assets

Min life years
17
2
7
3
5

Max life years
47
30
7
20
20

Licenses
and
Trademarks

Total

2016-17

£000's
2,269
0
44
26
2,339

£000's
2,269
0
44
26
2,339

Amortisation
At 1 April 2016
Charged During the Year
At 31 March 2017
Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

924
404
1,328
1,011

924
404
1,328
1,011

Asset Financing: Net book value at 31 March 2017 comprises:
Purchased
Donated
Total at 31 March 2017

973
38
1,011

973
38
1,011

At 1 April 2016
Additions of Assets Under Construction
Additions Purchased
Additions - Non Cash Donations (i.e. physical assets)
At 31 March 2017
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16.2

Intangible non-current assets prior year
Licenses
and
Trademarks

2015-16

£000's
1,335
935
15
(16)
2,269

1,335
935
15
(16)
2,269

563
(16)
377
924

563
(16)
377
924

Net book value at 31 March 2016

1,345

1,345

Net book value at 31 March 2016 comprises:
Purchased
Donated
Total at 31 March 2016

1,325
20
1,345

1,325
20
1,345

Amortisation
At 1 April 2015
Disposals other than by sale
Charged during the year
At 31 March 2016
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Cost or valuation:
At 1 April 2015
Additions - purchased
Additions - donated
Disposals other than by sale
At 31 March 2016

Total
£000's
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Buildings
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Information Technology
Furniture and fittings
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17.1

Analysis of impairments and reversals recognised in 2016-17
2016-17
Total
£000s

Property, Plant and Equipment impairments and reversals taken to SoCI
Changes in market price
Total charged to Annually Managed Expenditure

(1,719)
(1,719)

Total Impairments of Property, Plant and Equipment changed to SoCI

(1,719)

Total Impairments charged to SoCI - DEL
Total Impairments charged to SoCI - AME
Overall Total Impairments

0
(1,719)
(1,719)

17.2

Analysis of impairments and reversals recognised in 2016-17
2016-17
Property
Plant and
Equipment

Total

Changes in market price
Total charged to Annually Managed Expenditure

(1,719)
(1,719)

£000s
(1,719)
(1,719)

Total Impairments of Property, Plant and Equipment changed

(1,719)

(1,719)

31 March
2017
£000s
4,640
169
4,809

31 March
2016
£000s
734
1,253
1,987

18

Commitments

18.1
Capital commitments
Contracted capital commitments at 31 March not otherwise included in these financial statements:

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total
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19

Inventories

Write-down of inventories (including losses)
Balance at 31 March 2017

Consumables

Work in
Progress

Energy

Loan
Equipment

Other

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

Total
£000s

Of which
held at
NRV
£000s

2,223
58,141

8,020
45,760

0
0

119
22

0
0

0
0

10,362
103,923

0
0

(57,835)

(45,204)

0

0

0

0

(103,039)

0

(5)
2,524

(72)
8,504

0
0

0
141

0
0

0
0

(77)
11,169

0
0

20.1 Trade and other receivables
Current
31 March
2017
£000s

Non-current

31 March
2016
£000s

31 March
2017
£000s
0
0
0
0
(838)
0
3,775
2,937

NHS receivables - revenue
Non-NHS receivables - revenue
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
PDC Dividend prepaid to DH
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Other receivables
Total

8,599
3,645
4,362
146
(1,169)
960
3,639
20,182

5,543
4,516
3,928
570
(1,157)
1,086
3,914
18,400

Total current and non current

23,119

21,046

31 March
2016
£000s
0
0
0
0
(745)
0
3,391
2,646

The great majority of trade is with other NHS organisations . As NHS organisations are funded by Government to buy NHS patient care
services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
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31 March
2017
£000s

20.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

1,323
201
46
1,570

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

20.3 Provision for impairment of receivables

2016-17
£000s

Balance at 1 April 2016
Amount written off during the year
Amount recovered during the year
(Increase)/decrease in receivables impaired
Balance at 31 March 2017

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Opening balance
Net change in year
Closing balance
Made up of
Cash with Government Banking Service
Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of cash flows

660
434
181
1,275

2015-16
£000s

(1,902)
25
1
(131)
(2,007)

(2,449)
18
3
526
(1,902)

31 March
2017
£000s
1,246
3,563
4,809

31 March
2016
£000s
1,118
128
1,246

4,782
3
24
4,809
4,809

1,217
7
22
1,246
1,246
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31 March
2016
£000s
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Balance at 1 April 2016
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in
the period

Drugs
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22

Trade and other payables
Current

Non-current

31 March 2017
£000s

31 March 2016
£000s

31 March 2017
£000s

31 March 2016
£000s

NHS payables - revenue
NHS accruals and deferred income
Non-NHS payables - revenue
Non-NHS payables - capital
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income
Social security costs
Accrued Interest on DH Loans
Tax
Other
Total

1,549
1,484
14,659
5,060
6,320
3,201
150
2,885
5,431
40,739

5,410
1,485
20,620
2,916
6,843
2,565
45
2,778
5,473
48,135

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0

0
0

Total payables (current and non-current)

40,739

48,135

3,752

3,559

Included in "other" above:
outstanding Pension Contributions at the year end
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Borrowings
Current

Loans from Department of Health
Loans from other entities
Finance lease liabilities
Total
Total other liabilities (current and non-current)

Non-current

31 March 2017
£000s

31 March 2016
£000s

31 March 2017
£000s

31 March 2016
£000s

700
30
28
758

700
0
0
700

74,682
195
546
75,423

24,814
0
0
24,814

76,181

25,514

Borrowings / Loans - repayment of principal falling due in:
DH
£000s

0-1 Years
1 - 2 Years
2 - 5 Years
Over 5 Years
TOTAL

24

700
24,114
50,568
0
75,382

Deferred income

Current
31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000s
£000s
1,608
1,773
2,405
263
(1,952)
(428)
2,061
1,608

Opening balance at 1 April 2016
Deferred revenue addition
Transfer of deferred revenue
Current deferred Income at 31 March 2017
Total deferred income (current and non-current)

2,061

31 March 2017
Other
£000s
58
90
234
417
799

Total
£000s

758
24,204
50,802
417
76,181

Non-current
31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000s
£000s
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,608

25 Finance lease obligations as lessee
A finance lease was taken out during the year on modular accommodation for the Trust's Occupational Health facility.
Minimum lease payments

Amounts payable under finance leases

Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Less future finance charges
Minimum Lease Payments / Present value of minimum lease payments

31 March 2017
£000s
56
226
522
(230)
574

31 March 2016
£000s
0
0
0
0
0

Included in:
Current borrowings
Non-current borrowings
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Present value of minimum lease
payments
31 March 2017
£000s
28
129
417

31 March 2016
£000s
0
0
0

574

0

28
546
574

0
0
0

Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17
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Provisions
Comprising:
Early
Departure
Costs

Total

Expected Timing of Cash Flows:
No Later than One Year
Later than One Year and not later than Five Years
Later than Five Years

£000s

859
36
(92)
0
2
58
863

317
477
776

91
353
419

£000s

743
146
(195)
(40)
1
52
707
226
124
357

Amount Included in the Provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority in Respect of Clinical Negligence Liabilities:
As at 31 March 2017
128,683
As at 31 March 2016
111,843

27

Contingencies

31 March
2017
£000s

Contingent liabilities
NHS Litigation Authority legal claims
Net value of contingent liabilities

(78)
(78)

31 March
2016
£000s
(117)
(117)
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£000s
1,602
182
(287)
(40)
3
110
1,570

Balance at 1 April 2016
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Balance at 31 March 2017

Legal Claims

29
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Financial Instruments

28.1

Financial risk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has
with commissioners and the way those commissioners are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by
business entities. Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The NHS Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds
and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the
Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the
Trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors. The Trust's treasury activity is subject to review by
the Trust’s internal auditors.
Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling
based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
Interest rate risk
The Trust borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS Improvement. The borrowings
are for 1 – 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life
of the loan.
The Trust may also borrow from government for revenue financing subject to approval by NHS Improvement. Interest rates are
confirmed by the Department of Health (the lender) at the point borrowing is undertaken.
The Trust therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
Credit risk
Because most of the Trust’s revenue comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has low exposure to credit risk.
The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2017 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
Liquidity risk
The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with primary care organisations, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament . The Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained within its prudential borrowing limit. The Trust is
not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

28.2

Financial Assets

Loans and
receivables

Total

£000s

£000s

Receivables - NHS
Receivables - non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Total at 31 March 2017

8,599
3,702
4,809
17,110

8,599
3,702
4,809
17,110

Receivables - NHS
Receivables - non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Total at 31 March 2016

5,543
5,048
1,246
11,837

5,543
5,048
1,246
11,837
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28.3

Financial Liabilities

NHS payables
Non-NHS payables
Other borrowings
Total at 31 March 2016

29

Total

£000s

£000s

1,549
31,043
75,607
574
108,773

1,549
31,043
75,607
574
108,773

5,410
35,774
25,514
66,698

5,410
35,774
25,514
66,698

Related party transactions

During the year none of the Department of Health Ministers, Trust board members or members of the key management staff, or parties
related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the Trust
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Trust has had a significant number of material transactions
with the Department, and with other entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example :

2. Our Accountability Report

NHS New Devon CCG
NHS Kernow CCG
NHS South Devon & Torbay CCG
NHS England
Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation Trust
Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust
Health Education England
NHS Litigation Authority
NHS Business Services Authority
NHS Pension Scheme
Other CCGs
Other foundation trusts
Other NHS trusts
In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local
government bodies. It has also had a number of transactions with the University of Plymouth during the year; certain Trust Board
members are also members of the University Board.
The Trust has also received revenue and capital payments from a number of charitable funds, certain of the trustees for which are also
members of the Trust Board. In particular the Trust has received grants from the Plymouth Hospitals General Charity, of which the
Trust is Corporate Trustee.

Losses and special payments

Losses
Special payments
Total losses and special payments
The total number of losses cases in 2015-16 and their total value was as follows:

Losses
Special payments
Total losses and special payments

Total Value
of Cases
£s
43,329
204,471
247,800

Total Number
of Cases

Total Value
of Cases
£s
37,189
204,839
242,028

Total Number
of Cases

140
232
372

257
125
382
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The total number of losses cases in 2016-17 and their total value was as follows:

4. Appendix - Annual Accounts

NHS payables
Non-NHS payables
Other borrowings
PFI & finance lease obligations
Total at 31 March 2017

Other

Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17

432,771
(39,548)

0
(1,719)

450,348
(38,192)

2016-17
£000s

430,817
(1,797)

0
4,205

2015-16
£000s

410,207
(8,795)

0
(3,353)

2014-15
£000s

405,822
(8,768)

0
(4,251)

2013-14
£000s
391,862
(3,271)

0
8,761

2012-13
£000s
391,499
18

0
3,497

2011-12
£000s
376,990
(265)

0
0

2010-11
£000s
372,868
5,023

0
2,275

2009-10
£000s

346,457
12,698

0
0

2008-09
£000s

315,873
2,347

0
0

2007-08
£000s

(1,114)
0

-8.86
-18.15

2016-17
%

11
0
(39,900)
(81,735)

-8.32
-9.67

2015-16
%

(653)
0
(35,996)
(41,835)

-1.16
-1.36

2014-15
%

161
0
(4,989)
(5,839)

-3.17
-0.21

2013-14
%

58
0
(12,988)
(850)

0.01
2.99

2012-13
%

56
0
49
12,138

0.00
3.09

2011-12
%

(211)
0
15
12,089

0.00
3.08

2010-11
%

0
18
12,074

0.53
3.20

2009-10
%

0
2,010
12,056

1.35
2.69

2008-09
%

0
5,023
10,046

3.67
1.45

2007-08
%

0
12,698
5,023

1.00
-2.43

2006-07
%

1,932
3,165
(7,675)

2006-07
£000s

31
Financial performance targets
The figures given for periods prior to 2009-10 are on a UK GAAP basis as that is the basis on which the targets were set for those years.
31.1 Breakeven performance

Turnover
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year
Adjustment for:
Prior Period Adjustments
Adjustments for impairments
Adjustments for impact of policy change re donated/government
grants assets
Other agreed adjustments
Break-even in-year position
Break-even cumulative position

Materiality test (I.e. is it equal to or less than 0.5%):
Break-even in-year position as a percentage of turnover
Break-even cumulative position as a percentage of turnover
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The amounts in the above tables in respect of financial years 2006/07 to 2008/09 inclusive have not been restated to IFRS and remain on a UK GAAP
basis.

Paragraph 2(1) of Schedule 5 of the National Health Service Act 2006 states that "Each NHS trust shall ensure that its revenue is not less than sufficient, taking one financial year with another, to meet outgoings properly chargeable to revenue account" .
NHS trusts normally plan to meet this duty by achieving a balanced position on their income and expenditure account each and every year. The interpretation of the statutory financial duty for the NHS trusts to break-even was clarified in 1997/98
which recognised that although NHS trusts are expected to achieve a balanced position on their income and expenditure account each and every year, there may be reasons for the NHS trusts to report deficits in one year which may be offset by surpluses
achieved in another year(s). This is particularly relevant to situations where NHS trusts must recognise costs in advance of cash outlay, for example for clinical negligence or pension costs, and when managing the recovery of an NHS trust with serious
financial difficulties. A run of three years may be used to test the break-even duty, but in exceptional cases the Department of Health may agree to a five year time-scale.

The Trust has reported a deficit position for the fourth year in a row and the cumulative deficit now stands at £81.7m. The Trust's auditors made a referral to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
on 6 April 2016. The Trust is planning a deficit of £3m in 2017/18 and a return to break-even in 2018/19.

32
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31.2 Capital cost absorption rate
The dividend payable on public dividend capital is based on the actual (rather than forecast) average
relevant net assets based on the pre audited accounts and therefore the actual capital cost absorption
rate is automatically 3.5%.

The Trust is given an external financing limit which it is permitted to undershoot.
2016-17
£000s
55,439
52,530
600
53,130
2,309

External financing limit (EFL)
Cash flow financing
Finance leases taken out in the year
External financing requirement
Underspend against EFL

2015-16
£000s
16,832
16,586
0
16,586
246

31.4 Capital resource limit
The Trust is given a capital resource limit which it is not permitted to exceed.
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Gross capital expenditure
Less: book value of assets disposed of
Less: donations towards the acquisition of non-current assets
Charge against the capital resource limit
Capital resource limit
Underspend against the capital resource limit

2016-17
£000s
18,663
(29)
(422)
18,212
22,026
3,814

2015-16
£000s
9,882
(41)
(1,062)
8,779
8,780
1
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31.3 External financing
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33 Accounts - page 33
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17 191

